
Library CounCiL of nSW 

2012–13 Annual Report 




Library Council of NSW 2012–13 Annual Report 2 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

     

 

     

     

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

    

Co n taC t i n fo r m at i o n a n d aC k n ow l e d g m e n t s 

Compiled by Holly Graham
 
Edited by Helen Cumming and Cathy Perkins
 
Design and production by Simon Leong
 

Unless otherwise stated, all photographic/imaging work is by Bruce York, 

Hamilton Churton, Sarah Herman, Joy Lai, Merinda Campbell and 

Phong Huu Nguyen, Digitisation & Imaging Services, State Library of NSW. 

Every effort has been made to acknowledge the photographers of published 

material and to ensure information is correct at time of print.
 

P&D-4034-10/2013
 

© State Library of NSW 2013
 
ISSN 0155-4204 (Print)
 
ISSN 1449-258X (Online)
 

For an online copy of this annual report 

go to <www.sl.nsw.gov.au/annual>.
 

State Library of NSW
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Email: library@sl.nsw.gov.au
 
www.sl.nsw.gov.au
 

service monday to thursday friday saturday sunday 

State Library website providing access 
to our collections, services and public 
programs: www.sl.nsw.gov.au Available 24/7 Available 24/7 Available 24/7 Available 24/7 

State Reference Library 9 am – 8 pm 9 am – 5 pm 10 am – 5 pm 10 am – 5 pm 

Mitchell Library Reading Room 9 am – 8 pm 9 am – 5 pm 10 am – 5 pm 

Ask a Librarian service 
For quick answers in person or via 
telephone, email, web, fax or post 9 am – 8 pm 9 am – 5 pm 

Legal Information Access Centre 10 am – 5 pm 10 am – 5 pm 1.30 pm – 5 pm 

drug info @ your library 
Online Available 24/7 Available 24/7 Available 24/7 Available 24/7 

Public Library Funding and Advisory Service 9 am – 5 pm 9 am – 5 pm 

Exhibition Galleries 9 am – 5 pm 
Tuesdays till 8 pm 

9 am – 5 pm 10 am – 5 pm 10 am – 5 pm 

Online exhibitions: 
www.sl.nsw.gov.au/events/exhibitions Available 24/7 Available 24/7 Available 24/7 Available 24/7 

Online Discover Collections: 
www.sl.nsw.gov.au/discover_collections Available 24/7 Available 24/7 Available 24/7 Available 24/7 

Library Shop 
Onsite 
Online 

9 am – 5 pm 
Available 24/7 

9 am – 5 pm 
Available 24/7 

11 am – 5 pm 
Available 24/7 

11 am – 5 pm 
Available 24/7 

Cafe Trim 7.30 am – 5 pm 7.30 am – 5 pm 10.30 am – 4.30 pm 10.30 am – 4.30 pm 

Shakespeare Room Tuesdays 10 am – 4 pm 

Venue Hire 
Venue Hire Office 

6 am – midnight 
9 am – 5 pm 

6 am – midnight 
9 am – 5 pm 

6 am – midnight 6 am – midnight 

www.sl.nsw.gov.au
www.sl.nsw.gov.au/annual
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•	 Energy and teamwork. 

Vision 

For the community, we aspire to be a Library that is: 
•	 a pre-eminent and welcoming cultural destination 
•	 acknowledged for excellent client service and 

staff expertise 
•	 an innovative gateway to information and cultural 

enrichment 
•	 recognised for a unique and accessible collection 
•	 an active advocate for the NSW public library 

network 
•	 a proactive partner in knowledge creation. 

oUr strategiC Priorities 

•	 People and communities 
•	 Staff and capability 
•	 Collections and access 

   

 

	 	 	 	 	 

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	
	 	

	
	 	

 

   Letter of Our 
submission Library 

October 2013 

The Hon. George Souris MP 
Minister for the Arts 
Level 30 
Governor Macquarie Tower 
1 Farrer Place 
Sydney NSW 2000 

Dear Minister 

We take pleasure in submitting the Annual Report 
and Financial Statements of the Library Council of 
New South Wales for the year ending 30 June 2013 
for presentation to Parliament. 

These documents have been prepared in accordance 
with the provisions of the Annual Reports 
(Statutory Bodies) Regulation 2010, and the 
Public Finance and Audit Act, as amended. 

Submitted on behalf of the Library Council 
of New South Wales 

Yours sincerely 

Mr Robert Thomas AM 
President, Library Council of New South Wales 

Dr Alex Byrne 
State Librarian & Chief Executive and Secretary, 
Library Council of New South Wales 

oUr liBrarY 

A world leading library and centre of digital excellence, 
the State Library of NSW informs, educates, inspires 
and surprises online, onsite and on tour. The Library ’s 
rich heritage collections, contemporary print and 
digital materials, partnership with the public library 
network and vibrant collaborations enable Australians 
to interrogate our past and imagine our future. 

mission and ValUes 

To strengthen the community by being the trusted 
provider of quality information services by: 
•	 providing equitable access to contemporary 

and historical knowledge 
•	 collecting and preserving Australia’s heritage 

promoting our role as a cultural destination 
•	 collaborating with the NSW public library network. 

oUr Core ValUes and Beliefs are: 

•	 Equity of access 
•	 Innovation and engagement 
•	 Valuing people 
•	 Honour and integrity 

•	 Sustainability. 
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world leading liBrarY 

The State Library of NSW is the premier library for the 
people of NSW. Its peers are the world’s great libraries, 
those that tell of the development of our societies 
and the unfolding stories of humanity. 

The Library ’s extraordinary collections document 
the heritage of Australia and Oceania and are one of 
the State’s most valuable assets. By building, preserving 
and delivering its collections, including today ’s born 
digital materials, the Library enables Australians 
to interrogate our past and imagine our future. 

As a developing centre of digital excellence, the 
Library engages online across NSW, Australia and 
globally. Its collections are increasingly delivered 
digitally for all to use and repurpose, providing 
depth for the researcher and stimulus to the creative 
industries. Free access to online journals, databases 
and learning materials is provided throughout 
the state. 

At its heritage home on Macquarie Street at the heart 
of Sydney, the Library is a knowledge landmark, a pre
eminent cultural destination which attracts scholars, 
students and visitors who can read, converse, learn, 
visit exhibitions or enjoy events. Mirrored online, 
the services and spaces for study, learning, exhibitions, 
events and encounter are friendly and stimulating. 

The State Library works in partnership with the 
public library network to enrich the lives of people 
and communities across NSW. Onsite and online, 
public libraries anticipate the needs of children and 
families, young people and students, working people, 
older people, visitors and business, and the particular 
interests of Australia’s Indigenous peoples and 
multicultural population. Local services are extended 
by the information services, educational programs 
and exhibitions provided onsite, online and on tour 
through the expertise of the State Library ’s staff 
and the strength of its partnerships. 

oUr serViCe gUarantee 

•	 Timely, relevant and accurate information provided 
from anywhere in the world to anywhere in the state 

•	 Courteous, friendly and efficient staff 
•	 Requests for information and advice responded 

to promptly 
•	 Resources held in our collections are easily 

accessible 
•	 Services and resources meet the needs of Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander clients, people from 
non-English speaking backgrounds and clients 
with disabilities 

•	 Appropriate and well-maintained equipment and 
facilities are available 

•	 Training courses provide participants with valuable 
and relevant skills 

•	 Fee-based services deliver value for money 

HistorY of oUr liBrarY 

The State Library of NSW is the oldest library in 
Australia. In 1869 the NSW Government purchased 
the Australian Subscription Library, which had been 
established in 1826, to form the Sydney Free Public 
Library, the first truly public library for the people 
of NSW. The Mitchell Library, the first library in the 
country to concentrate entirely on Australian content, 
opened in 1910. 

oUr liBrarY’s legislation 

The Library Council of NSW is the governing body 
of the State Library. Library Council objectives 
are defined in section 4A of the Library Act 1939. 
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Library Council of NSW –
President’s message 

roB tHomas am 
PRESIDENT 
LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NSW 

‘It has been 
another great 
year of achievement, 
further enhancing 
the Library’s 
reputation.’ 

It has been another amazing year for the State Library 
of NSW. Strong support from the NSW Government, 
our Foundation and many supporters, staff and the 
general public has seen the Library ’s reputation grow 
and its reach extend across the state and beyond. 

tHe Power of PHilantHroPY 

Opened in April and generously endowed by 
Mr Michael Crouch AO, Amaze: The Michael Crouch 
Gallery is a beautiful, contemporary space presenting 
extraordinary documents, paintings, maps, books and 
objects from the Library ’s extensive collection. Its 
creation follows the decade-long generous partnership 
with the Nelson Meers Foundation to present the 
Library ’s treasures through the Heritage Collection, 
both demonstrating the high regard in which the 
Library is held and the generosity of its supporters. 

Such warm support from the members of the State 
Library of NSW Foundation has enabled us to expand 
our philanthropic reach and realise new opportunities. 
In the face of economic constraints, the Foundation 
continued to attract a very high level of financial 
support, providing $2,386,000 to the Library during 
the year. This assisted key exhibitions, improved 
online access to the collections, and made possible 
extraordinary acquisitions and the conservation of 
valuable objects. Foundation members also supported 
the endowment of future fellowships. We have a 
wonderful and dedicated Foundation Board under 
Chairman Peter Crossing and the Library is indebted 
to their efforts. 

A major corporate partnership with the Noble 
Group explored the historical roots of Newcastle 
through a key exhibition, Treasures of Newcastle 
from the Macquarie Era at the Newcastle Art Gallery. 
The Rediscovering Indigenous Languages project, 
in partnership with Rio Tinto, identified more than 
200 previously unknown records of 100 Australian 
Indigenous languages, resources vital to the cherishing 
of language and culture. 

reaCHing oUt 

Exceeding its target by creating more than 1.2 million 
electronic records since 2008, the Library ’s eRecords 
project has made the collection much more accessible 
worldwide. A variety of card catalogues and finding 
lists have been incorporated into the new, expanded 
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online catalogue, offering in depth access to the history 
of Australia to an extent never seen before. 

Building on that achievement, the NSW Government 
this year supported the Library to launch a 10-year 
initiative, the Digital Excellence program. Capital 
funding of $32.6 million over the initial four years will 
enable the Library to digitise iconic, at risk and highly 
valued collections as well as to undertake a complete 
renewal of its digital infrastructure. This will permit 
people across NSW and beyond to access images and 
the full text of newspapers and many other items from 
their homes, workplaces and public libraries. We are 
grateful to the State Government for its continued 
support for and commitment to the State Library. 

Expansion of the Library ’s regional reach included 
seven touring exhibitions to regional centres. 
The Far Out! Treasures to the Bush learning program 
presented original historic items to 2019 students 
from 29 schools in 18 rural and remote locations. 
The visits by our education staff inspire a love of 
learning among the students. 

Building strength across the State’s 376 public 
libraries, WiFi hotspot services were delivered in 
97 rural and regional libraries and needs analyses 
of library services have been conducted across 
80 councils since 2011–12 through the Revitalising 
Regional Libraries program. 

Seeking to engage more with the tremendous 
cultural and linguistic diversity of NSW, Library 
Council approved the Cultural Diversity Strategy 
2012–15. The ways in which the Library recognises 
cultural diversity in delivering its services are 
well documented in this report. 

In parallel, the Library ’s new Indigenous Unit 
will expand our relationships with Indigenous 
peoples across the State by working with and for 
our Indigenous communities. 

reCognition 

The growing awareness of the importance of the State 
Library as the premier home of Australian history has 
been demonstrated through a 36% increase in media 
interest in 2012–13. 

This also reflects the Library ’s growing status both 
locally and internationally as a world leading library 
and centre of digital excellence. 

During the past year our exceptional volunteers have 
continued with the transcription of many significant 
items in our manuscript collections. Volunteers 
transcribed an extraordinary 13,545 pages plus a 
further 10,911 pages from our WWI diaries. Since 2008 
when the WWI transcription project commenced, 
a total of 501 diaries have been transcribed. 

On behalf of the Library Council, I take this 
opportunity to thank Dr Alex Byrne, NSW State 
Librarian & Chief Executive, his Executive team and 
the staff of the State Library of NSW, whose passion for 
our great library always impresses. It has been another 
great year of achievement, further enhancing the 
Library ’s reputation. 

Our dedicated Library Council members sit on one 
or more of the standing committees that carry out 
the detailed work of Council. Considerable effort is 
involved. I would like to sincerely thank all Council 
members and committee chairs for their commitment 
and contribution to the State Library and public 
libraries throughout NSW. 

In particular, I should like to acknowledge 
Mr Graham Bradley AM and Mr Richard Fisher AM, 
who will both complete the maximum nine years of 
service on the Library Council of NSW in December 
2013, demonstrating their enormous commitment 
to this great library and to the state. They have 
made a lasting contribution to the development 
and reputation of our Library. 

Rob Thomas AM 
President, Library Council of NSW 
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From the 
NSW State Librarian 
& Chief Executive 

dr alex BYrne 
NSW STATE LIBRARIAN 
& CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

‘The landmark 
Digital Excellence 
program is among 
the first to undertake 
mass digitisation 
of a major 
cultural collection 
in Australia.’ 

The NSW Government’s strong support for the 
Library ’s Digital Excellence program framed a 
transformative year. The program will renew the 
Library ’s digital infrastructure over three years and 
enable a decade-long initiative to digitise iconic, 
historically important and vulnerable materials in the 
Library ’s unique collections to make them available 
across the state, nation and beyond. 

digital exCellenCe 

A fine start has been made. We are renewing systems 
and infrastructure to enable our clients to discover and 
make use of the Library ’s online content. The program 
commenced with a complete system review and the 
design of a modern suite of interlocking software 
applications to meet the Library ’s needs. The first 
year saw major improvements in internet and internal 
connectivity, digital storage to cope with ever-growing 
digital content, and a more robust systems and project 
management environment. 

digitisation 

The greatest initial benefit of the digitisation project 
has been large-scale newspaper digitisation. At the 
end of 2012–13, there were 175 NSW newspapers on 
Trove’s online repository, up from 59 at the end of 
the previous year. Ninety titles — 2.4 million pages — 
have been scanned with 1.25 million pages converted 
to searchable text. In total, Trove now presents 
more than 100 million searchable articles on over 
10 million pages. 

The impact is enormous. During the year, there were 
over 13.5 million page views of NSW newspapers, 30% 
of all the pages viewed on Trove. To create more ways 
to access this rich content and to set the newspapers in 
their historical and regional contexts, the State Library 
has created Wikipedia entries for 114 NSW newspaper 
titles and comprehensive lists of the state’s English 
and community language newspapers. 

Over 1200 cassettes have been digitised from the 
oral history collection including content from the 
Ethnic Affairs Commission, Twelfth Hour Holocaust 
Survivors, Institute of Engineers and the Sydney 
Writers’ Festival. The digitisation of these oral 
histories is important, as they are at risk of permanent 
loss through deterioration and technological 
obsolescence. And, as the centenary of the First World 
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War looms, a total of 13,500 WWI diary pages, 80 maps, 
5000 images, 150 posters, and more than 2700 items of 
ephemera were digitised among many other materials. 

The landmark Digital Excellence program is 
among the first to undertake mass digitisation of a 
major cultural collection in Australia. It is delivering 
significant benefits for cultural institutions and their 
clients and through developing industry capability 
and capacity. It will transform the Library from one 
of Australia’s most respected and valued libraries to 
an institution internationally renowned for digital 
excellence. 

amaze and CUrio 

Extending these achievements, the launch of a new 
mobile application for smartphones and tablets, 
Curio, marked the Library ’s commitment to 
enhancing clients’ experiences. Supported by the NSW 
Department of Trade and Investment Collaborative 
Solutions program, Curio was launched at the opening 
of the new Amaze Gallery. 

Amaze: The Michael Crouch Gallery is a new, 
permanent gallery to exhibit the breadth and depth 
of the Library ’s extraordinary collections. The first 
completely new gallery at the Library since 1929, the 
Amaze Gallery was generously endowed by Mr Michael 
Crouch AO. It sits alongside and complements the 
Mitchell and Dixson galleries, which continued to 
show absorbing exhibitions during 2012–13 including 
a display marking the 50th anniversary of the 
Australian Ballet. 

memorY of tHe world 

The Greatest Wonder of the World exhibition presented 
the Holtermann Collection of 3500 glass plate 
negatives depicting Australia in the 1870s 
with striking images of the NSW gold fields and of 
Sydney as a growing mercantile centre. Confirming 
its international importance, the Holtermann 
Collection was inscribed on the Australian Register 
of the UNESCO Memory of the World just after 
the exhibition. 

world leading liBrarY 

These and many other initiatives and activities 
summarised in this annual report demonstrate the 
importance of the State Library to the people of 
NSW as well as its international recognition 
as a world leading library and a growing centre 
of digital excellence. 

But the year has not been without its challenges. 
Budgetary pressure led to 38 staff members taking 
voluntary redundancy. That has been followed by 
nearly 20 reviews of the Library ’s activities and 
branches and staff accommodation, with a view to 
rebalancing and better positioning staff levels to meet 
emerging needs while achieving required budget 
reductions. The need to decrease staffing by more than 
20% over three years means that both backroom and 
client services must change while we improve services 
to our clients onsite, online and across the state. 

The Digital Excellence program, Curio, the Amaze 
Gallery, our burgeoning education program and 
continuing collection development including major 
acquisitions, described in this report, are only possible 
because of the dedication and expertise of our staff, 
the interest and encouragement of our clients, support 
from the NSW Government and the very strong 
commitment of our friends and supporters, especially 
the members of the Library Council of NSW and its 
committees, and the many who assist us through the 
State Library of NSW Foundation. I thank them all 
on behalf of this great institution. 

Dr Alex Byrne 
NSW State Librarian & Chief Executive 
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innovators in learning and ever growing capabilities Collection available for use in strength through adequate 
research in the education sector through staff learning, new and engaging ways onsite, resourcing and philanthropy 
and in the community opportunity and recognition online and on tour 
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KPIs 

NSW2021 Goals 

KPIs 

NSW2021 Goals 

KPIs 

NSW2021 Goals 

# research active clients 
# study and research clients 
% NSW schools reached 

6, 15 

great PUBliC liBrarY 
network 

strong, accessible public libraries 
through leadership and effective 
strategies 

% public libraries improving 
on 
PL standards/guidelines 

3, 5, 10, 11-18, 20, 22-32 

regional & CommUnitY 
engagement 

Visible and involved regionally 
and with diverse communities 

% regional areas reached  
# registered SLNSW clients 
from regional NSW 

3, 13-14, 23-27, 30-32 

% planned staff training programs 
implemented 
% performance development 
plans completed 

6 

HigHlY CollaBoratiVe 

internally and with other cultural 
institutions, nsla and other 
partners 

# external collaborative initiatives 
% internal client satisfaction with 
services 

4, 19 

leadersHiP & 
transParenCY 

transparent accountability and 
effective leadership throughout 
the organisation 

% staff trust and involvement  
% major milestones achieved 

6, 30 

% collection budget spend % self-generated revenue 
on online resources / total revenue 
# exhibition onsite visits 
% preservation hours 
# digital objects created 
(collection digitisation) 

1, 3, 15, 26, 27	 1, 4 

exCellent roBUst sYstems information serViCes 

Client driven collections and effective policies, processes, 
services to inform nsw facilities, corporate services 

and risk management 

# eresource use 	 % corrective actions taken on 
# reading room onsite visits	 identified hazards and incidents 

within agreed timeframes 
% risk register issues resolved 
within agreed timeframes  
% availability of technology 
systems 

6, 15-18, 21-32	 1, 4 

state-of-tHe-art green liBrarY disCoVerY 

open access and engagement reduced environmental impact 
with clients online through improvements to 

facilities and processes 

% client satisfaction with website	 # energy consumption 

19	 22 

 

 
   

 
 

 
 

   

Strategic framework
2012–13 

nsla Priorities one liBrarY enaBling PeoPle aCCessiBle Content 

our Vision a world leading library and centre of digital excellence 

our strategic Priorities People & Communities staff & Capability Collections & access sustainability 

Pre-eminent 
destination entHUsiastiC staff dYnamiC ColleCting renown 

a major attraction for staff who are engaged, rich collections which document renowned locally and 
sydneysiders, nsw residents and high performing and highly history, culture and society internationally through 
tourists onsite and online regarded  in all formats relationships and online 

KPIs # onsite visits % staff engagement % collection additions # international online visits 
# online visits % client satisfaction with service % client satisfaction with % clients who would recommend 
% client satisfaction collections SLNSW to others 

NSW2021 Goals 1, 27 6 19 1, 6, 27 

learning & 
sCHolarsHiP CaPaBilitY riCH aCCessiBle Content finanCiallY soUnd 

12 
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 State Library of NSW
Key achievements 2012–13 

amazing ColleCtions 

•	 Amaze: The Michael Crouch Gallery opened, 
the first new gallery at the Library since 1929 

•	 Innovative Curio app launched, further 
enhancing visitor experiences 

•	 Holtermann collection of 1870s photographs 
inscribed on the Australian Register of 
the UNESCO Memory of the World 

sUPPorting indigenoUs researCH 

•	 Indigenous Unit established to further develop 
information and library services with and 
for Indigenous communities across NSW 

•	 Rediscovering Indigenous Languages project 
identified more than 200 unknown records 
of Indigenous languages, resources vital 
to the maintenance of language and culture 

BUilding digital exCellenCe 

•	 More than 1.2 million electronic records created 
since 2008-09, exceeding the total eRecords 
project target, and opening up the Library ’s 
unrivalled documentary collections to NSW 
and beyond 

•	 $32.6 million allocated to commence the 
digitisation of the Library ’s most iconic, 
at risk and highly valued collections, as well as 
to undertake a complete renewal of the Library ’s 
ageing digital infrastructure 

world leading liBrarY 

•	 36% increase in media interest reflected growing 
awareness of the Library as the premier home 
of Australian history 

reaCHing regional and diVerse CommUnities 

•	 Cultural Diversity Strategy 2012–15 documented 
strategies to build cultural and linguistic diversity 
into the provision of services, programs and 
collections 

•	 Revitalising Regional Libraries program assisted 
in establishing WiFi hotspot services in 97 rural 
and regional public libraries, and completed 
a needs analysis of library services across 
80 councils since 2011–12 

•	 Seven touring exhibitions displayed at regional 
locations 

•	 Far Out! Treasures to the Bush learning program 
saw 2019 students from 29 schools in 18 rural 
towns engage with the Library ’s collections 

13 
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Strategic Priority:
People & Communities 

key performance indicators 2011–12 2012–13 

# on site visits 892,565 790,266 1 

# online visits 3,440,056 4,288,235 

% client satisfaction 85% 92% 

# research active clients New measure 3,878 

# study & research clients New measure 26,848 

% of NSW schools reached New measure 27% 2 

% of public libraries improving on PL guidelines/standards New measure - 3.14% 

# regional interactions New measure 418 3 

# registered SLNSW clients from regional NSW New measure 6215 4 

key performance indicators 2011–12 2012–13 

% staff engagement New measure 83% 

% client satisfaction with service New measure 90% 

% planned staff training programs implemented New measure 5 

% performance development plans completed 91% 84% 

Strategic Priority:

Staff & Capability
 

Strategic goal 
and results summary
2012–13 

# external collaborative initiatives New measure 188 6 

% internal client satisfaction with services New measure 37% 

% staff trust & involvement New measure 64% 

% major milestones achieved New measure 100% 7 

14 
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Strateg ic Priorit y:
Col lections & Access 

key performance indicators 2011–12 2012–13 

% collection additions New measure See graph 

% client satisfaction with collections 86% 90% 

% collection budget spend on online resources 20.3% 17.6% 

# exhibition on site visits 142,920 165,281 

% preservation hours New measure See graph 

# digital objects created (collection digitisation) 50,305 74,149 

# eresource use New measure 1,691,498 8 

# reading room on site visits 725,200 833,005 

% client satisfaction with website 80% 82% 

Strateg ic Priorit y:
Sustainability 

key performance indicators 2011–12 2012–13 

# international online visits 264,158 335,004 

% clients who would recommend SLNSW to others 90% 93% 

% self-generated revenue 13.7% 12.2% 

% corrective actions taken on identified hazards and incidents 
within agreed timeframes 

91% 100% 

% risk register issues resolved within agreed timeframes New measure 100% 

% availability of technology systems New measure 99.8% 

# energy consumption 9,099,266 kWh 8,771,818 kWh 

INTERNAL 
EXHIBITIONS 

20% 

TRAVELLING 
EXHIBITIONS 

2% 

LOANS 
18% 

HIGH PRIORITY ITEMS 
15% 

COLLECTION 
CONSERVATION 

25% 

PreserVation HoUrs 

COLLECTION 
MAINTENANCE 

20% 

ColleCtion additions 

ACqUIRED IN 
DIGITAL FORMAT 

75% 

ACqUIRED IN 
NON-DIGITAL 

FORMAT 
25% 

notes: 
Data which is not directly comparable with 
current reporting is indicated in grey. 
1. 2012–13 visitation estimate provided due to 

interruptions in the data series and faults in the 
people counting system throughout the reporting 
period. Source: ‘Onsite visitation data estimation 
for the State Library of New South Wales, 2012–13 
financial year’ report, Statistical Consulting 
Centre, Department of Mathematics and 
Statistics, University of Melbourne, 24 July 2013. 

2. NSW schools participating in State Library 
learning programs. 

3. Regional interactions include community reach 
(exhibitions, displays, collection and learning 
activities), professional reach (development 
workshops) and infrastructure reach 
(funding and technology support). 
This measure replaces % regional areas 
reached for 2012–13. 

4. New regional clients who have registered 
for a library card in the reporting period. 

5. Data collection framework in place, reporting 
to commence in 2013–14. 

6. External collaboration types include major 
donors, sponsors, partners and others. 

7. eRecords Project: annual target of records 
created milestone achieved. 

8. Full text e-documents delivered to clients. 
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People and communities
 

Pre-em inent destination 
A key aim of the State Library is to be a major 
attraction for Sydneysiders, NSW residents and 
tourists onsite and online. We measure our success 
through client satisfaction, visits to our reading rooms 
and exhibitions, and use of the Library ’s website. 

After the refurbishment of the Macquarie 
Street foyer and State Reference Library in 2012, 
improvements continue to be made to the onsite 
experience for visitors. A highlight of the year was 
the opening of Amaze: The Michael Crouch Gallery, 
which transformed a former storage area into a 
contemporary space for frequently changing displays 
from the Library ’s collection. The innovative Curio app 
was developed, giving visitors the stories behind items 
in the Amaze Gallery and our changing exhibitions, 
as well as offering a self-guided tour of the historic 
Mitchell Library. 

C li en t f eed B aC k 

In addition to ongoing service and program evaluation, 
community awareness and client satisfaction surveys 
were again carried out for 2012–13. Results inform 
client-focused service and program improvement 
onsite and online. This year, clients are reporting a 
high level of engagement and their satisfaction has 
increased to 92%, continuing the upward satisfaction 
trend seen since 2011. 

There were 160 clients who took the time to provide 
written feedback about our facilities and services this 
year. Of these 24 suggested improvements and another 
30 expressed their appreciation for staff and services. 
The remaining 106 were complaints, often with 
suggestions. Around 40% of the complaints related to 
equipment or systems and many have been addressed. 
Others will be addressed by the Digital Excellence 
program in the coming year. 

a ma z e : t H e m i C H ae l C ro U C H g al l e rY 

With generous support from Michael Crouch AO, the 
Library ’s new Amaze Gallery lets visitors experience 
some of the most iconic, beautiful and quirky items in 
the Library ’s collections. The gallery was launched in 
April 2013 with a display of 60 items from the Dixson 
collection, marking 60 years since Sir William Dixson 

(1870–1952) bequeathed his extraordinary collection 
to the Library. 

Next to the Amaze Gallery, A Passion for Collecting: 
Sir William Dixson displayed personal items such 
as an etching of Sir William by Lionel Lindsay and 
a chair from Dixson’s study. A film was screened in 
the gallery featuring interviews with the Library ’s 
collection experts on Dixson’s legacy and the work of 
the State Library. The Dixson Trust’s generous support 
for this exhibition demonstrated nearly a century of 
continuing philanthropy to the Library. 

The Amaze Gallery allows the Library to showcase 
new acquisitions, items newly treated by conservators, 
and displays that respond to anniversaries and topical 
events. Crossing the Blue Mountains, from May 2013, 
celebrated 200 years since the first Europeans crossed 
the Blue Mountains and featured a range of historical 
and contemporary manuscripts, maps, photographs 
and objects from the Library ’s collections. 

ma j or e xH i B i ti on s 

exHiBition Visits 

exhibition dates total 
visits 

days daily 
average 

visits 

World Press Photo 2012 
Photos1440 

30 June to 
22 July 2012 

31,684 23 1378 

The Greatest Wonder 
of the World 

23 February to 
12 May 2013 

45,874 78 588 

Head On Portrait Prize 
Magnum On Set 

18 May to 
23 June 2013 

17,937 37 485 

Time in Motion: 50 years 
of the Australian Ballet 

12 November 
2012 to 10 
February 2013 

37,399 430 

Life of Patrick White 
Sidney Nolan: 
Illuminations 

11 August to 
28 October 2012 

26,994 79 342 

Notes 
Data includes all client, staff, volunteer and contractor movements 
Source: WinPC6 People Counting System 

World Press Photo 12 and Photos1440 
The year began with the popular World Press Photo 
exhibition, showing the world’s best photojournalism. 
The exhibition featured over 200 powerful and 
evocative images by 57 photographers of 24 
nationalities, including award winning Australian 
sports photographer Adam Pretty. 

Also in the Galleries was the Sydney Morning 
Herald’s Photos1440 photography exhibition; the title 
reflects the fact that there are 1440 minutes in a day 
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in which photographers capture a series of intriguing 
moments. Photos1440 featured prints and multimedia 
of the best published and unpublished work by Herald 
photographers. Both exhibitions were sponsored by 
Canon Australia. 

The Life of Patrick White 
The Life of Patrick White, a National Library of 
Australia exhibition presented in collaboration with 
the State Library of NSW, marked 100 years since the 
birth of Australia’s first Nobel laureate in literature. 
It told the story of Patrick White in all his guises, 
and offered an insight into the post-war Australian 
arts scene. Looking at White’s life through the places 
he lived, this exhibition was drawn mostly from the 
National Library ’s collection of his papers — despite 
the fact that White repeatedly maintained he had 
destroyed them. It included significant contributions 
from the State Library, including his 1973 Nobel Prize 
for Literature. The Life of Patrick White was supported 
by the National Collecting Institutions Touring 
and Outreach program, an Australian Government 
program which aims to improve access to the national 
collections for all Australians. Key events included an 
illustrated lecture by White’s biographer, David Marr. 

Showing at the same time was Sidney Nolan: 
Illuminations, an exhibition of selected works from 
Nolan’s 1982 ‘Illuminations’ series from the Canberra 
Museum and Gallery. 

Time in Motion 
Time in Motion: 50 years of the Australian Ballet, an 
Arts Centre Melbourne touring exhibition, celebrated 
the enduring style, strength and passion of the 
Australian Ballet and its creative output over 50 years. 
Drawn from the Arts Centre Melbourne’s Performing 
Arts Collection and the Australian Ballet’s archives, 
the exhibition featured photographs, film, designs 
and costumes. Time in Motion revisited some of 
the company ’s most memorable works, illustrating 
its dynamic rise to become a national icon of 
world-class status. 

Key events related to Time in Motion included 
talks by Colin Peasley, the Australian Ballet’s 
Artist-in-Residence, David McAllister (Artistic 
Director) and Nicolette Fraillon (Chief Conductor 

and Music Director), and Stephen Baynes (Resident 
Choreographer). 

The Greatest Wonder of the World 
In 1872, the newly rich Bernhardt Otto Holtermann 
employed Henry Beaufoy Merlin and Charles Bayliss 
(of the American and Australasian Photographic 
Company) to photograph gold-producing areas and 
cities in NSW and Victoria for exhibition overseas. 
The Greatest Wonder of the World exhibition told the 
story of the resulting Holtermann collection. 

The original wet-plate negatives taken by Merlin 
and Bayliss at Hill End and Gulgong provide an 
astonishing visual record of gold rush Australia. 
Through enlargements, facsimile prints and a small 
selection of vintage prints and wet plate negatives, the 
exhibition highlighted the extraordinary collection 
of nineteenth century documentary images that form 
the Library ’s Holtermann archive. Exhibition-related 
events included tours by Alan Davies, Curator of 
Photographs, who also presented a sold-out ‘Out of the 
Vaults’ talk about the Holtermann collection. Capping 
the success of the exhibition was the inscription of 
this extraordinary collection of technically demanding 
early photography on the Australian Register of the 
UNESCO Memory of the World. 

Many visitors to the Greatest Wonder of the 
World were impressed not only by the quality of the 
photographic images, but the depth of information 
provided: ‘I knew very little of the exhibition 
beforehand and was amazed at the photos and 
information provided’. Visitors commented that the 
exhibition experience made the past feel present. 
Others appreciated that the State Library continues 
to offer high-quality exhibitions free of charge, one 
commenting that the ‘outstanding exhibition adds 
to my “knowledge bank” without breaking my bank 
(funds)’. 

More than 1000 primary and high school students 
(accompanied by 55 teachers) visited the Library to 
view The Greatest Wonder of the World and participate 
in learning programs. Resources for teachers were 
delivered online, including a cross-curricula unit of 
work with step-by-step instructions on sculpture 
making, music specially recorded for students by a 
concert pianist and history activities. For schools 
unable to visit the Library, teachers were able to 
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download a fully integrated term’s work with activities 
designed for interactive whiteboards. 

Also showing was In Memory of Merlin, in which 
artists Ed Douglas and Ken Orchard responded in 
unique ways to Beaufoy Merlin and Charles Bayliss’ 
photographs of what was possibly in its heyday the 
busiest industrial site in the country — Hill End. 
The display was a drawn from an exhibition held 
in January 2009 at Bathurst Regional Art Gallery 
following a Hill End artist-in-residence program. 

Head On Portrait Prize and Magnum on Set 
For the first time the Library was part of the Head On 
Photo Festival, the world’s second largest photography 
festival. The Head On Portrait Prize is the nation’s 
major innovative showcase for Australian portrait 
photography, reflecting a diverse cross-section of new 
and traditional photographic practices. It is the most 
critically acclaimed photographic portrait competition 
in Australia. 

Magnum on Set brought together on-set photographs 
from Hollywood films taken by representatives of the 
prestigious Magnum picture agency. The exhibition 
featured intimate portraits of stars and film directors 
of 12 movies including The Seven Year Itch, Rebel 
Without a Cause and Moby Dick. The exhibition was 
complemented by screenings of some of those iconic 
films. 

disPlaYs aroUnd tHe liBrarY 

As well as major exhibitions, visitors were drawn to a 
number of displays in locations around the Library: 
•	 Onside with the NRL: Photographs by Mark Tedeschi 

was inspired by the fusion of two cultures: art and 
sport 

•	 Flashback: 160 Years of Australian Fashion 
Photos traced the evolution of Australian fashion 
photography 

•	 Nikon-Walkley Press Photography showcased 
Australia’s best photojournalists 

•	 The Poetry Object celebrated the creativity of 
students and teachers from public schools in 
the Sydney region with a display of poems and 
photographs (curated by the Red Room Company, 

•	 iAfghanistan: Ben Lowy showed striking images of 
photojournalism captured on a mobile phone 

•	 Street featured the work of nine Sydney 
photographers capturing the daily life of their city 

•	 Momento Pro Photobook of the Year Awards 
recognised outstanding work created and printed 
through the Momento Pro service 

•	 Black on White: Photographs by Belinda Mason 
provided insights into the views of Indigenous 
Australians about white Australians and their 
culture. 

PrestigioUs awards 

In 2012 the NSW Premier’s Literary Awards and 
History Awards joined the Library ’s vibrant awards 
program, which also includes the National Biography 
Award and Ashurst Business Literature Prize. 

The Mitchell Library Reading Room provided 
an atmospheric location for a combined Literary 
and History Awards ceremony in November 2012. 
The event marked the National Year of Reading 
by celebrating outstanding contributions to literature 
and history. 

In 2013 the awards have returned to their customary 
times with the Literary Awards taking place in May 
during the Sydney Writers’ Festival and the History 
Awards announced as part of History Week in 
September. The 2013 Literary Awards were presented 
at a gala dinner at the Library. With 53 works 
shortlisted across 10 categories, the awards recognised 
diverse contributions to Australian writing, from 
children’s writing and translation to the newly named 
Nick Enright Prize for Playwriting and Betty Roland 
Prize for Scriptwriting. There was a 38% increase 
in the number of nominations, with 438 received 
in 2012–13 (up from 317 in 2011–12). New online 
nomination forms were developed for the awards 
program, which make it easier to submit nominations 
and pay online. 

Awards related events held at the Library include the 
National Biography Award lecture, and the Book Stack, 
a book club focusing on award winning books and 
authors. Funding has been granted by the Copyright 
Agency Ltd to tour the shortlisted authors in regional 
NSW in cooperation with the state’s extensive public 
library network. 
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eVent PartnersHiPs 

The Library draws on partnerships with a range of 
organisations to stage distinctive and engaging events. 

In September 2012 we joined with the History 
Council of NSW to promote the History Week theme 
‘Threads’. Six Sydney fashion designers selected a 
historical figure as a muse, including Bennelong and 
Annette Kellerman, and showcased their creations in 
the Mitchell Library vestibule. The outfits were also 
featured in Six Spectres, a short film shot in the Library 
by local fashion image-makers ABSORB. The audience 
heard Edwina McCann, Editor in Chief of Vogue 
Australia, in conversation with State Library curator 
Margot Riley. 

Our Galleries hosted the Design After Dusk market 
as part of the City of Sydney ’s month-long Art and 
About festival, and the Glasshouse Learning Space 
was the venue for school holiday workshops run 
by the Australian Theatre for Young People, which 
incorporated the Library ’s collections. 

From July 2012 to January 2013, Poetry Australia’s 
cafe poet program saw Kate Rees take up residence 
in the Library ’s cafe, drawing inspiration from our 
visitors, staff, buildings and collections. In May 2013 
sold-out workshops by prominent writers were held 
at the Library as part of the Sydney Writers’ Festival 
with the support of Pantera Press. 

With Amnesty International we staged debates and 
we partnered with the University of Western Sydney 
for the Australia India Literatures International 
Forum. The successful partnership with the Walkley 
Foundation continues with monthly talks, an annual 
exhibition and plans to screen award winning 
documentaries. 

These partnerships help promote the Library ’s 
collections and spaces and attract new audiences, as 
well as initiating and promoting the exchange of ideas. 

The Quiet Volume 
As part of Sydney Festival 2013, the State Library 
hosted the first Australian performance of The Quiet 
Volume. This interactive work, created by English 
artists Ant Hampton and Tim Etchell, has been 
performed in libraries across the world since 2010. 

Several pairs of participants at each hourly session 
were provided with an iPod and headphones, a small 
pile of books and a notebook. Seated side by side in the 

Mitchell Library Reading Room, they took cues from 
words written and whispered. The soft voice in the 
headphones guided listeners to turn pages and share 
selected passages in the novel. They then reflected 
on the process of reading and the experience of being 
in the Library. 

The sellout season of The Quiet Volume was a 
successful partnership with the Sydney Festival, 
attracting wide media coverage. With more than 850 
people attending, it was endorsed as one of the Sydney 
Morning Herald’s top three Sydney Festival events. 

ColleCtion PreserVation for exHiBitions 

and eVents 

Collection material prepared for exhibitions at the 
Library amounted to 882 items, including for The Life 
of Patrick White, The Greatest Wonder of the World, 
and the Amaze Gallery. Travelling exhibitions such as 
Lewin: Wild Art at the National Library of Australia, 
accounted for the preparation of a further 242 items. 
Conservators assisted at events such as viewings of the 
TAL & Dai-ichi Life collection and the James Wallis 
album, World War I material, Discover Collections’ 
May Gibbs, an HSC History extension program, and 
Foundation and Out of the Vaults events. 

Conservators also supervised collections during 
film shoots for the TV program Who Do You Think 
You Are?, and for two German film crews, one making 
a documentary on the naturalist George Foster from 
Cook’s second voyage, the other on the explorer 
Ludwig Leichhardt for this year’s centenary of his 
birth. 

Pre-eminent online destination 

The Library website continues to be an important 
point of contact with our clients with 4,288,235 online 
visits, an increase of 25% from last year. The trend 
towards an increase in mobile usage worldwide was 
reflected in an increase of 132% in users accessing 
the State Library website from a mobile device. Social 
networks contributed almost 1% (37,885 visits) of the 
total traffic; an increase of 26% from the previous 
year. Users interact with more pages on the site when 
compared to the previous year. Visits to the site can be 
divided into six broad areas of content as shown in the 
following diagram. 
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weBsite Use 

disCoVer ColleCtions 274,740 visits Ó29% 

Using tHe liBrarY 274,286 visits Ó6% 

researCH gUides 179,842 visits Ó163% 

eVents and exHiBitions 151,915 visits Ó12% 

aBoUt tHe liBrarY 117,761 visits Ó31% 

serViCes 85,006 visits Ó10% 

An online presence was established for each exhibition 
with a range of content including exhibition highlights, 
links to online collections, podcasts and vidcasts of 
exhibition multimedia and events. The most popular 
exhibition accessed online was World Press Photo 
2012, followed by The Greatest Wonder of the World. 
The most popular events pages were for ‘Design After 
Dusk Market’, ‘Photojournalists — Participants or 
Spectators?’ followed by ‘Is the Pen Mightier than the 
Sword?’, an Amnesty International debate. 

Among our many online stories in Discover 
Collections, the top 10 accessed by users were from 
the History of our Nation and Society, Art and Culture 
sections. The most popular was ‘From Terra Australis 
to Australia’, followed by ‘Voyages of Discovery: The 
Great South Land’, then ‘Exploration: Trailblazing 
the Australian Interior’. This reflects the Library ’s 
strength in drawing together material from the school 
curriculum. 

d i g i ta l e xC e lle n C e 

One year into the Library ’s Digital Excellence program, 
significant progress has been made in digitising 
collections and upgrading our digital infrastructure. 

In 2012 the NSW Government awarded the Library 
$32.6 million for the initial four years of a 10-year 
digitisation program which will transform the Library 
into a centre of digital excellence. Under the program, 
we will digitise our most iconic, at risk and highly 
valued collections as well as undertaking a complete 
renewal of underlying infrastructure and systems. 

In the first year, strategic collaborations and 
digitisation initiatives have been established with the 
aim of creating a strong foundation upon which the 
Library can build. As well as this foundational work, 
headway has been made to digitise several of the 
Library ’s important collections. A total of 2.4 million 
newspaper pages have been digitised. Over 1200 fragile 
oral history cassettes have been converted to a digital 
format and the digitisation of 900 World War I diaries 

has commenced, along with related material including 
photographs, maps and posters. A range of historical 
content has already been made accessible online 
through the Digital Excellence program, including 
early twentieth century etchings by Sydney Ure Smith 
and photographs of Sydney from the Arthur Ernest 
Foster glass negatives collection. 

Among the collections to be digitised in 2013–14 
are 4500 of the extremely important and valuable early 
Australian books bequeathed to the Library in 1907 
by David Scott Mitchell. 

C U r i o 

A pioneering mobile application, Curio, was launched 
at the Library in April 2013 to coincide with the 
opening of the contemporary new space, Amaze: 
The Michael Crouch Gallery. 

Devised with Art Processors — who created the ‘O’ 
for the Museum of Old and New Art (MONA) in Hobart 
— Curio transforms the way visitors explore, interact 
with and learn about the Library and our collections. 

Easy to install on a range of mobile devices and 
available on inhouse tablets, the app uses uniquely 
precise indoor location technology. As visitors move 
around the Library, it delivers targeted and relevant 
facts, surprising stories and multimedia about the 
Mitchell building ’s architectural features and the 
objects on display in the galleries. 

The mobile experience goes beyond the traditional 
audio guide, streaming information without disturbing 
the heritage building. It allows visitors to rate objects 
onsite, play back their visit at home and share their 
favourite objects on social media. 

School groups can explore the Library ’s exhibitions 
and the historic Mitchell building then return to the 
classroom and review their trip on Curio. The app 
is designed to provoke emotion, encourage thought 
and debate, and create a memorable experience 
which extends beyond the visit. 

Curio was made possible with a NSW Government 
grant under the Collaborative Solutions program. 
It was supported by Samsung and Hewlett Packard, 
with further funding provided by the Library ’s Digital 
Excellence program. 
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Learning and scholarship 
One of the Library ’s strategic goals is to be an 
innovator in learning and research in the education 
sector and in the community. We do this by offering 
fellowships for scholars and learning programs for all 
age groups. 

fellowsHiPs 

As part of its ongoing commitment to research, the 
Library administers a number of annual research 
fellowships, which are principally focused on the use 
of its collections. 

The David Scott Mitchell Fellowship and the 
Merewether Scholarship, each worth $12,000 per 
annum, were established in March 2008 through the 
generosity of the late John Merewether, a longstanding 
supporter, friend and donor to the Library. The David 
Scott Mitchell Fellowship encourages the research and 
study of Australian history using the collections of 
the Mitchell Library. The 2012–13 Mitchell Fellow is 
Dr Toby Martin for ‘Performing Aboriginality: Tourism 
to Aboriginal Missions, Reserves and Settlements 
from the 1880s to the 1950s’. The Merewether 
Scholarship encourages and supports the research 
and study of nineteenth century history in NSW using 
the collections of the Mitchell Library. The 2012–13 
Merewether Scholar is Dr Alecia Simmonds for 
‘Matching, Hatching and Dispatching: Love, Law and 
Family in New South Wales 1788–1801’. 

The CH Currey Fellowship, worth $20,000 per 
annum, is awarded for writing Australian history from 
original sources. It was established in 1974 under the 
terms of a bequest of well-known historian Dr Charles 
Herbert Currey. The 2012–13 Currey Fellow is Dr Kyle 
Harvey for ‘A History of the Australian Anti-nuclear 
Movement, 1965–2000’. 

The Nancy Keesing Fellowship, valued at $12,000 
per annum, is awarded for research into any aspect of 
Australian life and culture using the resources of the 
State Library. The fellowship was established in 1994 
by Nancy Keesing ’s husband, Dr Mark Hertzberg, a 
former president of the Library Council of NSW. The 
2012–13 Keesing Fellow is Dr Michael Thompson for 
‘Dust Bowls and Wilderness: Transnational Currents 
of Environmental Critique in Interwar Australia’. 

The Australian Religious History Fellowship, 
$20,000 per annum and supported by an anonymous 
benefactor, was launched in September 2010. This 
fellowship supports the research and study of any 
aspect of Australian religious history of any faith. 
The 2012–13 fellow is Dr Gwenda Baker for ‘Harold 
Shepherdson: Pioneer Aviator, Missionary and 
Visionary Worker with Indigenous People in Arnhem 
Land’. 

There has been continuing development of 
fellowship content on the Library ’s website. This 
content highlights the value of the collection and the 
knowledge that is created as a result of philanthropic 
bequest such as fellowships and scholarships. Four 
new video podcast presentations by fellows have been 
added to the website and pre-existing recordings 
displayed in a new format. Pinterest pages have been 
used as an alternative means of seeking applicants 
for fellowships. A social media campaign to promote 
the Jean Arnot Memorial Fellowship in 2013 resulted 
in an over 50% rise in applicants compared to 2012. 
Public talks presenting the results of four completed 
fellowships took place in 2012–13. 

Programs for sCHool stUdents and teaCHers 

Continued growth of the development, reach and use 
of programs and activities has been a feature of the 
Library ’s schools and teachers program in 2012–13. 
The program has built on the success of previous 
years while developing new programs both onsite and 
regionally. Fundamental to the program’s development 
is alignment with NSW 2021 Learning and Education 
Goals (6 and 15) and ensuring that NSW syllabi for 
the Australian Curriculum requirements are met. 

During the past year learning programs onsite, 
online and on tour attracted more than 11,000 
participants, an increase of over 2000 from the 
previous financial year. Twenty-six per cent of NSW 
schools have now participated in programs run by 
Learning Services. 

A generous donation to the State Library Foundation 
allowed the Library to provide a number of schools 
in Western and South-western Sydney with a 
transportation subsidy to bring students to the Library, 
overcoming a significant impediment for poorer 
schools. The subsidy was immediately taken up by 
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17 schools and buses transported 1135 students to 
participate in learning programs onsite. 

The Library has developed HSC programs that 
have gained wide support from teachers and students 
including the History Extension Seminar day, the 
Project, with Sydney Living Museums, the Society and 
Culture Awards and Teacher Professional Learning 
day, as well as the WordExpress presentation evening. 
In October 2012, 135 students and teachers attended 
the inaugural WordExpress student seminar day. 

In May 2013 a new program for Teacher Librarians 
was launched: the Teaching and Learning, Technology 
and Libraries professional learning day. The focus of 
the day was innovation in teaching and learning. One 
teacher remarked: ‘The practical nature of Indigenous 
perspectives in the primary classroom has given me 
something concrete to share with staff 9 am Monday. 
We will be using resources by 10 am’. 

In 2013 a new onsite permanent program was 
developed to complement the two existing permanent 
programs. Early Explorers: Trailblazing the Australian 
Interior joined Seeking Shakespeare and Antarctica 
Uncovered. 

Programs for student groups in our reading rooms 
continued to be popular with 2520 students attending 
141 programs. The programs are designed to give an 
overview of the Library ’s services and resources as 
well as strategies for conducting research. They are 
customised for particular groups, including HSC, 
TAFE, college and tertiary students. While many of 
the students came from metropolitan areas, there 
were also groups from country and regional areas. 
During the year we welcomed HSC students from 
Port Macquarie and Macksville, who noted that the 
programs were ‘essential for research and for access to 
information for their major assignments’. Ten groups 
of Indigenous visitors were welcomed to the Library 
for an introductory talk and tour, including a group of 
elders and secondary students from the Kempsey area. 

lifelong learners 

The Library ’s Lifelong Learning program expanded 
with the addition of new courses in 2013: Researching 
Your Stocks and Shares, Christmas in the Colony, 
Reliving the 60s, Rediscovering Old Sydney and 
Welcome to the World of ebooks. Four hundred and 

fifty-one lifelong learners participated in programs 
during the year. 

The community ’s growing interest in family history 
was supported with presentations at conferences and 
to family history societies. We also conducted 14 family 
history programs for 275 clients throughout the year, 
particularly during Family History Week. 

kids @ tHe liBrarY 

The Kids @ the Library school holiday program this 
year used iPads in programs such as Picture Yourself 
on the Goldfields, Digital Art with iPads and Make Your 
Own Digital Story. These programs joined the full-day 
photography workshop, art workshops, free movies 
and the Up Late at the Library event for families. 
Just under 1000 children attended Kids@the Library 
events during the past year, an increase on the 
previous year. 

sCHolarlY mUsings 

Scholarly Musings events provide an opportunity 
for researchers to exchange ideas and learn about 
other research projects being pursued at the Library. 
Researchers are invited to submit a proposal sharing 
their experiences and discoveries in using the Library 
collections. Attendance has increased by 37% (from 
387 in 2011–12 to 531 in 2012–13). Feedback continues 
to be positive. A highlight of the 2012–13 program 
included a presentation by Professor Barbara Santich 
in June 2013 on nineteenth-century appetites for 
Indigenous foods. This event was recorded by 
Radio National and A-PAC (Australia’s Public 
Affairs Channel). 

Great public library network 
The NSW public library network, which comprises 
376 libraries (104 central libraries plus 272 branch 
libraries) and 22 mobile libraries, provides library 
and information services to local communities across 
metropolitan and rural NSW. 

The Library Act 1939 links Library Council and the 
State Library with the public library network. The 
State Library works with local libraries to develop 
quality library services, build skills and expertise in 
the library workforce and ensure library buildings, 
technology and facilities meet the needs of diverse 
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communities across NSW. This is undertaken by 
administering the annual Public Library Grants and 
Subsidies program and supporting and advising public 
libraries on innovative service developments and 
provision. The Library ’s work directly supports Library 
Council’s Objects and Duties under the Library Act 
with regard to public libraries as follows. 

oBjeCts (Library act 1939 s4a) 

The objects of the Council are: 
(a) to promote, provide and maintain library services 

and information services for the people of New 
South Wales through the State Library and through 
cooperation with local libraries 

(b) to advise the Minister and local authorities on 
matters of policy and administration relating to 
library services and information services that are 
or may be provided through local libraries 

(c) to advise the Minister on the provision of 
assistance to local libraries. 

dUties (Library act 1939 s5) 

It shall be the duty of the Council: 
(a) to make or cause to be made careful inquiry into 

the administration and management of every local 
library which is provided, controlled and managed 
by a local authority which has adopted this Act 

(b) to cause every local library which is provided, 
controlled and managed by a local authority which 
has adopted this Act, to be inspected from time to 
time 

(c) to report to the Minister as to the sums required 
to be provided in each year to meet the cost of 
subsidies payable under this Act. 

PUBliC liBrarY growtH 

The key indicators of public library use show that 
public libraries are highly valued by their communities. 
Figures from 2012 show: 
•	 35 million visits to NSW public libraries 

(up 30% since 2000) 
•	 48 million loans (up 10.5% since 2000) 
•	 over 3 million internet hours used by the public 
•	 almost 3.2 million library members 

(44% of the NSW population) 
•	 more than 52,000 public programs and events 

•	 more than 1.2 million people attended public 
programs. 
The annual statistics are collected and published by 

the State Library in support of Library Council’s Duty 
5(1)(a) under the Library Act 1939 to ‘make or cause to 
be made careful inquiry into the administration and 
management of every local library ’. 

The State Library ’s leadership and support services 
have assisted NSW public libraries to position 
themselves for this growth in demand. In 2012–13 
the State Library has assisted local government 
to promote, provide and maintain public libraries 
through providing: 
•	 $26.528 million in grants and subsidies 
•	 consultancy and advisory services 
•	 collection and service support including 

multicultural collection development, and bulk 
loans of multicultural collections and alternate 
formats such as talking books 

•	 program support 
•	 professional development programs. 

This year Library staff visited 133 libraries across 
regional, rural and metropolitan NSW to provide 
consultancy, advice, needs assessments and to 
represent the State Library at stakeholder association 
meetings and community events. 

Library reviews have been a focus of this year’s 
work. These are evidence based and undertaken at 
the request of council/ library management. Library 
reviews were undertaken for Newcastle, Hawkesbury, 
Holroyd, Blacktown (two reviews), Ku-ring-gai and 
Snowy River. A City of Sydney review is underway. 
Building consultancy was provided to Hurstville, 
Newcastle, Wingecarribee, Canada Bay and Warringah 
libraries. 

The State Library ’s visits and consultancies support 
Library Council’s Objects and Duty 5(1)(a) under the 
Library Act 1939 to ‘make or cause to be made careful 
inquiry into the administration and management of 
every local library ’, and 5(1)( b) ‘to cause every local 
library to be inspected from time to time’. 

The 4th edition of Living Learning Libraries: 
Standards and Guidelines for NSW Public Libraries 
was published with updated targets for all key 
performance indicators. This edition also included a 
new preliminary standard for measuring the use of 
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electronic resources, indicating the need to adjust the 
standards to reflect changes in the library industry. 

The 2012–13 Public Library Funding Strategy was 
approved by the Minister on 11 September following 
endorsement by the Public Libraries Consultative 
Committee and Library Council. All councils were 
invited to apply for grants and subsidies in September. 
The strategy was fully implemented by the end of 
June 2013. 

The Library Development/Country Libraries 
Fund Grants were managed to timetable, with 
recommendations to the Minister on 26 February. 

The Government also committed to a review of 
public library funding needs. The State Library worked 
with local government stakeholders on this review 
during 2012–13. The advice is under consideration. 

A working group was convened to plan how best 
to mark the 75th anniversary of the Library Act 1939 
and a reference group of public library staff has been 
established to ensure consultation with the public 
library community. 

Guidelines for public libraries regarding the new 
Working with Children Check were prepared in 
consultation with the NSW Commission for Children 
and Young People in June 2013. 

PUBliC liBraries ConsUltatiVe Committee 

The Library Council’s objects under the Library Act 
1939 include providing advice to the Minister for the 
Arts on NSW public library policy and funding. The 
Public Libraries Consultative Committee (PLCC) is 
the key forum for Library Council on public library 
matters. The committee provides a public library 
perspective with representation from a wide range 
of relevant organisations, which include the State 
Library, Metropolitan Public Libraries Association, 
Public Libraries NSW, the Local Government and 
Shires Associations, and Local Government Managers 
Australia (NSW Division). The PLCC met four times 
during the year, including its annual joint meeting 
with Library Council. 

In 2012–13 the committee considered a range of 
matters including providing advice on public library 
grants and subsidies, and consultation on future public 
library funding needs. A working party of the PLCC 
was convened to develop a new model for distributing 
grants and subsidies. 

PUBliC liBrarY fUnding reView 

The Library Act 1939 sets out that the Library Council 
of NSW advises the Minister for the Arts on matters 
of public library policy and administration, and the 
provision of assistance to local libraries. 

The Government made an election commitment in 
2011 to review the funding allocated to public libraries. 
In response, in 2012–13 the Library Council undertook 
a comprehensive review of the efficacy, administration 
and level of State funding in support of public libraries. 

The review was undertaken by a working party of 
the Public Libraries Consultative Committee (PLCC) 
which is constituted by the Library Council under 
section 4B(9) of the Act to receive advice from local 
government public library stakeholders, which include 
the NSW Metropolitan Libraries Association, Public 
Libraries NSW, and Local Government NSW. The 
findings of the review have been endorsed by those 
stakeholders, approved unanimously by the PLCC and, 
on 6 August 2012, by the Library Council of NSW. 

As a result of the 2012–13 review, the key local 
government public library stakeholders (NSW 
Metropolitan Public Libraries Association, Public 
Libraries NSW and Local Government NSW ) endorsed 
a new approach to the State Government Public 
Library Grants and Subsidies recommended by the 
Library Council of NSW. 

The Library will continue to work with the 
Government in support of these reforms in 2013–14. 

nsw.net 

The Library ’s NSW.net service supports NSW local 
government, public libraries and their communities 
with faster, easier and more cost-effective access 
to the digital world. 

In light of the expiry of the NSW.net Service 
Delivery and Marketing Strategy 2009–12, the State 
Library sought information from NSW.net clients on 
the value and importance of the existing service and 
any potential recommendations for future strategic 
planning. Developing a new strategy was undertaken 
by external consultants in consultation with a steering 
committee comprising representatives from the State 
Library, nominated public library representatives from 
small, medium and large metropolitan and country 
public libraries and council IT representatives. 
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A survey developed for distribution to current NSW. 
net clients (councils and public libraries) was used to 
obtain this information. A report detailing analysis 
of the survey results and the value of the NSW.net 
connectivity and content consortia, and a three-year 
NSW.net Service Delivery Strategy and Operational 
plan for 2013–16 were the outcomes of this research. 
Research confirmed that the NSW.net service has 
been responsive to client needs and is well-positioned 
to be proactive and flexible in adapting to emerging 
technological opportunities. 

NSW.net provides internet connections to 253 
public libraries. The service installed 72 new and 
upgraded connections. New libraries using the service 
include Blue Mountains, Botany Bay (two branches), 
Burwood, City of Sydney (11 branches), Gerringong, 
Kempsey (two branches), Randwick (three branches), 
Shellharbour (four branches) and Warringah (four 
branches). 

In addition to supplying subsidised internet 
connectivity, NSW.net enables access to a range of fully 
funded eresources for all NSW public libraries. 
NSW.net’s opt-in consortia facilitates trials of new 
eresource products, ebooks, e-audio, discovery tools 
and catalogue enhancement modules for public 
libraries to evaluate and purchase. 

Following consultation with stakeholders, the 
Library negotiated and purchased access to a suite 
of 10 databases (nine from EBSCO and one from SAI 
Global) for 2012–13. Statistical monitoring over the last 
12 months showed a significant increase in the use 
of these databases compared to the previous year. 

For 2013–14, the Library negotiated 130 consortia 
opt-in offers on behalf of the NSW public library 
network. Trials were completed for Nielsen Book Data 
Online, Britannica SmartMaths, National Geographic 
Virtual Library and Early Experiences in Australasia, 
Primary Sources and Personal Narratives 1788–1901. 
New offers include Axis 360 Blio Platform, Britannica 
SmartMaths, National Geographic Virtual Library, 
RDA Toolkit and Nielsen Book Data Online. These 
offers provide significant discounts to public libraries 
and a diverse range of digital content to suit the 
information needs of the communities served. 

To maximise use of the statewide eresources, the 
Library develops and delivers learning programs for 
public library staff, designed to empower them to get 

the most out of the eresources. In July and August, the 
‘eresources Exposed’ learning program was delivered 
to 81 staff from NSW public libraries. 

In September, a Technology in Libraries seminar 
for public library staff was held at the State Library. 
Keynote speakers included Marshall Breeding, a 
leading international authority on next generation 
catalogues and discovery layers, and Marcus Foth, 
Associate Professor of Urban Infomatics at the 
Queensland University of Technology. One hundred 
and thirty staff from metropolitan and country public 
libraries in NSW attended the seminar. All sessions 
were recorded on video and made available to public 
libraries on the NSW.net website. 

To assist NSW public libraries to keep abreast of 
the fluid eLending environment, NSW.net developed 
an eLending information portal which was integrated 
into the NSW.net website. The aim of this portal 
is to provide a collaborative space for sharing and 
discussing developments in emerging digital content 
formats, ebooks, e-audio, streaming and downloadable 
music and video content. The portal also provides 
an overview of available and emerging eLending 
aggregator platforms and details of which NSW public 
libraries are currently utilising these services. The 
portal can also be utilised for sharing related eLending 
documentation created for promotion, training (staff 
and public) and general client information. At the 
request of the Australian Library and Information 
Association, access to the eLending portal will be 
extended to interested library sectors across Australia. 

nsw PUBliC liBrarY network 

researCH Committee 

The NSW Public Library Network Research 
Committee is convened by the State Library to conduct 
research into public library issues. The committee’s 
brief is to undertake projects for public libraries that: 
•	 promote their value and impact 
•	 contribute to their improvement and enhancement 
•	 stimulate discussion and debate about their current 

and future situation. 
Projects are funded from the Strategic Network 

Funds component of the Public Libraries Grants and 
Subsidies. 

The committee focused on the following projects 
this year: 
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•	 Business Case Approach to RFID Implementation — 
to assist councils to assess whether radio frequency 
identification will assist their libraries 

•	 Data Visualisation Prototype — a two-phase project 
exploring alternate discovery and display interfaces 
for local studies photograph collections 

•	 Shared Statewide Local Studies Strategy — scoped 
for delivery in 2013–14 

•	 People Places: A Guide for Public Library Buildings 
in NSW — a significantly revised edition of the 
influential NSW public library building guidelines 
was published and distributed in August 2012. 

Professional deVeloPment for PUBliC 

liBraries 

The Taking the Lead course for NSW public library 
staff was successfully concluded in October 2012. 
Developed by Annie Talvé and Associates on behalf 
of the State Library, this course provided leadership 
training to 20 potential public library leaders and 
culminated in the presentation of group-devised 
projects to NSW library managers. 

Making Connections is the Library ’s foundation 
program for public library staff. Each year it provides 
an opportunity for public library staff to visit the State 
Library and spend a day engaging with Library staff 
about the services and collections available to their 
local communities. The program is offered six times a 
year and was attended by 180 public library staff over 
2012–13. The program was revamped at the beginning 
of 2013 in response to participant feedback. 

Seven hundred public library staff attended 
11 programs over 2012–13. Seminars were either 
organised or supported by the State Library on topics 
such as reference services, services for seniors and 
HSC programs. Training in editing Wikipedia for 
public library staff has been offered in metropolitan 
and regional locations. The intention is to build greater 
local Australian content on Wikipedia and enhance the 
content creation skills of public library staff. 

reVitalising regional liBraries 

The NSW Government has committed $4 million over 
four years from 2011–12 to fast-track WiFi access to 
public libraries in rural and regional NSW ($2 million), 
and to provide grants to support library services 
and programs for rural and regional communities 

($2 million). In the past two years, the Revitalising 
Regional Libraries program has delivered WiFi hotspot 
services in 97 rural and regional public libraries. 

The grants component of the initiative provides 
$500,000 per annum in grants to rural and regional 
councils over four years. All 111 non-Sydney 
metropolitan councils will each receive a grant 
of $16,000 under the program to improve their 
libraries. Fifty-six councils received funding in 
2011–12 and 2012–13, and a further 28 will be funded 
in 2013–14. Grant projects have included technology 
upgrades, refurbishment of spaces, new collections, 
digitisation, purchase of equipment such as microfilm 
readers, printers and scanners, and online services 
enhancements. 

Regiona l a nd com mun it y 
engagement 
The State Library is committed to making its 
collections and services accessible to people in regional 
and remote areas, to culturally diverse communities 
and to people with a disability. 

engaging regional aUdienCes 

The Library uses its connections with public library 
and education networks to take its collections on tour. 

EXHIBITIONS ON TOUR 

Treasures of Newcastle from the Macquarie Era, 
at the Newcastle Art Gallery from 2 March to 5 May 
2013, showed rarely seen artworks and maps telling 
the fascinating story of the development of the early 
colony of Newcastle. State Library conservators 
prepared and installed 32 items for the exhibition 
including the recently acquired Wallis album, with 
rare images of the Awabakal people, and the iconic 
Macquarie Collector’s Chest which returned to 
Newcastle for the first time in 195 years. Conservators 
returned fortnightly to reveal different panels of the 
chest and page openings of the album. 

Lewin: Wild Art moved to the National Library 
of Australia in July 2013 for a successful season. 
This exhibition was supported by the Belalberi 
Foundation and developed in partnership with the 
National Library. The accompanying book Mr J.W. 
Lewin: Painter & Naturalist, published by NewSouth 
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Publishing, sold 2533 copies and was shortlisted for 
the 2013 Western Australian Premier’s Non-fiction 
Book Award. 

The Library toured a range of exhibitions, 
featuring original collection items, reproductions and 
interpretative information as well as accompanying 
talks by curators. 

Bush, Beach and Battlers: Jeff Carter showed 
photographs selected from Carter’s remarkable 
archive of over 50,000 works celebrating the lives 
of everyday Australians in rural, outback, urban 
and coastal communities dating from the late 1940s 
through to today. 

Carved Trees displayed rare and original images 
of the carved trees of western NSW held by the State 
Library of NSW. Flashback revealed the glamorous 
story of Australian fashion photography. Lewin: 
The Blue Mountains Works featured John Lewin’s 
illustrations of his 1815 journey across the Blue 
Mountains. The TAL & Dai-ichi Life collection 
curator tour, by Mitchell Librarian Richard Neville, 
took examples from this prized collection to regional 
galleries and museums throughout NSW. Macquarie 
the Governor: 1810 to 1821, a collaboration between the 
State Library and Macquarie Group, featured more 
than 30 objects from the Library ’s collection, including 
convict leg irons, a policeman’s rattle and flintlock 
duelling pistol. 

LEARNING SERVICES ON TOUR 

FAR Out! Treasures to the Bush, supported by the 
Caledonia Foundation, saw 2019 students from 
29 schools in 18 rural towns visited by the State 
Library ’s learning staff. Learning programs were 
delivered to schools in Junee, Cootamundra, 
Temora, Narranderra, Culcairn, Henty, Holbrook, 
Tumbarumba, Molong, Canowindra, Manildra, 
Euchareena, Cumnock, Cargo, Eugowra, Condobolin, 
Trundle and Peak Hill. 

A program of workshops for teachers at rural and 
regional NSW schools — Reaching Out — was expanded 
with 157 teachers from 57 schools participating in 
workshops in Coffs Harbour, Wagga Wagga, Orange, 
Armidale and Port Macquarie. The workshops focused 
on showing teachers the wealth of online material 
from the Library. 

Videoconferences continued to provide 
opportunities for isolated schools to engage in 
curriculum-specific learning programs with the State 
Library. Thirty-two regional schools and 1011 students 
enjoyed a range of activities such as creating their own 
artworks through the Art Around the Library series, 
developing creative writing skills with Anita Heiss, 
or exploring the truth behind British colonisation. 

working witH indigenoUs CommUnities 

A key initiative for the State Library in 2013–13 was 
the establishment of an Indigenous Unit in April 
2013 to further develop services for the Indigenous 
community. The unit incorporates two existing 
Indigenous Services Librarian positions and a newly 
appointed Coordinator. There are plans to further 
develop the unit over the coming year. The unit’s role is 
to liaise with Indigenous communities across NSW to 
retain and manage Indigenous documentary resources 
and to promote the services and collections of the State 
Library in consultation with communities. 

The Indigenous Unit also provides advice about 
Indigenous matters to staff, Library management and 
NSW public libraries. These matters include cultural 
protocols, policies, collections, projects, exhibitions, 
reconciliation initiatives, priorities and relationships 
with communities. Throughout the year, the 
Indigenous Services librarians contributed to a major 
project on the revitalisation of Aboriginal language: 
Rediscovering Indigenous Languages, launched by 
the Library in 2011 with generous support from Rio 
Tinto. Planning is also underway for an international 
symposium in August, focusing on the role of libraries 
and archives in Indigenous language revitalisation. 

reCognising CUltUral and lingUistiC 

diVersitY 

The State Library is committed to the principles 
of multiculturalism and the Principles of 
Multiculturalism Act 2000. The Library recognises that 
the cultural and linguistic diversity of NSW is a great 
asset to the state. This diversity needs to be reflected 
across our workforce, and in the provision of services, 
programs and in building our collections. This year a 
Cultural Diversity Strategy 2012–15 was developed and 
approved by Executive and Library Council to formally 
document the work the Library undertakes in this area. 
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Annual action plans will be developed to implement 
the strategy and meet reporting requirements. 

The strategy outlines a strategic direction for 
the State Library, within the context of the NSW 
Government’s 2021 Plan, NSW government policy 
and legislation and the Library’s Mission, Vision 
and Strategy. 

It promotes a coordinated approach to work with 
and engage culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) 
communities. It acknowledges that this is part of the 
Library ’s core role as a premier memory institution for 
the history of NSW. The strategy takes an organisation 
wide viewpoint and aims to integrate cultural 
competence as a core principle in our service planning 
and delivery. 

The priority areas also align with the broad 
outcomes of the NSW Community Relations 
Commission Multicultural Policies and Services Plan. 

CULTURAL DIVERSITY: 
ORGANISATIONAL CAPACITY BUILDING 

Achievements against performance indicators include 
the Library convening a cultural diversity working 
group and developing action plans for 2012–13 and 
2013–14 with the aim of building organisational 
and staff capacity to work with CALD communities. 
Elements of the Cultural Diversity Strategy and action 
plan were incorporated into divisional plans. Cultural 
diversity awareness sessions were attended by client-
facing staff, and allowances under the Community 
Language Allowance Scheme have been reviewed to 
ensure language capabilities continue to meet the level 
of need from client groups. 

CULTURAL DIVERSITY:
 
CULTURALLY RESPONSIVE SERVICES
 

The Library develops and promotes its collections 
and services in response to the changing needs of 
CALD communities, including expanding access 
to and discovery of materials in other languages. 
A consultation framework is in place for responding 
to the needs of CALD communities in public libraries 
reflecting ongoing cooperation between the State 
Library and public libraries. 

The Library continues to add to its multicultural 
collections, with 5459 new items purchased in 
41 languages. More than 300 published items were 
sourced through government deposit, legal deposit, 

donations and purchases. Two NSW community 
newspapers — Meie Kodu (1949–1955) and Il Giornale 
Italiano (1932–1940) — and seven unpublished 
collections were added. Two NSW newspapers and 
172 tapes from the Ethnic Affairs Commission of 
New South Wales — Oral Histories Project Collection 
were digitised. 

The State Library ’s lending of material in 
community languages has increased 8.6% on the 
previous year, with over 100,576 items lent to public 
libraries. Access to the collections has been improved, 
with 18,881 catalogue records created for titles in 
languages other than English. Hot links were created to 
provide easy access to materials in specific community 
languages from the website, and a Multilingual Health 
Database was set up for remote client access in four 
languages. New material acquired for the collection in 
languages other than English can be easily discovered 
through 35 data (RSS) feeds including seven added in 
2012–13. Library staff also established a Pinterest page 
to highlight images of multicultural Australia. 

The Library manages the Multicultural Purchasing 
Cooperative on behalf of NSW public libraries. 
This service purchases and catalogues multicultural 
collections to meet the specific language and cultural 
needs of local communities. The cooperative 
purchased collections for 35 libraries (34 public 
libraries and the State Library) in 35 languages. For 
public libraries, 16,644 items were purchased, 12,000 
catalogue records created and 18,298 items end-
processed. For the Library 5495 items were purchased. 
The total cost of the purchasing coordinated by this 
service in 2012–13 was $743,600. 

The Library ’s Find Legal Answers and drug info @ 
your library websites offer a range of assistance to 
speakers of languages other than English. Finding 
Legal Answers helps people to navigate the Australian 
legal system, offering 643 resources in 45 community 
languages. On the drug info site, 154 resources in 
33 community languages provide accessible 
information about drugs in the community. The Find 
Legal Answers and drug info @ your library websites 
provide pathways to locate information 
from a range of NSW Government sources. 

Learning programs at the Library were promoted 
to schools with high levels of cultural and linguistic 
diversity, with 45 schools in this category participating 
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in 2012–13. The school bus subsidy program assisted 
16 schools to travel to the Library. 

CULTURAL DIVERSITY: COMMUNICATION 

The Library is focused on developing culturally 
appropriate communications to raise awareness and 
understanding of its services. CALD communications 
were incorporated into broader media strategies and 
activities so that all media releases were sent to outlets 
serving CALD communities. This was in addition to 
campaigns targeted to CALD communities. 

Promotional material was developed for the 
Legal information Access Centre and drug info 
@ your library about online multicultural resources, 
including a poster and a brochure distributed to 
21 public libraries, migrant resource centres and other 
agencies. A promotional strategy for multilingual 
health information was developed and delivered 
in conjunction with Harmony Day March 2013 
and is ongoing. 

Two events were held in partnership with the 
Community Relations Commission including a forum 
in May on the topic ‘Are Asylum Seekers Welcome in 
the Community?’. Multicultural lending collections 
were promoted via the Community Relations 
Commission elink to targeted language/cultural 
groups (including Bengali, Hindi, Guajarati and 
Romanian). 

sUPPorting PeoPle witH a disaBilitY 

In 2013 the Library Executive approved the amended 
Disability Action Plan 2010 to 2014, renaming it the 
Strategy to Support People with a Disability 2010 
to 2014. The strategy outlines how the Library will 
develop facilities, technology and staff skills to meet 
the library and information needs of clients with 
disabilities. It prioritises making modifications to 
enable effective access to all our buildings, services 
and programs. 

This year the annual client survey was updated 
to gather more information on use of the Library by 
clients with a disability and 7% of survey respondents 
reported experiencing accessibility issues when 
visiting the State Library, either in person or online. 
Findings suggest opportunities for improvement in the 
following areas: 
•	 more material available online 

•	 better wheelchair accessibility and onsite parking 
•	 bus access connecting with nearby railway stations. 

Action has been taken to address these issues. 
The Library website was compliant with Web 

Content Accessibility Guidelines 2.0 A+ as of 
December 2012. All requests for tender documents 
(hardware, software and digitisation) for the Digital 
Excellence program have a clause that requires those 
applying to tender to state how their product or 
service supports accessibility. Adaptive technology 
was upgraded with the purchase of two SmartView 
Graduate CCTV cameras to improve access for vision-
impaired clients to collection items including original 
materials. A Readit Wand was purchased that provides 
text-to-speech readings, and the option to save the 
readings to mp3, in a range of languages including 
Cantonese, Japanese and Korean. The Library 
continues to implement an adaptive technology 
training program for new reading room and IT staff. 

The Library continued to collect alternative format 
and technology material for use by clients with 
disabilities. This material is acquired to reflect client 
requirements, in accordance with the Collection 
Development Policy and is loaned to NSW public 
libraries to extend the reach of these resources to the 
wider community. The full budget was expended in 
2012–13 and 957 large print and 413 talking books 
were added to the collection. there are currently 
11,829 talking books and 9,191 large print books in the 
collection. More than 413,000 ebooks are also available 
to Library members providing alternative means 
of access. 

The Library ran three disability awareness training 
courses for non-client-facing staff, with a focus on 
working with staff with a disability. All Library job 
advertisements now include a statement welcoming 
applications from people with a disability. 
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Staff & Capability
 

Enthusiastic staff 
It is a Library priority to encourage staff engagement 
and recognise achievement. Lectures by collection 
experts and project groups on social media involve 
staff in aspects of the Library outside their immediate 
working environment. 

PeoPle matter emPloYee sUrVeY 

Forty-six per cent of State Library staff participated 
in the Public Service Commission’s People Matter 
Employee Survey, the first survey of its kind in the 
NSW public sector. The survey aimed to capture 
employees’ perceptions of how well public sector 
values are applied and the experience of public sector 
employees in their workplace, as well as establishing 
a baseline for the NSW public sector. 

The State Library achieved results above those 
of the public service sector results, achieving an 
engagement index of 82%, comparing favorably with 
the NSW public sector result of 63%. Ninety-three 
per cent of State Library staff who completed the 
survey responded that they are satisfied with their 
job. Opportunities for improvement were identified 
in the areas of bullying in the workplace, workload, 
job security, professional development, change and 
performance management. 

liBrarY staff sUrVeY 

Since 2009, the State Library has administered 
annual staff surveys to gauge employee satisfaction 
and engagement with their work. The survey allows 
senior staff to monitor the performance of strategic 
initiatives and address any issues identified in survey 
responses. This year, employees reported a high level of 
engagement, and were satisfied with safety, recognition 
and performance appraisal. The results also suggest 
a strong belief in the mission and values and good 
teamwork amongst co-workers. Areas for improvement 
included advancements in technology and change 
management. 

engagement in tHe workPlaCe 

The popular Staff Lecture Series provided 
opportunities for staff to learn from staff specialists 
about interpreting the historical photograph and 
realia collections, conserving the c. 1680 Van Keulen 
Dutch Atlases, the history of the Mitchell Library, 

developing the Curio app and preparing to digitise 
iconic photographic collections. There were around 
400 attendances at the eight staff lectures this year, 
including the 100 who attended an interview with 
Paul Brunton, Senior Curator, about his 40-year career 
at the Library before he left the position in November. 
Recordings of the lectures were made available on 
the intranet. 

innoVation ProjeCt 

The Innovation project provided opportunities for 
interested staff to join project groups exploring the 
Library ’s use of social media to support its services. 
More than 50 staff participated in online engagement 
training sessions in small groups led by an inhouse 
expert. 

In May 2013 the Library held a hands-on learning 
session for staff on some common social media tools. 
The session provided an outline of how social media 
is used by the community and business organisations, 
and raised awareness about the social media tools 
used at the State Library, including Facebook, Twitter, 
Pinterest, Historypin and Flickr Commons. 

internal CommUniCation 

The State Library ’s intranet has been used to 
communicate National and State Libraries Australasia 
working group activities, the Library ’s organisational 
assessment, Library branch functional reviews and 
as a repository for current policies and procedures. 

Scholarly Musings presentations have been recorded 
and made available on the intranet as downloadable 
mp3 recordings, along with presenter slides. This 
increases staff knowledge of the collection and raises 
awareness of current client research activities and 
interests. 

ConferenCes and forUms 

Library staff presented papers at a number of 
conferences including the Aboriginal Studies 
Association Annual Conference, NSW and ACT State 
Conference of the Association of Family History 
Societies, Australian Library and Information 
Association (ALIA) Information Online Conference, 
Intelligent Information Symposium and the 
Association of Tribal Archives, Libraries and Museums 
Conference (in New Mexico). 
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Staff also attended a range of conferences and 
seminars such as the International Council on 
Archives Congress, Australian Institute for the 
Conservation of Cultural Material, 7th Book, Paper and 
Photographic Materials Symposium, ALIA Biennial 
Conference and the Australian and New Zealand Map 
Society 40th Annual Conference. 

Staff were active participants in the following 
national groups: Libraries Australia Forum, National 
and State Libraries Australasia project and working 
groups, Australasian Innovative Users Group, 
Performing Arts Special Interest Group of Museums 
Australia and International Association of Music 
Librarians. 

s ta f f r e Cog n i ti o n P r og r a m 

The State Library Staff Recognition Program was 
established in 2009 and celebrates workplace 
achievement by encouraging staff to acknowledge 
their colleagues whose actions or accomplishments 
enrich the Library environment. Staff participate by 
nominating individuals or teams for recognition and 
by voting for the People’s Choice Awards in the end 
of the year Staff Recognition Award. 

In 2012, 39 Library staff were nominated for 
individual or team awards. In December, People’s 
Choice Awards were presented to Royce Propert, 
Richard Chester and Suzette Brunati. 

Capabi l it y rich 
It is a key focus of the Library to encourage staff 
to improve their capabilities through learning and 
recognition of achievement. Improvements have been 
made to the performance review process to identify 
opportunities for staff development. 

2012–13 training BY tYPe 

type of training number of hours % of the hours 

Professional/Technical 3270.50 41.4% 

People Management 1480.50 18.7% 

Client Service 1073.00 13.6% 

Human Resources 1064.75 13.5% 

Work Health and Safety 1012.00 12.8% 

Total 7900.75 100.0% 

2010–11 2011–12 2012–13 

Staff hours in formal learning activities 8928 6069 7901 

CorPorate PerformanCe indiCator 

l e ar n i n g an d d e V e lo P m e n t 

Total staff hours spent in formal training increased 
this year by almost 2000 hours due to an increase in 
Library-wide training programs. Our training plan 
focused on five main streams: People Management and 
Leadership, Client Service, Professional and Technical 
Development, Human Resources and Work Health 
and Safety. The focus of these training streams 
is set out below. 

PEOPLE MANAGEMENT AND LEADERSHIP: 

•	 minimising the risk of fraud and corruption with the 
rollout of Corruption Prevention in Procurement 
training for all people leaders and staff with financial 
delegations 

•	 improving understanding of privacy and government 
information legislation for all people leaders 

•	 implementing the Library’s training curriculum 
for new people leaders with courses on People 
and Recruitment Management, Performance 
Development, Coaching, Harassment and 
Bullying Prevention and Management, Difficult 
Conversations with Staff and a ‘Lunch and Learn’ 
session on Excellence in Leadership 

•	 helping staff develop ideas within the context of 
an organisational review with a ‘Lunch and Learn’ 
session on Strategic Thinking. 

CLIENT SERVICE: 

•	 improving services to clients with sessions for 
client-facing staff on Cultural Diversity, Disability 
Awareness and Supporting Clients with Mental 
Illness and Drug/Alcohol Problems 

•	 enhancing staff ability to engage clients through 
social media via training sessions on Historypin, 
Pinterest and Wikipedia, as part of our Innovation 
project. 

PROFESSIONAL AND TECHNICAL DEVELOPMENT 

•	 developing capabilities of Librarians and Library 
Technicians to support the new international 
Resource Description and Access cataloguing 
standard 

•	 completing the professional development program for 
Librarian Grade 1 staff in the Library Services division 

•	 gaining online knowledge and skills through training 
in the Curio app, the new service portal and 
web-based rostering software and digital equipment 
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including ST Viewer Scanners and a variety of hand-
held devices 

•	 developing role-specific capabilities with training 
in conservation of photographs, Japanese paper 
conservation, State Records material and special 
collections, and the Mitchell Library Reading Room 
information desks. 

HUMAN RESOURCES: 

•	 implementing the recommendations from the 2012 
review of the Annual Performance Development 
process with sessions for all people leaders 

•	 providing support to staff in planning for retirement 
in two ‘Envisage’ seminars 

•	 improving staff performance in recruitment 
processes through Job Application and Interview 
Skills courses 

•	 continuing to implement the EmployABILITY 
Strategy with three Disabililty Awareness sessions 
for staff 

•	 improving staff knowledge of policies and legislation 
with training on the Code of Conduct, Induction to 
the Library, Mandatory Reporter Legislation and the 
Merit Selection Process. 

WORK HEALTH AND SAFETY: 

•	 ‘Lunch and Learn’ sessions on Movement at Work 
to improve posture and comfort when sitting and 
standing 

•	 supporting a safe and healthy workplace through 
training new people leaders in the Work Health and 
Safety and Risk Management framework, and staff 
in Work Health and Safety Awareness, first aid and 
cardiopulmonary resuscitation 

•	 implementing new legislation by training all staff 
in emergency evacuation procedures and training 
safety wardens in bomb threat, fire extinguisher and 
emergency evacuation management procedures. 

lifelong learning 

Lifelong learning was supported through our Study 
Assistance program, which provided 16 staff members 
with financial assistance and study leave to undertake 
formal courses at a tertiary level. The course most 
commonly applied for was the Bachelor of Information 
Studies. Staff attended professional and technical 
seminars and conferences amounting to 2673 hours 
in 2012–13. 

PerformanCe reView 

The formal Annual Performance Development Review 
(APDR) and mid-year assessments were completed 
during the year for 84% and 82% of staff respectively. 
In May and June 2012 we undertook a comprehensive 
review of the APDR process and documentation, 
with recommendations for improvement approved 
by Executive. Based on the review, a comprehensive 
action plan was implemented for the launch of the 
2012–13 APDR process. Actions included feedback 
sessions for people leaders on the review findings, 
training on new elements of the process, individual 
feedback sessions to Executive members and people 
leaders on team performance in completing the APDR, 
and discussions between people leaders and Executive 
on the responsibilities of the reviewing officer. 

eqUal emPloYment oPPortUnitY 

The main Equal Employment Opportunity outcomes 
this year are: 
•	 developing the 2013–2017 EEO Management Plan 

approved by Executive on 5 February 2013 
•	 designing and implementing the EEO Action Plan 

for the period January to June 2013 
•	 an increase in the representation of Indigenous staff 

in the Library ’s workforce from 1.9% at 30 June 2013 
to 2.4% at 30 June 2013 

•	 recruiting the position of Coordinator, Indigenous 
Unit 

•	 successful completion of the Indigenous Cadetship 
study and program, culminating in the appointment 
of the cadet to a permanent position 

•	 successful application for funding under the Elsa 
Dixson Aboriginal Employment Program for a 
position of Librarian Grade 1 in the Indigenous Unit 

•	 exceeding public sector targets for the 
representation in our workforce of women, people 
whose first language is not English and people with 
a disability requiring work-related adjustment 

•	 reviewing the Community Language Allowance 
Scheme to ensure that staff language capabilities 
match client needs 

•	 achievement of all EEO -related training course 
targets including: 
–	 training for new people leaders on Bullying and 

Harassment Prevention and Management 

35 



Library Council of NSW 2012–13 Annual Report 

 

 

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 

  

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 

–	 training for new staff in the Library ’s Code of 
Conduct and harassment and bullying prevention 
strategies 

–	 continuing to implement the public sector 
EmployABILITY strategy by conducting three 
Disability Awareness sessions for non-client 
facing staff to enhance understanding of the issues 
facing staff in our workforce who have a disability. 

The main EEO outcomes planned for 2013–14 include: 
•	 recruiting for the position of Librarian Grade 1, 

Indigenous Unit 
•	 developing and implementing strategies to raise 

awareness of harassment and bullying in the 
workplace and provide additional mechanisms for 
reporting and responding to instances of harassment 
and bullying 

•	 analysing the results of the annual staff survey 
and, where appropriate, developing appropriate 
responses to issues raised. 

trends in tHe rePresentation of eeo groUPs 

% of total staff 

eeo group 
Benchmark 

or target 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Women 50% 66.8% 65.9% 66.6% 65.1% 

Aboriginal people or 
Torres Strait Islanders 

2.6% 1.6% 1.7% 1.9% 2.4% 

People whose first 
language was not English 

19% 24.5% 24.3% 24.8% 24.1% 

People with a disability N/A 8.2% 8.7% 7.8% 6.7% 

People with a disability 1.1% 2.1% 2.5% 2.2% 1.6% 
requiring work-related 
adjustment 

% of total staff 

eeo group 
Benchmark 

or target 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Women 100 108 107 107 99 

Aboriginal people or 
Torres Strait Islanders 

100 n/a n/a n/a n/a 

People whose first 
language was not English 

100 91 91 90 90 

People with a disability 100 75 79 85 86 

People with a disability 100 n/a n/a n/a n/a 
requiring work-related 
adjustment 

trends in tHe distriBUtion of eeo groUPs 

Notes: 
1.	 Staff numbers are as at 30 June and exclude casual staff. 
2. 	A Distribution Index of 100 indicates that the distribution of the EEO 

group across salary levels is equivalent to that of other staff. Values less 
than 100 mean that the EEO group tends to be more concentrated at 
lower salary levels than is the case for other staff. The more pronounced 
this tendency is, the lower the index will be. In some cases the index may 
be more than 100, indicating that the EEO group is less concentrated at 
lower salary levels. 

3. N/A indicates that percentage employment levels are reported but a 
benchmark level has not been set. 

4. The Distribution Index is not calculated where EEO group or non-EEO 
group numbers are less than 20. 

High ly collaborative 
The Library aims to be highly collaborative both 
internally and with other cultural institutions, 
National and State Libraries Australasia and other 
partners. Partnerships with a number of organisations 
resulted in improvements to collection management 
and client services, as well as a vibrant program of 
events. 

C o l l a B o r ati n g w i t H l i B r a r i e s a n d ot H e r 

CU lt U r al i n s t it U t i o n s 

The State Library plays a leadership role in a number 
of working groups within National and State Libraries 
Australasia (NSLA). The State Librarian was elected 
Deputy Chair during 2012–13. Working with the NSLA 
office, including the Communications and Marketing 
Group, proposes, drives and contributes to strategic 
communications for all State and Territory Libraries 
and the New Zealand Public Library. 

The Library hosted the NSLA inaugural Information 
Services Forum, which has resulted in collaborative 
work on the Ask a Librarian information request 
service. 

Library staff are involved in a number of collection 
management projects with colleagues at National, 
State and Territory libraries across Australia and 
New Zealand. This year the Library contributed to a 
workshop at the State Library of Victoria on managing 
large pictorial collections, as well as joining projects to 
examine issues around managing map and manuscript 
collections, and develop a framework for providing 
access to digital collections. 

The Library considered areas for collaboration and 
synergy with NSW Trade and Investment libraries and 
works closely with the other NSW cultural institutions 
as well as many in regional areas, interstate and 
overseas. A staff member served on the panel 
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for a major review of the Daniel Solander Library 
of the Royal Botanic Gardens, Sydney. 

The Library continues to work with the NSW branch 
of the Oral History Association of Australia, hosting 
workshops for local and family historians. 

innoVatiVe CollaBorations 

Collaboration with Wikimedia Australia saw the 
Library host Australia’s first Wikimedian-in-Residence 
within the cultural sector. Gillian White’s residency 
resulted in increased access to content from Library 
collections through articles and images on Wikipedia, 
with three Wikimedia Australia volunteers training 
23 staff in editing Wikipedia articles. 

The Library is partnering with Jan Holmquist, of 
the Danish Guldborgsund-bibliotekerene, to develop 
materials for 23 Mobile Things, a self-directed training 
course on using mobile devices and social media to 
deliver library services. Since it began in April 2013 
the course website has attracted 10,000 visits. 

The Library is a beta trial participant with Vizie, 
a social media monitoring tool developed by the 
Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research 
Organisation, to identify and gather born digital 
content for addition to the Library ’s collection. 

teCH saVVY seniors 

The NSW Government and Telstra launched a 
partnership earlier this year to extend the Tech Savvy 
Seniors program — part of the NSW Ageing Strategy — 
to help bridge the digital divide for older people. This 
training will be administered by the State Library and 
offered in public libraries across NSW, predominantly 
in regional and rural locations. The program will 
initially roll out to 21 libraries in 39 locations. Funding 
for the first year of the program will enable over 3000 
seniors to be trained in basic technology skills. Telstra 
has also offered technology training DVDs for the 
lending collections of all NSW libraries. As part of this 
partnership, well-attended technology training for 
seniors was held at the State Library during Seniors 
Week, with over 350 participants, courtesy of Telstra. 

national Year of reading and loVe2read 

The State Library and NSW public libraries developed 
and promoted activities in support of the National Year 
of Reading in 2012 and Love2Read in 2013. The State 

Library of NSW, NSW Metropolitan Public Libraries 
Association and Public Libraries NSW jointly funded 
a series of author visits to NSW public libraries. 
Activities included combined parents and children 
poetry writing, Manga workshops, family history 
writing, and book readings. Participating authors 
included David Lovegrove, Deborah Abela, 
Hazel Edwards, Libby Gleeson, Libby Hathorn 
and Susanne Gervay. 

ConserVation CollaBorations 

The Library couriered Eugène von Guérard’s Journal 
of an Australian Gold Digger to the State Library of 
Victoria for comparative analysis of its pen and ink 
sketches with those held by our sister library. State 
Library of Victoria Fellow Ruth Pullen also visited 
Sydney to examine five sketches by von Guérard in the 
State Library of NSW’s collection. 

Australian Museum and Powerhouse Museum 
conservators were consulted about the State Library ’s 
plan to prepare the Macquarie Collector’s Chest 
for travel. The Australian Museum conservators 
undertook documentation, X-ray fluorescence 
analysis, cleaning and some repair of the fragile natural 
history specimens held in the chest. A new combined 
transport and storage crate was constructed. 

The Garling Conservator worked with the National 
Library of Australia’s Ducie collection in order to 
shed more light on the State Library ’s TAL & Dai-ichi 
Life collection. The National Museum of Australia 
performed X-ray fluorescence analysis to assist this 
collaboration. 

Conservators provided counter disaster awareness 
and collection handling training for new Library 
staff and building contractors, and tailored disaster 
response training sessions for the Library ’s security 
staff. 

The Library continued to provide training for State 
Records NSW staff and their affiliates through a two-
day De-dramatising Disasters workshop at the State 
Records Kingswood repository. 

CollaBoration witHin tHe liBrarY 

Staff streamlined various workflow processes 
throughout the year including request desk services, 
shelving team organisation and document supply 
services. Staff consultation was an important part of 

37 



Library Council of NSW 2012–13 Annual Report 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 
  

 

 

 

 

the process of changing to a new call number system 
for collection items, and changes to shift patterns for 
staff working on service desks. 

Leadership and transpa rency 
The Library has a focus on accountability and effective 
leadership. At this time of organisational change, 
the Library has set up a framework for consultation 
and communication around the review process. 

H U m a n r e s o U r C e s 

Staff working at the State Library are employees of 
the Department of Trade and Investment, Regional 
Infrastructure and Services who provide personnel 
services to the State Library. The table below provides 
the number of full-time equivalent (FTE) officers and 
employees, by occupational classification, who have 
provided services to the Library during 2012–13, 
with comparison to the previous three years. 

oCCUPation ClassifiCation (non-CasUal) 

average annual fte 

2010 2011 2012 2013 

Managers 26.27 21.19 17.83 16.9 

Professionals 146.01 149.79 159.14 153.72 

Technicians and 
trades workers 

82.87 87.83 85.35 77.29 

Community and personal 
service workers 

18.26 21.65 20.73 18.59 

Clerical and administrative 
workers 

79.5 87.48 89.63 91.2 

Sales workers 1.92 1.29 2.53 2.85 

Machinery operators 
and drivers 

0 0 0 0 

Labourers 1.0 1.0 1.0 0 

355.83 370.23 376.21 360.55 

level 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

5 1 1 1 1 1 

4 0 0 0 0 0 

3 2 2 2 2 2 

2 0 0 0 0 0 

1 0 0 0 0 0 

Number of positions 
filled by women 

3 3 3 2 2 

Notes: 
1.	 Average annual FTE shows data averaged over the reporting year. 
2.	 Data based on Australian and New Zealand Standard Classification 

of Occupations. 

r e m U n e r ati o n 

All employees providing these services received a 
2.5% increase in salaries, wages and allowances with 
effect from the first full pay period in July 2012. Senior 
Executive Service (SES) officers also received a 2.5% 
increase in their remuneration package with effect 
from 1 October 2012, subject to the achievement of the 
officer’s performance goals detailed in their previous 
performance agreement; successful contribution to 
the achievement of NSW 2021 targets and the Library ’s 

corporate objectives, and meeting Library financial 
and efficiency targets, including contributing to sector 
reforms to realise savings. 

nUmBer of senior exeCUtiVe serViCe Positions 
as at 30 jUne 2013 

o r gan i sat i o nal r e Vi e w P r o g r am 

As part of the NSW Government’s commitment 
to responsible fiscal management, the Library 
commissioned an organisational assessment to inform 
future savings plans. In the subsequent voluntary 
redundancy program, 38 staff left the Library in 
November 2012. 

Following the voluntary redundancy program, 
we embarked on an orderly realignment of our 
activities and branches to realise the balance of the 
required savings targets, maximise the efficiency and 
effectiveness of operations across the organisation, 
capitalise on investments in technology, and position 
the Library to tackle future needs and challenges. 

Through a consultative process, we developed and 
established a review program guided by the principles 
of consistency, communication and consultation. 
The structured framework under which the reviews are 
undertaken includes templates and tools for analysis 
and reporting within each review. The framework sets 
out the review parameters, governance and resourcing, 
risks and mitigation, a reporting and communication 
framework, a review method including an information 
collection strategy and reporting milestones, with 
identified approval or review points. 

The review of the Security, Information Officers 
and Mail Room functions was completed in May 2013. 
The purpose of the review was to not only assess the 
manner in which the Library is currently delivering 
security, information and mail room services but also 
to consider future delivery methods. This includes 
whether or not the Library is best serviced by 
continuing to use internal sources to deliver services 
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or by outsourcing the functions to external providers 
and, if so, how the Library would be impacted. 

The review recommendations, subsequently 
approved by Library Executive, provide for a hybrid 
approach of internal and external resources to deliver 
the functions where long-term knowledge and skills 
are retained with a suite of recommendations to 
improve operational effectiveness and an increased use 
of contractors. In response to the proposed changes, 
110 Public Service Association members employed at 
the Library stopped work for 3.5 hours on 12 June. 
The Change Management Plan to implement the 
review findings has been finalised and implementation 
has commenced. 

indUstrial relations 

During the year, our Joint Consultative Committee 
met every two months to consult on a broad range 
of issues affecting staff including: 
•	 State Library organisational assessment 
•	 voluntary redundancy program 
•	 change management plans 
•	 organisational review of functions and branches 
•	 Security, Information Officers and Mail Room 

functions review 
•	 Collection Management function review 
•	 Legal Information and Access Centre review 
•	 Exhibitions branch review 
•	 State Library opening hours 
•	 Enterprise Resource Planning project for the 

consolidation of finance, procurement, human 
resources and payroll systems 

•	 Public Service Commission People Matter Survey 
•	 NSW Department of Trade and Investment 

proposed flexible working hours agreement 
•	 eRecords project 
•	 Digital Excellence program 
•	 salary savings targets and the 2013–14 budget 
•	 transfer of the alternate format loans function from 

Access & Information to Public Library Services 
•	 eligibility lists 
•	 weekend rosters in the reading rooms 
•	 physical security audit conducted by the Library’s 

internal auditors 
•	 facilities and accommodation changes 
•	 accidents and incidents at the Library 
•	 job evaluations and position gradings. 
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Dy namic col lecting 
The Library ’s primary collecting priority is to 
create and preserve a collection that reflects the 
cultural heritage of NSW in both the Australian and 
international contexts. Our rich collections continue 
to grow, documenting history, culture and society 
in all its formats. 

mUltiCUltUral ColleCtions 

Ensuring multicultural collections meet community 
needs, 5459 items were purchased for the Library 
collection. Material in 31 languages was purchased, 
including bilingual children’s books and materials for 
learning English as a second language. The top nine 
languages purchased were Hindi (456 items), German 
(337), French (309), Bengali (300), Japanese (280), 
Chinese (250) and about 200 items each in Burmese, 
Punjabi and Urdu. Nepalese language items have been 
identified as a collection for development in 2013–14. 

ColleCting to doCUment life in nsw 

Collecting highlights within the Library ’s mandate to 
document life in NSW included content about migrant 
communities, western Sydney, rural and regional NSW, 
Indigenous topics and performing arts. 

This year the Library laid the groundwork with a 
strategy for collecting digital content in a range of 
formats including websites and publications, maps, 
digital oral history and social media. Using Vizie, 
for instance, a tool developed in partnership with 
the CSIRO and other agencies, the Library captured 
2.8 million Twitter and blog posts. 

As a partner in Australia’s online archive PANDORA, 
Library staff archived a range of food and wine 
websites including metropolitan and regional 
restaurants, markets and sites like the iconic Harry ’s 
Cafe de Wheels. The Sydney Monorail website was 
captured in the days leading up to the closure of 
the monorail. These websites are now accessible 
via the Library ’s online catalogue and Trove. 

wagga wagga floods oral HistorY 

The Library commissioned historian Sherry Morris 
to undertake a series of interviews with residents of 
Wagga Wagga to record their experiences of the March 
2012 floods. The damage resulting from storms and 
floodwater affected thousands of people across the 

region. The recordings, carried out in partnership with 
Wagga Wagga City Library, document the experiences 
of 29 residents. The Library ’s Curator of Oral History 
attended the launch of the Wagga Wagga 2012 
Floods Oral History project at the Wagga Wagga City 
Library on 25 February. The community was highly 
appreciative of the project, funded by the State Library, 
which will provide a useful resource. 

Accessible content 
The Library makes its collection available for use in 
new and engaging ways, onsite, online and on tour. 

digitising tHe ColleCtion 

Over the past decade the Library ’s collections of 
original materials including maps, photographs, 
drawings and manuscripts have had greater visibility 
through our improved online records and through 
an active digitisation program. This increased 
discoverability has led to an increase in client 
inquiries for images from the collections for a range 
of activities including publications, education tools, 
documentaries, online services and personal research. 
Requests for images and permissions to publish 
increased from 157 in 2012 to 359 in 2013 (an increase 
of 129% compared with 2011–12). 

The Library exceeded its digitisation target for 
2012–13. The number of digital files created was 74,149 
(up from 53,305 in 2011–12), bringing the total number 
of images available online to approximately 550,000. 
This year’s figure includes 9322 images (up from 7986 
last year), created to support the Discover Collections 
program and 7345 images digitised for the Visionaries 
program, which sources, digitises and makes available 
online content that has specific links to the NSW 
educational curriculum. 

The Library generated revenue by filling 992 orders 
for clients requesting high-quality images from the 
Library ’s collection. Ninety-nine per cent of client 
imaging requests were delivered within the 21-day 
service level agreement time period. The Library ’s 
photographers also photographed 77 public events, 
including exhibition openings, book launches, 
VIP visits and other media events. 

One hundred and seventy five NSW newspapers 
have been digitised and are now accessible through 
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Trove. One hundred and fourteen new titles added 
this year were sourced from the State Library ’s 
microfilm printing masters as part of the collaborative 
Newspaper Digitisation program with the National 
Library of Australia. This year’s additions include rural 
newspapers such as the Cessnock Eagle and South 
Maitland Recorder. 

The University of New England transferred 104 
regional NSW newspaper titles to the State Library 
this year. The Library has taken responsibility for 
collecting and preserving those titles still in print, 
while systematically preserving the retrospective 
newspapers. This approach will enable the eventual 
digitisation of in demand titles. 

All 13 of the Library ’s rare Queirós memorials are 
now translated, catalogued, conserved, digitised, 
valued and ready for exhibition in the Amaze Gallery. 

ereCords ProjeCt 

2012-13 was the fifth and final full year of the eRecords 
Project. The project exceeded its annual target of 
190,000 by 18%, creating 224,365 new electronic 
records for maps, books, and manuscripts and 
upgrading electronic records for significant pictures 
collections. Clients can now find electronic catalogue 
records for 1,264,6741 items previously only accessible 
through a personal visit to the Library ’s Macquarie 
Street buildings. In 2013-14, work will continue with 
unprocessed manuscripts, maps and a small number 
of books. 

total ereCords Created 

2008–09 182,505 

2009–10 305,298 

2010–11 348,646 

2011–12 203,860 

2012–13 224,365 

ColleCtion PreserVation 

Keeping the Library ’s collection in circulation and 
fit for use for clients now and in the future, 49,236 
(2011–12: 27,507) items were preserved through 
rehousing and the Collections Conservation program 
during the financial year. 

This number represents more than 100% of the project’s original target 
number of records required as the original number was an underestimate. 
It is estimated that at 30 June 2013, 99% of the collection is accessible 
via an electronic record. 

This dramatic increase lessened the amount of time 
available to spend on single item conservation with 
1048 (2011–12: 2519) individual items, including the 
First Fleet Bradley journal, receiving treatment. 
This brings the total number of collection items 
conserved to 51,386 (2011–12: 30,026). 

Our collections were displayed to a wider audience, 
through loans sent to local, regional, interstate and 
international exhibitions. A total of 104 (2011–12: 287) 
items were sent on loan to 12 (2011–12: 18) external 
exhibitions, including; 
•	 the newly refurbished Wentworth Room at NSW 

State Parliament which will be opened next year 
•	 Australian National Maritime Museum (East of 

India: Power, Trade and Australia 1788–1857) 
•	 Museum of Sydney (Wild Ones: Sydney Stadium 

1908–1970) 
•	 Blue Mountains Cultural Centre’s inaugural 

exhibition, Picturing the Great Divide 
•	 National Gallery of Australia (Sydney Long) 
•	 National Portrait Gallery (Elegance in Exile) 
•	 National Museum of Australia (Glorious Days) 
•	 Mornington Peninsula Regional Gallery 

(Vision Splendid: Landscapes of Phillip Island and 
Western Port) 

•	 Art Gallery of Ballarat (Capturing Flora: 
Three Centuries of Australian Botanical Art), 

•	 James Cook collection material for the 
Queen Mary 2 re-enactment of Cook’s voyage 
around New Zealand 

•	 Houston Museum of Fine Art’s War/Photography, 
touring three venues in the USA. 
Preservation prepared collection material and 

trained Learning Services staff to care for the original 
items while on tour for Far Out! Treasures to the Bush. 

oPening UP oUr ColleCtion 

Access to the oral history collections has been 
improved through additional resourcing from the 
Digital Excellence program. Approximately 800 hours 
of recordings have been digitised including interviews 
with members of the Institute of Engineers Australia, 
recordings from the Twelfth Hour project, interviews 
with Holocaust survivors recorded between 1988 and 
1994, content from the Ethnic Affairs Commission 
of NSW, and interviews by Christine Gleisner for the 
Women of Broken Hill oral history project, 1998. 
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The Library ’s volunteers continue to provide 
invaluable support for the listing and rehousing of 
our collections. One volunteer has completed work 
on content listings for the atlases from the three 
Cook voyages as well as for two rare seventeenth 
century Dutch atlases. Another has listed an extensive 
collection of maps from the Australasian Antarctic 
Expedition, 1911–1914. 

An enthusiastic team of 40 volunteers has continued 
with the transcription of many significant items in our 
manuscript collections. In total 4320 volunteer hours 
were spent on transcribing a total of 13,545 pages. An 
additional 10,911 pages were transcribed from our 
WWI diaries. Since 2008 when the WWI  transcription 
project commenced, a total of 501 diaries have been 
transcribed, over 50,859 pages. 

Rare coins from the Sir William Dixson numismatic 
collection were displayed in the Amaze Gallery as 
part of an exhibition to mark 60 years since Dixson’s 
bequest. The first stage of a major project has 
commenced to value, rehouse and selectively digitise 
this collection, with an external numismatic expert 
assessing each item. In total 1385 coins, 5635 tokens, 
1693 medals and badges and approximately 829 paper 
money items have been examined and valued. The next 
stage of the project will see the collection rehoused and 
selectively digitised. 

innoVatiVe aCCess 

The Library ’s catalogue of published materials was 
exposed to Google indexing for the first time this year. 
This indexing resulted in an increase in searches of 
the collection from 770,000 searches in September 
to 3 million searches in April. 

The Library ’s commitment to providing services 
online was clearly demonstrated with the publication 
of a range of research guides using a new client-focused 
software, Libguides. There are now guides for family 
history researchers, including one for Aboriginal 
Australians, three for business, two for HSC English 
students and one for health information. The Library 
also developed a web page for university, college and 
TAFE students to focus on the resources and programs 
we offer these groups. 

Specialised programs were also conducted in 
response to requests from clients. These included 
programs for postgraduate students in Heritage and 

Conservation, teachers from the Royal Institute 
for Deaf and Blind Children and students of 
Stage Production from the National Institute 
of Dramatic Art. 

A ‘virtual bookshelf ’ is now available in the 
catalogue. Clients can browse items immediately 
adjacent to the item they are looking for. Materials 
from the Mitchell and State Reference Library 
collections are brought together. The virtual bookshelf 
allows the reorganisation of the collections in the stack 
to optimise the use of scarce shelving resources. 

Excel lent information serv ices 
An object of the Library Council of NSW, as set out 
in the Library Act 1939, is ‘to promote, provide and 
maintain library services and information services for 
the people of NSW’. The Library ’s onsite and online 
services are developed in response to the changing 
needs of clients and include information services 
in our reading rooms, the Ask a Librarian service, 
eresources, the Legal Information and Access Centre 
and drug info @ your library. 

aCCess for Clients 

This year the Library welcomed a record number of 
new Library clients, with 33,649 people signing up for 
a Library card. This is a 17.6% increase on the number 
for last year. There was a marked spike at the beginning 
of the academic year with 8587 new Library cards 
issued during February and March. 

Library staff responded to 4147 information requests 
from clients. The following are examples of the queries 
we answer: 
•	 Would it have been possible in April 1876 to have 

sent a telegraph message from Eden, NSW to 
Melbourne, Victoria? 

•	 I would like any information on the famous cats that 
lived in the Pylon Lookout on the Sydney Harbour 
Bridge in the 1950s and 60s. 

•	 Were Bishop Nixon’s 1858 Oyster Cove photographs 
of Aboriginal people exhibited in the London 
Exhibition of 1862? 
New equipment and more accessible internet 

access improved services to clients in the reading 
rooms. Access to collections on microfilm was 
enhanced by replacing all the outdated equipment 
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with new microfilm reader scanners. We made it 
easier for clients to access the internet by updating 
and consolidating the Internet Usage Policy and 
configuring it for viewing via mobile devices. 

eresoUrCes 

The Library now owns or subscribes to 303 content-
rich datasets and makes more than 82% of these 
accessible to registered clients at their place of choice 
24/7. Content includes current and retrospective full-
text material from more than 52,383 journals and over 
413,000 online books, as well as a huge range of local 
and overseas newspapers. Nine new online resources 
acquired this year include Empire Online, Chinese 
Newspaper Collections 1832–1953 and Queen Victoria 
Journals. As part of the Library ’s goal to provide more 
online content to clients, United Nations documents, 
the League of Nations Treaty Series (1920–46) and the 
UN Treaty Series (from 1946–47 to date) are now freely 
accessible online. A significant backlist of Australian 
ebooks has been acquired, bringing the number 
accessible through the Library ’s catalogue to 2872. 

new CatalogUing standard 

This year the State Library joined libraries around 
the world in moving to a new cataloguing standard, 
Resource Description and Access (RDA). The 
new standard was developed as a response to the 
digital environment and to improve the display of 
information for clients. All records contributed to 
Libraries Australia from June 2013 conformed to RDA. 

legal information aCCess Centre 

The Legal Information Access Centre (LIAC) provides 
access to legal information for the community across 
NSW and is jointly funded by the Library and the 
Public Purpose Fund. Since it opened in 1990 LIAC 
has grown to a statewide service including: 
•	 a specialist legal information service based in the 

State Reference Library 
•	 Find Legal Answers service in NSW public libraries 
•	 Find Legal Answers website www.legalanswers. 

sl.nsw.gov.au 
•	 publishing (electronic and print), including 

Hot Topics, a series of publications that presents 
legal issues in plain language. 

The centre moved to its present location in 2011 as 
part of extensive renovations to the State Reference 
Library. Clients continue to give positive feedback on 
the new location, in particular the open plan design 
which facilitates access to resources and facilities 
outside LIAC staff hours. With improved access to the 
State Library ’s law reference collection there has been 
an increased trend towards self-help and independent 
use, leaving staff free to assist with more complex 
inquiries. 

In 2012–13 LIAC answered 6440 inquiries from 
onsite and offsite clients, an overall decrease of 14% on 
2011–12 figures, offset by an increase of 7% in research 
inquiries answered for offsite clients. Client surveys 
indicated that 96% of clients considered the quality of 
the service very good to excellent. Seventy seven per 
cent of clients were members of the public needing 
information about a legal issue. Forty-five per cent of 
these clients needed information to assist them in a 
court case and 87% did not have legal representation. 
Twenty three per cent of inquiries were from students. 
The low student numbers reflect LIAC’s focus on 
providing online services to address student needs. 

Use of the Find Legal Answers website increased 
by 32% on 2011–12 figures, with 324,281 visits for the 
year. Average time spent on the site increased by 222% 
to 14 minutes (up from 4 minutes). Public librarians, 
teachers, students, local court staff and other legal 
service providers have commented that the website 
has extensive content, is well-designed and is easy to 
use. The highest-use area of the website is Legal Books 
Online, which provides full-text access to 16 plain 
language titles. 

LIAC PUBLICATIONS 

LIAC published five new Hot Topics titles: 
International Humanitarian Law, Child Care and 
Protection, Families, Consumer Law and Voting and 
Elections. 

Titles were distributed to 242 subscribing schools, 
at cost to Corrective Services NSW for use in 
36 correctional centre libraries and free to all NSW 
public libraries, Legal Aid offices, community legal 
centres and neighbourhood centres. Teachers and 
members of the legal assistance sector commented 
on the high value of Hot Topics as a trusted 
educational resource. 
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There is ongoing support for the value of LIAC’s Tool 
Kit publication Neighbours and the Law (2012) with 
the Minister for Fair Trading purchasing 100 copies 
for distribution to Members of Parliament and many 
libraries requesting extra copies for council staff. 

LIAC’s third Hot Topics Live! International 
Humanitarian Law forum, held at the State Library in 
May, attracted strong interest from over 70 students, 
teachers, legal service providers and members of the 
public. A video of the forum will be available via the 
Find Legal Answers website in 2013–14. 

HSC LEGAL STUDIES 

LIAC presented a series of HSC legal studies awareness 
sessions, focused on increasing awareness and use 
of relevant Library and LIAC web resources. Eight 
workshops were held at the Library in March, attended 
by 826 legal studies students and teachers. Evaluations 
were very positive. 

The HSC Legal Studies News Watch blog is the most 
popular State Library blog with 45,449 visits during 
2012–13, an increase of 15% on 2011–12. LIAC’s HSC 
legal studies research guides for 12 syllabus modules 
have high use by both teachers and students. The LIAC 
Crime Library, with summaries and web links to over 
75 high-profile criminal cases, is the most popular 
research guide attracting 117,239 visits this year. 
Legal studies teachers attending the annual Legal 
Studies Association Conference expressed strong 
support for Hot Topics and LIAC’s online resources. 

LIAC AND PUBLIC LIBRARIES 

LIAC worked actively with NSW public libraries to 
improve local access to information about the law. 
An inaugural survey sent to all public library managers 
in May showed strong support for the service, with 
74 survey responses received, 60% from regional 
public libraries and 40% from metropolitan libraries. 
The quality of the LIAC public library service was rated 
very good to excellent by 95% of respondents. 
The Tool Kit collection, Find Legal Answers website, 
LIAC training and promotional materials, and annual 
LIAC forums were areas of the service most highly 
valued by survey respondents. 

Highlights for the year included: 
•	 324 public librarians attended legal information 

workshops delivered by LIAC staff in 16 locations 

across NSW — this included public librarians trained 
as part of the local courts/public libraries project 
(99% rated the training as very good/excellent) 

•	 103 Law Week events, activities and displays were 
held in public libraries in May, a 20% increase on 
2011–12 

•	 139 public library staff attended combined LIAC and 
drug info @ your library awareness sessions in four 
locations 

•	 Tamworth and Port Stephens public libraries 
received 2012 LIAC Centre of Excellence Awards 
for excellence in local promotion, presented at the 
Justice Awards event at NSW Parliament in October 

•	 68 public librarians from 52 public libraries attended 
the annual LIAC forums in February to discuss 

service issues and developments
 

•	 two copies each of the Family Law Handbook 
(3rd edition), Tenants’ Rights Manual (4th edition) 
and the Share Housing Guide were distributed 
free to all public library services to update their 
Find Legal Answers Tool Kit collections 

•	 Tool Kit updates were provided for Coonamble, 
Bogan and Gilgandra libraries to meet community 
demand 

•	 Tool Kit stands, signage and promotional materials 
were redesigned in consultation with public 

library staff
 

•	 all supporting materials (collection lists, training 
and promotional materials) were published on 
the Find Legal Answers website for use by public 
libraries. 

LIAC COLLABORATIONS 

LIAC is working with the NSW Department of 
Attorney General & Justice to build collaborative legal 
information networks between public libraries and 
local courts, delivering 38 legal information workshops 
for 112 local court and 161 public library staff between 
April and June. 

Initially conducted as a pilot project in 2012, to 
increase awareness of Find Legal Answers resources 
in public libraries and online for client referral, it 
was extended to Lithgow, Orange, Wagga Wagga, 
Queanbeyan, Goulburn, Wollongong, Hornsby, 
Sutherland, Parramatta and Burwood in 2013, with 
96% of local court staff rating the workshops as very 
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good/ excellent and the resources as very useful for 
client referral. 

LIAC worked with Aboriginal Legal Services and the 
Aboriginal Legal Access Program Community Legal 
Centres NSW to develop a bookmark to promote the 
Tool Kit to Aboriginal people. Over 4000 bookmarks 
were distributed to offices of these organisations and 
to Legal Aid NSW offices across NSW. 

LIAC is developing a training video on the Australian 
legal system, Where Our Laws Come From: Parliament 
and the Courts with funding of $49,998 (excl. GST) 
provided by the Law and Justice Foundation. The video 
is due for completion in 2013. 

LIAC received $823,047 (excl. GST) in grant funds 
from the Public Purpose Fund to fund the service in 
2012–213. Grant funds of $750,000 (excl. GST) have 
been allocated for 2013–14, a reduction in line with the 
Fund’s allocation of discretionary payments to other 
NSW legal assistance agencies for this period. LIAC 
also received $31,000 from schools for the purchase of 
Hot Topics, $9000 from Corrective Services for access 
to LIAC resources and training materials and $19,000 
from the NSW Department of Attorney General and 
Justice for costs associated with implementing the 
local courts/public libraries project. 

drUg info @ YoUr liBrarY 

Drug info @ your library provides easy-to-read and 
accurate information about alcohol and drugs for the 
NSW community, in NSW public libraries and through 
the website <www.druginfo.sl.nsw.gov.au>. The service 
is a partnership, and is jointly funded by, the NSW 
Ministry of Health and the State Library of NSW. 

This year has seen growth in both website use and 
public library participation in events and programs to 
promote the service. The focus has been on using social 
media such as Pinterest to engage with clients and 
public library staff, developing resources to address the 
needs of secondary students, and collaborating with 
the Legal Information Access Centre. 

DRUG INFO @ YOUR LIBRARY WEBSITE 

The drug info @ your library website is a key 
component of the service, providing online access 
to up-to-date, accurate, easy-to-read information 
on drugs and alcohol. It also gives details of relevant 
collections held in 376 public libraries across NSW. 

There was a significant increase in use of the site with 
45,589 visits for 2012–13, a 182% increase on 2011–12. 
The most popular section of the website is the A-Z of 
Drugs, which includes new pages on energy drinks, 
‘bath salts’ and other synthetic drugs, and synthetic 
cannabinoids. 

Two research guides — Drug and Alcohol Research 
Guide for PDHPE Students and Drug Statistics, Trends 
and Policies — were developed for secondary students. 
Since their launch in October 2012, there has been a 
steady increase in use, with 7656 visits up to June 2013. 

DRUG INFO @ YOUR LIBRARY PUBLICATIONS 
AND COMMUNITY SUPPORT 

Drug info @ your library distributed 827 copies 
of A Quick Guide to Drugs and Alcohol (2nd edition) on 
request to schools, health service providers (including 
200 copies to the Ambulance Service of NSW for 
distribution to all NSW ambulance stations) and 
community workers for use in outreach programs 
and staff training. 

The service also distributed 10,886 promotional 
items to 33 local government, educational institutions, 
health and support organisations, including five 
Aboriginal Medical Services, for a range of outreach 
and educational programs. Promotional material and 
resources were also supplied to Community Drug 
Action Team project officers for local promotion. 

In 2012 Drug Info collaborated with LIAC to 
produce a dual multicultural brochure for use in 
promoting both services to culturally and linguistically 
diverse groups. The brochure was distributed to public 
libraries, multicultural groups and migrant resource 
centres across NSW. 

DRUG INFO AND PUBLIC LIBRARIES 

Drug info @ your library works in partnership with 
NSW public libraries to improve community access 
to information about alcohol and drugs by providing 
public libraries with plain language collections, 
training programs and promotional materials 
and activities. 

Highlights included: 
•	 179 Drug Action Week events, activities and displays 

were held by public libraries in June (348% increase 
on 2011–12) 
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•	 36 libraries distributed drug info @ your library 
promotional materials during Youth Week events 
in April 

•	 52 public library staff from 19 country libraries and 
33 metropolitan public libraries attended the annual 
forum in February to discuss services, issues and 
developments (44% increase on 2011–12) 

•	 the drug info @ your library awareness training 
workshop was restructured for delivery by State 
Library or public library staff, and was strongly 
endorsed by public librarians at the annual forum 

•	 119 public librarians attended combined drug info 
@ your library / LIAC information workshops in 
eight locations; and 108 public library staff attended 
combined awareness sessions in three locations 

•	 all supporting materials (collection lists, training 
and promotional materials) were published on the 
website for use by public libraries. 

State-of-the-art d iscovery 
digital exCellenCe 

The Library ’s Digital Excellence program received 
recognition from across Government when it was 
identified as one of the five critical infrastructure 
priorities for NSW in 2013 under the NSW Economic 
Development Framework. 

To improve delivery of our services to our clients and 
to enhance access to our collection from the reading 
rooms and from the internet, the Library upgraded 
several ICT services, systems and applications 
through the Digital Excellence program, including 
MS Office2013 on all eresources PCs in the reading 
rooms for public clients. USB drives have also been 
enabled for public clients to save files and downloads 
from the internet. The Library ’s internet link was 
upgraded from 30Mbps to 50Mbps. This is a 66% 
increase in capacity for Library staff and public clients 
and has improved internet access both from the 
wireless network and fixed PCs in the reading rooms. 
In October 2012, the Library replaced its ageing fleet of 
reader scanners with 38 new devices purchased as part 
of the Digital Excellence program. 

Providing online and onsite access to the valuable, 
high-demand, and at risk collections is a central driver 
to the Digital Excellence projects. This will deliver 

unprecedented regional access and new levels of 
discovery for Library clients. The Digital Excellence 
projects include the successful launch of the Curio app, 
and new library and web systems integration projects 
were scoped. 

The Library began by digitising NSW newspapers 
and government gazettes, oral history collections, and 
select pictorial collections, and commencing a pilot 
to digitise 4500 books in the David Scott Mitchell 
collection and around 900 World War I diaries. 
These initiatives directly build the Library as a major 
attraction onsite and online, promote learning and 
research, and make available the Library ’s significant 
collections to regional and remote users. 

The digitising of a large number of historic NSW 
newspapers and government gazettes is being 
undertaken in partnership with the National Library of 
Australia (NLA), which has been contracted to digitise 
and make available online over six million pages over 
the next four years. The first year saw the scanning 
of 2.4 million pages and optical character recognition 
for 1.25 million pages. 
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Sustainability
 

Renow n 
The Library uses key partnerships as well as traditional 
and social media to enhance its renown locally and 
internationally. This year we achieved a 36% increase 
in media hits, with 843 hits compared to 621 in 2011–12. 

media HigHligHts 

Seven’s Sunrise program filmed six live crosses 
from the Library with Edwina Bartholomew on 
Tuesday 4 June between 6 am and 8.30 am, opening 
the Library and its collections to an audience of up 
to 578,000 people. 

The popular exhibition The Greatest Wonder of the 
World which focused on the Holtermann collection 
attracted extensive media coverage across major 
metropolitan and regional print and electronic media, 
as well as online media. Library curators participated 
in Inside History magazine’s Q&A, hosted on Facebook 
on 14 February. The Q&A resulted in a total reach of 
approximately 5600 across Inside History’s various 
social media channels. 

The preview event on 10 April 2012 for Amaze: 
The Michael Crouch Gallery and the Curio app 
resulted in a number of media highlights, including 
radio interviews and news items on Radio National, 
2GB, ABC Canberra, 2UE, WS FM, Eastside Radio 
and 702 ABC. Print and online stories appeared in 
the Sydney Morning Herald, The Australian, Daily 
Telegraph, Newcastle Herald, Northern Daily Leader, 
Border Mail and other regional newspapers, and 
there were reviews in The Australian, Inside History 
magazine and blog, and Time Out Sydney. The launch 
also featured on ABC TV’s 7.30 program. The launch 
attracted strong online activity with the Amaze Gallery 
delivering 16 social media conversations and 67 online 
articles, and Curio 33 conversations and 37 articles. 

Queen Mary 2 completed her historic New Zealand 
circumnavigation from 7 to 19 March 2013 with 
remarkable items from the Library ’s Cook collection 
on board, including Cook’s tea caddy and a spoon, 
handwritten letters and Cook’s handwritten draft 
journal from his first voyage to New Zealand. A 
successful media event was held on board in Auckland, 
generating coverage on ONE News, TV3 News and 
Prime News throughout the day, print stories in The 
New Zealand Herald, The Press, regional papers and 

trade media, online news stories including Yahoo!, 
MSN New Zealand, 3 News website and Scoop, and 
extensive radio coverage. 

soCial media 

The State Library website received 41,401 referrals 
from social network sites in 2012–13, an increase of 
84% on 2011–12 traffic. The significant increase can be 
attributed to greater social media activity through the 
State Library ’s Facebook, Flickr and Twitter accounts, 
along with activity generated from Innovation project 
pilots, including Pinterest. 

The Innovation project is piloting the use of new 
media to increase the visibility of the Library ’s 
collection. The Library established more than 
149 boards on Pinterest, a number of them targeting 
culturally and linguistically diverse communities 
through collections of material in languages other 
than English. 

Staff have edited Wikipedia articles on topics such 
as Governor Arthur’s Proclamation Boards. Two of the 
most popular articles the Library has contributed to 
Wikipedia are the list of NSW newspapers (more than 
5000 views) and the 1813 European crossing of the 
Blue Mountains (more than 10,000 views). In 2012–13, 
there were more than 50,000 total views of the key 
articles edited by Library staff. 

The Library has been adding images to Flickr, an 
online photo-sharing application, since 2008. Total 
views of images from the collections have exceeded 
7.5 million. The Library ’s Flickr account averages 
approximately 7000 views per day. This tally can rise 
to more than 25,000 per day if one of our images is 
featured on a popular social media website. 

Use of Library content on Historypin continued 
to grow with more than 25,000 views during the year. 
All three social media tools new to the Library 
( Wikipedia, Pinterest and Historypin) have become 
part of regular business alongside existing tools and 
channels such as Facebook, Flickr and Twitter. 

digital media HigHligHts 

The Library ’s digital media strategy included placing 
click-through advertisements in the Sydney Morning 
Herald’s iPad edition. Each campaign exceeded the 
industry standard click-through-rate of 0.03%, 
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with 1.93% achieved over two campaigns for 
The Greatest Wonder of the World and Amaze/Curio. 

The Library worked with Time Out Sydney in 
April 2013 on a Solus EDM — a dedicated bespoke 
enewsletter sent to Sydney subscribers (42,000+) 
promoting the Amaze Gallery, Curio and The Greatest 
Wonder of the World with links to Curio and stories 
on the Time Out Sydney website. The online campaign 
resulted in the Amaze Gallery being in the top 10 most 
viewed events for over a week. 

Financially sound 
The Library ensures its financial viability through 
responsible use of resources and self-generated 
revenue such as philanthropy. 

s tat e l i B r a rY f o U n dat i o n 

The State Library of NSW Foundation is a controlled 
entity of the Library Council of NSW as a not-for
profit organisation with its accounts consolidated 
as part of the NSW Total State Sector Accounts. 
Its governance and financial affairs are conducted 
within the context of the NSW public sector in 
accordance with requirements of the Public Authorities 
(Financial Arrangements) Act 1987 and Regulation, 
the Public Finance and Audit Act, 1983 and Regulation, 
Treasurers Circulars and Directions. It is covered for 
insurance through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund 
Scheme of self-insurance for government agencies. 

The Constitution established the State Library of 
NSW Foundation as a Charitable Trust, which is held 
by the Trustees and has objects set out in clause 10: 
(a) generally to assist the Library to gain, maintain, 

improve and develop its collection of literary and 
historical treasures, library artifacts and materials 
now held or hereafter to be held by the Library 

(b) to attract and retain for the Library the continuing 
interest and financial support of the community 
at large 

(c) to attract and encourage donations, gifts, bequests, 
endowments, trust and other forms of financial 
assistance to or for the benefit of the Library 

(d) to raise finance for the acquisition and 
preservation of objects of historic educational 
and/or social interest, collections and artifacts, 
works of art of importance and which would be 

obtained and/or maintained by the Library within 
the terms of its charter 

(e) to do all such things as are incidental or conducive to 
the attainment of the above objects or any of them or 
to the preservation, development and improvement 
of the Library ’s collections, facilities and operations. 

REVIEW AND RESULT OF OPERATIONS 

The Foundation continued to assist the Library 
by conducting various fundraising activities and 
managing investments. Total income for the period was 
$4,398,000 (2012: $4,635,000), of which $1.1 million 
was a bequest from the late Helen Selle nee McIlrath,  
which was a collection asset and not represented as 
cash, therefore not available to fund other Library 
activities. This represents a sustained performance 
of over $4 million each year during the past 3 years, 
with the Foundation contributing $2,386,000 to 
Library projects during this period. 

The Foundation continued to assist the Library 
by conducting various fundraising activities and 
managing investments. Donations and sponsorships 
amounted to $1,549,000 (up from $842,000 
in 2011–12). Bequests amounted to $1,212,000 
(down from $1,671,000 last year). 

Major highlights of the year for the Foundation 
included the support of longstanding Library 
benefactor Michael Crouch AO for the Library ’s new 
permanent exhibition space Amaze: The Michael 
Crouch Gallery. A corporate partnership with 
international company Noble Group resulted in an 
exhibition, Treasures of Newcastle from the Macquarie 
Era, at the Newcastle Art Gallery. The Rediscovering 
Indigenous Languages partnership with Rio Tinto 
continued, urgent conservation work was carried out 
on key collection items, and there was a growth in 
endowments for future fellowships. 

DISCOVER COLLECTIONS 

This year five very different but highly significant 
online stories were completed: Australian Agricultural 
and Rural Life, Australian Jewish Community and 
Culture, Henry Lawson: The Man, his Work, and 
the Legend, May Gibbs: An Australian Classic and 
Shipboard: The 19th Century Emigrant Experience. 
Enhancements were also made to our ongoing story 
Voyages of Discovery — The Great South Land. 
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Thirty-five stories are now accessible online and over 
9300 new images were digitised in the past 12 months. 

The online presence of Discover Collections is also 
supported by a range of displays, floor talks and Out of 
the Vaults presentations allowing the public to view 
the original materials. This year marks a significant 
change in the Discover Collections program. After 
eight successful years highlighting the Library ’s unique 
collections in exciting and engaging ways, the program 
is now drawing to a close and Voyages of Discovery 
will be the last online story to be enhanced during the 
upcoming financial year. 

Henry Lawson’s life online 
The State Library ’s collection of Henry Lawson 
(1867–1922) material includes original manuscripts, 
editions of his work, correspondence, photographs, 
cartoons, and belongings such as his walking stick, 
hat and pencil. One of Australia’s most beloved 
authors, Lawson is best known for his bush ballads and 
short stories. Lawson rose above poverty and a lack of 
education, but suffered from depression and a severe 
hearing impairment. Henry Lawson: The Man, his Work 
and the Legend evokes Lawson’s life and work through 
a digitised selection of significant manuscripts, 
pictures, books and newspapers. This new Discover 
Collections is sponsored by the Curtis family and the 
Massy-Greene family, in recognition of ‘Faces in the 
Street’, the Urban Mental Health Research Institute 
based at St Vincent’s Hospital in Sydney. 

www.sl.nsw.gov.au/discover_collections/society_ 
art/ lawson 

Shipboard life 
During the nineteenth century, over one million 
migrants left their homes and took the long sea voyage 
to Australia from the United Kingdom. The Library ’s 
selection of related material, including journals, diaries, 
letters and shipboard newspapers, is now available 
online. Written by passengers during the voyage, 
shipboard newspapers record onboard activities and 
entertainment, as well as local news including births 
and deaths, travel tips, and gossip. Many include 
passenger lists and names of emigrants who performed 
in shipboard concerts and sporting matches. Shipboard 
diaries and journals capture the varying conditions 
experienced by different classes of migrants. 

Shipboard: The 19th Century Emigrant Experience 
is supported by the late Robert John Pritchard. 

www.sl.nsw.gov.au/discover_society_art/shipboard 

COLLECTION PRESERVATION 

The Foundation continued to support collection 
preservation at the Library providing funding for two 
conservator positions: the Foundation Conservator 
and the Jean Garling Conservator. This funding 
support allows Library conservators to undertake 
investigative and in-depth treatments of significant 
collection items. 

This program of work included the repair and 
rehousing of iconic manuscript collections the 
Macarthur Family papers, and the John Septimus Roe 
papers. Intensive conservation treatment was carried 
out on significant collection items such as the Wallis 
album, three volumes of Le Grand Atlas by Jean Blaeu, 
1667 and The Hand Gamut, and a range of items were 
treated for display in the Amaze Gallery. 

The Garling Conservator began work on the TAL & 
Dai-ichi Life collection of natural history watercolours 
and associated material from the Library ’s collection. 
The Library Foundation also secured sponsorship 
for the purchase of a handheld X-ray fluorescence 
spectrometer. This equipment can be used to identify 
the elements within pigments and other materials 
in the Library ’s collection. 

l i B r a rY s H o P 

The Library Shop is owned and operated by the Library 
Council of NSW. Its comprehensive range of Australian 
titles is complemented by a quality selection of gifts, 
souvenirs and print-on-demand, archival fine art 
prints from the Library ’s collections. Over the last 
financial year, new State Library branded merchandise 
was produced to tie in with the exhibitions The 
Greatest Wonder of the World, Time in Motion and 
Patrick White. This generated the combined revenue of 
$45,000. The shop also exceeded its revenue budget by 
$19,183. Sales highlights of the year included $40,000 
generated from the combined sales of the Australian 
Dictionary of Biography Volume 18 and a series of 
Patrick White leather-bound novels. 

www.sl.nsw.gov.au/discover_society_art/shipboard
www.sl.nsw.gov.au/discover_collections/society
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The Library Council of New South Wales is comprised 
of the Library Council of New South Wales (the parent 
entity) and the State Library of New South Wales 
Foundation. 

The surplus for the year was $11.722 million 
compared with the budget for the same period of 
$6.960 million and last year’s surplus of $6.241 million. 
The table below compares the 2012–2013 actual result 
with the 2012–2013 budget and the 2013–2014 budget. 
Budget figures are as published in the NSW State 
Budget Papers. 

Budget actual Budget 
2013 2013  2014  

$'000 $'000 $'000 

income 

Sale of goods & services 1,760 1,677 1,803 

Investment income 1,973 3,512 2,050 

Grants & contributions 92,962 97,145 85,790 

Other income 10      178 10 

total income 96,705 102,512 89,653 

less: 

expenses 

Other expenses 45,112                 47,103 45,878 

Depreciation & amortisation 18,105 17,056 19,345 

Grants & subsidies 26,528 26,631 26,528 

total expenses 89,745 90,790 91,751 

surplus/(deficit) for the year 6,960 11,722 (2,098) 

actual actual actual 
2011 2012  2013  
$'000 $'000 $'000 

income 

Sale of goods & services 1,961 1,651 1,677 

Investment income 2,595 2,289 3,512 

Grants & contributions 87,193 91,780 97,145 

Other income      242      197      178 

total income 91,991 95,917 102,512 

less: 

expenses 

Other expenses 44,932 46,078 47,103 

Depreciation & amortisation 16,990 17,122 17,056 

Grants & subsidies 25,404 26,476 26,631 

total expenses 87,326 89,676 90,790 

surplus/(deficit) for the year 4,665 6,241 11,722 

100.0 

95.0 

90.0 

85.0 

80.0 

75 .0 

70.0 
2011 2012 2013 

The favourable variance between the budget and 
actual in 2012–13 of $4.8 million is mainly income 
represented by bequested and donated original 
materials of $1.8 million received by the Library, 
a more favourable investment result of $1.5 million 
and the balance being savings from an employee 
redundancy program and reduced depreciation 
charges. 

The following table and graph provides a three year 
analysis of actual results for the Library. 

105.0 

$ millions 

Total revenue has increased 11% over the past three 
years whilst expenses have increased by only 4%. 

The Library has a number of sources of revenue 
which are categorised into Government grant funding 
and self-generated. Approximately 10% of revenue is 
self-generated by the Library. 

Government grants comprise grants and subsidies 
paid by the Library to public libraries throughout 
NSW, recurrent, capital, employment related and other 
grants to operate the Library. Over the past three years 
the following Government Grants were received by 
the Library.  

50 
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actual 
2011 

$'000 

actual 
2012  

$'000 

actual 
2013  

$'000 

Government Grant Funding 

Recurrent funding 

Public Libraries grants and subsidies funding 

Capital funding 

Employment grants (Crown) 

Other Government grants 

34,521 

25,404 

17,607 

2,596 

2,307 

34,513 

26,476 

18,342 

3,428 

2,958 

37,604 

26,631 

23,805 

1,951 

2,614 

total government grant funding 82,435 85,717 92,605 

FUNDING 
10% 

GOVERNMENT 
FUNDING FOR 

PUBLIC LIBRARIES 

GOVERNMENT 
GRANT 

FUNDING 

actual actual actual 
2011 2012 2013 

$'000 $'000 $'000 

self-generated revenue 

Sale of goods & services 1,961 1,651 1,677 

Investment income 2,595 2,289 3,512 

Other grants 4,758 6,063 4,540 

Other revenue 242 197 178 

total self-generated revenue 9,556 10,200 9,907 

OF GOODS 
AND SERVICES 

17% 

actual actual actual 
2011 2012  2013  

$'000 $'000 $'000 

expenses 

Personnel services expense 29,628 31,522 30,799 

Other expenses 15,304 14,556 16,304 

Depreciation expense 16,990 17,122 17,056 

Grants & subsidies 25,404 26,476 26,631 

total expenses 87,326 89,676 90,790 

SELF-GENERATED 

64% 26% 

Self-generated revenue includes donations, 
corporate sponsorships, bequests, sales of goods and 
services, investment income and other miscellaneous 
revenue. 

Self-generated revenue by category over the past 
three years is as follows. 

The following chart depicts the different sources 
of self-generated revenue for the financial year ended 
30 June 2013. 

self-generated reVenUe soUrCe 2012–13 

OTHER 
REVENUE 

2% SALE 

INVESTMENT 
INCOME OTHER 

35% GRANTS
 
46%
 

e x P e ns es 

Total expenses increased by $1.114 million in 
2012–2013. The major increase was in other expenses 
of $1.748 million and grants and subsidies of 
$0.155 million. The decrease of $0.723 million in 
personnel services expense is due to reduced employee 
numbers through the voluntary redundancy program. 
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Cr e d i t Ca r d C e r t i f i C atio n 

The Library had seven credit cards issued during the 
year, one to the State Librarian & Chief Executive, 
another to the Mitchell Librarian, and to all other 
division directors. 

No irregularities were recorded during the year 
in the use of corporate credit cards and the Library 
complied with the Premier’s Memoranda and the 
Treasurer’s Directions. 

i n V e s t m e nt P e r f o r man C e 

The Library ’s investments are managed by the 
NSW Treasury Corporation (T-Corp) in accordance 
with NSW Treasury requirements under the Public 
Authorities (Financial Arrangements) Act 1987. The 
products utilised by the Library include the Hour Glass 
Medium Term Growth Facility and short-term cash 
investments. 

The value of financial assets within T-Corp’s Hour 
Glass Medium Term Growth Facility is $22.572 million 
as at 30 June 2013, compared with $19.637 million at 
the end of the previous year. The Library achieved an 
investment return of 5.1% in its medium term growth 
facility in 2012–2013. Given the performance of the 
global markets, this was an excellent performance by 
our fund managers. 

Short-term cash-related investments achieved a 
higher rate of return in 2012–2013 of 3.6% compared 
to 3.0% in 2011–2012 reflecting the interest rates 
achieved from use of term deposits in the environment 
of a general fall in interest rates. Returns achieved by 
facility type over the past three years are shown in the 
following table. 

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 
% % % 

facility 

T-Corp - Medium Term Growth Facility 7.1% 4.3% 5.1% 

T-Corp - Short-Term Cash Investments 5.0% 3.0% 3.6% 

actual target total Paid 
number number total Paid on time 

quarter % % $'000 $'000 

September 2012 73% 100% 12,712 9,244 

December 2012 95% 100% 29,472 28,065 

March 2013 88% 100% 12,118 10,651 

June 2013 86% 100% 17,757 15,243 

Current 
up to 30 30 days 60 days 

more than 60 
days 

quarter 
days 

$'000 
overdue     

$'000 
overdue     

$'000 
overdue     

$'000 

September 2012 751 22 52 2 

December 2012 379 36 - -

March 2013 911 231 426 -

June 2013 6,056 313 447 4 

name destination 

Period 
of 
travel Purpose 

Cost, including 
to the state 
library 
(excl gst) 

Alex 
Byrne 

Helsinki, 
Finland 

9 to 
30 
Aug 12 

Attend the 78th 
IFLA General 
Conference & 
Assembly 

Cost to the 
Library $1,849; 
airfare paid by 
officer. 

Jerelyn 
Brown 

Wellington, 
New Zealand 

19 to 
21 Sep 
12 

Attend the ‘One 
Library’ 
Coordinating 
Committee Meeting 

Cost to the 
Library $780. 

Alexander 
Sussman 

Auckland,  
New Zealand 

13 to 
18 Nov 
12 

Attend the 
Australasian 
Innopac Users 
Group Meeting 

Cost to the 
Library $1,244. 

Susanne 
Moir 

Auckland,  
New Zealand 

13 to 
18 Nov 
12 

Attend the 
Australasian 
Innopac Users 
Group Meeting 

Cost to the 
Library $1,012. 

Alice 
Farrell 

Auckland,  
New Zealand 

13 to 
18 Nov 
12 

Attend the 
Australasian 
Innovative Users 
Group Annual 
Meeting & 
Conference 

Cost to the 
Library  $1,125. 

Lynne 
Billington 

Auckland,  
New Zealand 

13 to 
25 Nov 
12 

Attend the 
Australasian 
Innopac Users 
Group Meeting 

Cost to the 
Library $609; 
cost of airfare 
refunded by 
qantas due to 
delays caused 
by industrial 
action. 

During the year the Library commenced using 
a term deposits facility negotiated by NSW T-Corp 
which improved returns on cash deposits by 
approximately 1%. 

PaY m e n t o f aCCo U n t s 

The Library ’s accounts payable performance in 
2012–2013 is shown below. The nature of payment 
arrangements and conclusion to contractual 
obligations by vendors / suppliers to the Library 
inevitably result in delays on some payments. 

aCCoUnts Paid on time witHin eaCH qUarter 

aCCoUnts PaYaBle PerformanCe 
aged analYsis at end of eaCH qUarter 

oVerseas tr aVel BY staff 
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Kirsten Albuquerque, 8 to 16 Present and Attend Cost to the 
Thorpe United States Jun 13 at the 2013 Library $2,098. 

International 
Conference of 
Indigenous 
Archives, Libraries 
& Museums 

Susan New Zealand 7 to 19 Courier valuable All costs 
Sitku Mar 13 collection items covered by 

onboard Queen Cunard Line. 
Mary 2 during her 
first historic 
circumnavigation of 
New Zealand 

Project Protect 
People 

Protect 
Collection 

environment 
/ Heritage 

improve 
functionality 

Completed Projects 

The Amaze Gallery 
construction 

ü

Upgrade LG2 staff 
toilets and LG1 public 
toilets 

ü ü

Mitchell Building 
facade clean and 
bird-proofing project 

ü

Third flag pole, 
Mitchell building 

ü

Lifts 9 and 10 interior 
refurbishment 

ü ü

Refurbishment of the 
Shakespeare and 
Dixson rooms 

ü ü

Mitchell basement 
toilets refurbished 

ü ü

Commenced Projects 

CCTV and access 
control system 
upgrades 

ü ü ü

Mitchell building 
stonework restoration 

ü ü

Mitchell building 
Reading Room 
reconfiguration 

ü ü ü

Office 
Accommodation 
project planning 

ü

Fire Detection and 
Emergency Warning 
and 
Intercommunications 
System upgrade 

ü ü ü

Mechanical controls 
and Variable Air 
Volume upgrade 

ü ü ü

Mitchell building LED 
facade lighting 
project 

ü ü

New external signage ü

Distribution board 
replacements, fire 
stair LED lighting and 
sub-metering 

ü ü ü ü

Macquarie building 
facade cleaning and 
sealing 

üRobust systems 
The Library ensures its systems are robust by 
implementing effective policies, processes and 
corporate service. 

a s s e t m anag e m e n t P l an 

The State Library Asset Management Plan continues 
to be an important tool for planning and prioritising 
maintenance, refurbishments and upgrades as required. 
The plan contains some 356 rooms/locations, 3,986 
components, and 41,475 assets and it is updated regularly. 

B U il d in g s a f e t Y 

As part of the Library ’s fire safety compliance the 
2012 Annual Fire Safety Statement was completed, 
certifying the compliance and adequate maintenance 
of the building ’s fire sprinklers, fire alarm and warning 
system and other protection systems. A full evacuation 
of the building was undertaken, along with warden 
training and updating of evacuation plans. 

s e rV i C e C o ntr aC t i n g 

In 2012–13, the Library procured several building 
maintenance service contracts to achieve value for 
money, inclusion of new legislation and building code 
requirements, performance management measures 
and a comprehensive scope of services. The following 
contracts were procured by open tender: 
•	 Electronic Security Maintenance and Upgrades 

($359,000) 
•	 Upgrade Fire Detection and EWIS and ongoing 

maintenance ($440,000) 
•	 Electrical Maintenance and Upgrades ($633,000) 
•	 Mechanical Services Maintenance and Upgrades 

($945,000). 
The following service contracts were transitioned to 

NSW Government State Contracts to reduce costs and 
comply with government policy 
•	 sanitary bins and air fresheners 
•	 general waste collection 
•	 paper and cardboard recycling 
•	 security guard provision 
•	 electrical metering. 
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Heritage rePort 

The Mitchell Library, at 1 Shakespeare Place, Sydney, 
was listed as a place of state significance on the State 
Heritage Register on 10 April 2002 (Inventory Number 
5,045,212). This listing recognises that the Mitchell 
Library is important to the whole of NSW and has 
been identified as a significant place that enriches 
the community ’s understanding of the state’s history. 
It also requires us to comply with s170A (4) of the 
NSW Heritage Act 1977. 

In 2013 the Library ’s Heritage Conservation 
Management Plan was updated and a complementary 
Heritage Asset Management Strategy (HAMS) was 
developed and implementation commenced. The 
HAMS details the maintenance and management 
actions required to preserve the heritage significant 
elements of the Library. 

Further stonework conservation works were 
undertaken by the Department of Public Works on the 
eastern facade of the Mitchell Library, which is part 
of a multi-stage program to maintain the building ’s 
sandstone. 

enterPrise resoUrCe Planning 

We commenced our transition to a new enterprise 
resource planning (ERP) management system that 
will replace our existing software systems for human 
resources, payroll, finance and procurement. In 
collaboration with and led by our Cluster Principal 
Department, NSW Trade and Investment, the SAP 
ERP solution will replace our corporate systems which 
include Oracle Financials and Chris 21 HR and Payroll. 
Due to go live in October 2013, the SAP ERP will be 
the backbone for our finance and human resources 
operations, reducing manual processing and paper 
forms and delivering efficiency improvements across 
the Library. The SAP ERP is funded by NSW Trade and 
Investment as part of a departmental-wide project to 
transition all agencies onto a single ERP platform to 
more effectively manage its business. 

work HealtH and safetY 

During the year, a range of preventative actions and 
programs were implemented to support the Library ’s 
Work Health and Safety ( WHS) management system, 
with the aim of reducing incidents and identifying 
potential injury/illness early. These included: 

•	 achieving outstanding results from the work, health 
and safety ( WHS) readiness audit conducted by 
our internal auditors, Deloitte, and developing 
and commencing implementation of the audit 
action plan 

•	 completing risk assessments, developing and 
implementing new safe working procedures and 
reviewing existing procedures to reflect legislative 
requirements and best work practice 

•	 communicating our new Accident/Incident 
Reporting and Investigation Policy and Procedures 
to all staff and incorporating new features in our 
health and safety training courses 

•	 implementing a process for the maintenance 
of trolleys used across the Library including 
establishing a register of trolleys and a system 
for safety checking for their maintenance 
or replacement 

•	 revising and implementing our workplace 
inspection guidelines 

•	 undertaking a risk assessment of our first aid 
capability and developing a new procedure for 
checking requisites for our first aid kits and room 

•	 auditing and re-stocking first aid kits across 
the Library 

•	 submitting our final report against the NSW Public 
Sector Working Together Strategy 2010–2012 which 
demonstrated that we met the targets set 

•	 inducting all new staff with comprehensive 
information on WHS responsibilities, safety and 
emergency procedures 

•	 rectifying hazards logged in hazard registers with 
100% of corrective actions taken on identified 
hazards and incidents within the agreed timeframes 

•	 investigating 100% of all accidents and incidents 
occurring during the year and, where required, 
implementing appropriate corrective actions 

•	 implementing our workplace inspection program 
across all designated areas of the site 

•	 undertaking regular workers compensation claims 
reviews with our insurer to track progress with 
claims and initiating necessary actions to support 
early return to pre-injury duties 

•	 implementing changes to the NSW Workers 
Compensation Scheme 

•	 undertaking workplace assessments for staff with 
compensable and non work related injury and illness 
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•	 supporting our Staff Wellbeing Committee to assist 
in maintaining a workplace environment where 
the health and wellbeing of staff is highly valued 
and encourages employees to adopt healthy living 
practices 

•	 continuing support for staff yoga classes on a 
user-pays basis 

•	 providing an influenza vaccination program for staff 
•	 supporting the staff choir 
•	 continuing our Employee Assistance Program for 

staff and immediate family members to obtain free 
access to counselling 

•	 providing a wide range of WHS operational advice 
in the form of policies, guidelines and hazard alerts. 
The Work Health and Safety committee met every 

six weeks to review and address health and safety 
issues. The committee reviewed and provided input 
into the development of policies and safe working 
procedures. Twenty-six workplace inspections were 
undertaken by the committee throughout the year 
to ensure that designated areas across the Library 
are inspected twice yearly. 

aCC i d e nt s a n d i n C i d e nt s 

There were 58 accidents and incidents reported in 
2012–13 compared with 65 in 2011–12. Corrective 
action and preventative measures were implemented 
where appropriate. 

total nUmBer of inCidents and aCCidents rePorted eaCH 
Year from 2008–9 to 2012–13 

2008–09 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12 2012–13 

Number of 
incidents 
or 
accidents 
reported 

34 55 72 65 58 

2008–09 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12 2012–13 

Total 
number of 
claims 

10 11 26 22 12 

Open 
claims at 
year end 

6 6 15 6 5 

2008–09 2009–10 2010–11 2011–12 2012–13 

Average 
cost per 
claim 

$10,710 $5261 $4917 $5588 $11,885 

i n j U rY manag e m e n t 

The WHS consultant works closely with managers and 
supervisors to implement early treatment, ergonomic 
modifications and rehabilitation management of staff 
for both workers compensation and non-work-related 
injuries and illness. 

Effective management of staff with a work-related 
injury or illness is strongly promoted to achieve the 
best possible outcomes for staff and to minimise 
the impact on the Library ’s workers compensation 
premium. In 2012–13, 12 workers compensation claims 

were lodged with the Library ’s insurer. Of those, 
one was a journey claim which was declined under the 
revised workers compensation legislation. Ten of the 
claims resulted in lost time, with liability subsequently 
declined for one of these claims. Three claims were 
deemed to be ‘significant’ under the Workplace Injury 
Management and Workers Compensation Act 1998, in 
that the employee was unable to perform their normal 
duties for a continuous period of more than seven days. 

nUmBer of Claims 2008– 09 to 2012–13 

The effectiveness of the Library ’s approach to 
managing injury and illness continues to be reflected 
in the number of open claims at year end. However, 
the increase in the average cost per claim this year 
can be attributed to one complex claim incurring 
significant cost. 

aVerage Cost Per Cl aim 2008– 09 to 2012–13 

Notes: 
1.	 Average cost of claims for 2008–09, 2009–10, 2010–11 and 2011–12 have 

been adjusted to account for changes to claims methodology costing 
and ongoing costs for open claims incurred during the claims year and 
paid in a subsequent year. 

2.	 Average cost of claims for 2012–13 based on available cost data as at 
30 June 2013. 

In 2012–13, nine cases of non-work-related injury/ 
illness were managed in the workplace. Six of the 
nine cases were managed with the assistance of 
a rehabilitation provider engaged to undertake 
workplace assessments and provide advice and support 
in managing the staff member’s health and wellbeing. 
As a preventative measure, an occupational therapist 
was engaged to identify risks associated with overuse 
injury to workers assigned to a large digitisation 
project requiring intensive handling of large quantities 
of collection material for processing. 
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ProHiBition and imProVement notiCes 

No Prohibition or Improvement Notices were issued 
under the WHS Act or its regulations during the year. 

eleCtroniC serViCe deliVerY 

The Library ’s ICT Service Desk provides support for 
all the ICT equipment and services used by Library 
staff and by clients in the reading rooms. From 1 July 
2013 to 30 June 2013, the ICT Service Desk logged 
and resolved a total of 3128 ICT related requests 
and incidents. 

A key component underlying the Library ’s ability to 
deliver projects under the Digital Excellence program 
is the design of a flexible enterprise architecture 
platform which supports open systems architecture 
and system interconnection principles. To ensure 
that the planned integration of differing technologies 
and systems delivers the results required, a well-
constructed enterprise architecture review has been 
designed. The design of the enterprise architecture was 
completed last year as part of the Digital Excellence 
program. The new enterprise architecture details the 
proposed technology environment which will deliver 
state-of-the-art discovery, provide accessible content 
and facilitate excellent information services. 

The Library ’s key ICT systems, including the 
archival content management system and the image 
database, have successfully been upgraded. 

Policies regarding the use of email, passwords, ICT 
security and services have been reviewed, updated and 
published on the intranet. In addition, the Library has 
implemented recommendations from an ICT security 
audit conducted by Deloitte. 

In 2012–13 the Library ’s wireless network was 
upgraded and extended to cover the Exhibition 
Galleries and Mitchell ground floor and WiFi 
positioning devices were installed for the Curio app. 

imProVing ColleCtion asset management 

The Collection Storage Master Plan was reviewed in 
response to a Treasury Gateway report, and revised 
to a reduced four-year implementation plan. This 
was incorporated into the Library ’s Total Asset 
Management (TAM) bid for the Library ’s Physical 
Infrastructure Renewal Plan. 

In line with the master plan, lower use collections 
were relocated to offsite storage, further capitalising 

on the work of the eRecords project. These relocations 
created more onsite space for collection growth and 
the installation of new mobile shelving. During the 
financial year a total 6894 linear metres of collection 
material, including 4284 boxes of manuscript material, 
were sent to the Moorebank offsite facility. This 
compared with 1928 linear metres in 2011–12 and 
represents the largest relocation of collections offsite 
since the Library first occupied the Moorebank offsite 
store in 2007. An additional 1164 linear metres of 
manuscripts were redistributed within the offsite store 
to mitigate against the risk of flooding. 

A further 5158 linear metres were relocated onsite 
(down from 9118 linear metres in 2011–12), again 
allowing for collection growth and the use of new 
mobile shelving. The ongoing fit-out of one entire 
Macquarie wing storage level with mobile shelving 
was completed in May 2013. 

The second stage of the reconfiguration of the 
Mitchell upper stack was completed in August 2012. 
This project aimed to spread the load of collection 
weight to comply with the floor loading. Pictorial 
collections (albums, photographs, prints and 
sketchbooks) were weighed and redistributed onto 
re-spaced shelves. Stages 1 and 2 together involved the 
relocation of over 32 tonnes of collection material. 

A major project to move closed serial titles to the 
Library ’s offsite store was completed this year with 
10,000 titles including 70,000 volumes relocated, 
equivalent to 3.6 km of premium space onsite in 
Macquarie Street. 

A stocktake of 5000 items in the Mitchell Library 
A900 sequence was completed as well as a stocktake 
of framed pictures and individually valued material 
across the collection. 

In a strategy designed to improve storage efficiency 
and service to clients, running number sequences were 
implemented in January 2013 for new books acquired 
for the State Reference Library. This is the first major 
new sequence implemented at the Library in 53 years. 

The Library has implemented an enhanced 
cataloguing service for overseas published books 
in print and ebook format, providing more relevant 
access for clients through more detailed records, 
while supporting workflow efficiencies at the Library. 

Collection Preservation and Storage staff attended 
the Australian Registrars Committee seminar 
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Managing the Unexpected: Collection Management 
and Disasters, which focused on insights gained from 
the Christchurch earthquakes. Six staff also attended 
a seminar on sustainable buildings at the Australian 
Museum. 

enHanCing management of CorPorate 

information 

This year the Library took further action to address 
our records backlog and, as a result, we improved 
management, tracking and access to the Library ’s 
corporate records. Over 8500 historical records were 
registered in our recordkeeping system TRIM. 

Some of these records date back to 1905 and pertain 
to architectural drawings and plans of the Library ’s 
buildings, treatment and condition reports relating 
to collection items, as well as Mitchell Library 
correspondence files. The majority of these early 
records will need to be retained permanently given 
their historical and continued business value. 

To improve corporate information management and 
compliance, tools were implemented for identifying 
and assessing recordkeeping and privacy requirements 
in business systems and projects. An updated Privacy 
Management Plan and related documents were made 
available via a new privacy section on the Library ’s 
website, with privacy training held for people leaders. 

Key content management policies were approved 
and implemented this year, including the Library ’s 
new Collection Development Policy in April 2013 
and the Collection Acquisitions Policy in July 2012. 

insUranCe 

The Library ’s insurance activities are conducted 
through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund. 
Annual insurance costs rose in 2012–13. Premiums 
were $0.859 million, compared to $0.662 million 
in 2011–12, $0.853 million in 2010–11 and 
$0.872 million in 2009–10. 

risk management 

The Library operates in a mature risk management 
environment where risks are assessed and managed as 
part of the core business. Complying with the Internal 
Audit and Risk Management Policy for the NSW Public 
Sector TPP-09-05, the Library ’s Risk Management 
Framework comprises: 

•	 an Audit and Risk Committee with an independent 
Chair and members 

•	 formalised periodic organisational risk assessments 
and project risk management 

•	 an outsourced internal audit function which ensures 
the currency of a Strategic Internal Audit Plan and 
regular internal audits 

•	 overarching charters for the Audit and Risk 
Committee and the outsourced internal audit 
function with an Internal Audit manual 

•	 formalised evaluation of the performance of the 
Audit and Risk Committee and its members 

•	 a comprehensive suite of risk management-related 
policies and procedures. 
The NSW Audit Office conducts an annual external 

audit of our financial performance as well as periodic 
compliance audits. The Library also complies with 
statutory reviews and audits conducted by the NSW 
Treasury each year, including the Public Authorities 
(Financial Arrangements) Act 1987. This ensures that 
the internal controls are robust and that the Library 
complies with relevant Acts and Treasurer’s directions. 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (Deloitte) currently 
delivers ongoing internal audit services for the 
Library and assists in reviewing a wide variety of 
risk management issues. This work complies with 
the Australian/New Zealand Standard AS/NZS 
ISO 31000:2009 Risk Management. A business 
risk assessment prepared by Deloitte in 2011 forms 
the basis of the Library ’s approach to managing 
risk exposures. 

During 2012–13 internal audits specifically 
examined the following areas: 
•	 grants and subsidies to public libraries 
•	 Work Health and Safety 
•	 physical security of collection items 
•	 financial management. 

O’Connor Marsden (OCM) was engaged during 
2012–13 to review the Library ’s Fraud and Corruption 
Prevention Framework and policy in line with the 
latest government guidelines and best practice. 
As a result, revised Fraud and Corruption Prevention 
Policy and Whistleblower Protection procedures were 
developed and finalised. 

Assessments conducted this year did not materially 
impact on our risk exposure. Recommendations 
made by Deloitte and OCM form part of the Library ’s 
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ongoing activities and are monitored on a regular 
basis through a risk issues register. The Library is 
implementing a comprehensive organisation-wide 
business continuity management plan, a draft of 
which was endorsed by the Executive. 

Green library 
was t e r e d U C t ion an d PU r CH as i n g P ol i C Y 

RESOURCE RECOVERY 

During the year a paper and cardboard recycling 
system was implemented throughout the Library, 
which has resulted in a reduction of 50% of general 
waste collection from the building. 

USE OF RECYCLED MATERIAL 

Purchases of copying stationery and consumables and 
the Library ’s contractual agreement with Fuji Xerox 
for the provision of copying services affect results 
in this area. Over the 12-month period, all toner 
cartridges were returned for recycling and re-use by 
the supplier. Purchasing of recycled stationery has 
increased at the Library due to better staff education. 

g oV er n m en t e n er gY m a n ag em en t P o l i C Y 

CORPORATE COMMITMENT 

The NSW Government Energy Management Policy 
(GEMP) was developed in response to the National 
Greenhouse Strategy to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions in government operations. Improving the 
energy efficiency of buildings is an important National 
Greenhouse Strategy measure. 

fuel 
total energy consumed 

(gj)3 Change annual cost ($)2 Change 
Co2 emissions 

(tonnes)1 

2011–12 2012–13 2011–12 2012–13 2011–12 2012–13 

Electricity 
(Black Coal) 

10,390 10,716 3% $468,483 $612,982 31% 2,569 2,649 

Electricity 
(Green power) 

663 684 3% $29,903 $39,126 31% 0 0 

E-10 19 21 11% $737 $830 13% 1 1 

total 11,072 11,421 3% $499,123 $652,938 31% 2570 2650 

1. Scope 1 and 2 emissions 
2. Costs include GST 
3. Data source, Energy Australia, Shell Fleet 

We are committed to achieving savings in energy 
usage and sustainable energy management principles. 
The building purchases electricity on the contestable 
electricity market via State Contracts Control Board 
Electricity Contract 777 with 6% of their electricity 
usage from renewable sources. 

PERFORMANCE 

An energy efficiency audit for the Library, completed 
in January 2013, recommended changes to air 
conditioning and lighting systems which would reduce 
energy consumption by 23%. These energy efficiency 
initiatives have now been procured and, when 
implemented in December 2013, will save around 
750 tonnes of greenhouse gas emissions. 

Electricity consumption for the Library has 
increased by 3%, with an increase in cost due to the 
introduction of the carbon tax and an increase in 
electricity distribution network charges. 

Water consumption for the period 2012–13 was 
10,166kL. The reduction of 34% from 13,657kL in 
2011–12 was the result of better water management, 
upgrades to the irrigation system and reducing the 
frequency of external pavement washing. 

s U s ta in a B il i t Y t H r o U g H t e C H n o l o g Y 

The Digital Excellence program is committed to 
delivering modern and contemporary technology 
platforms and reducing environmental impact to drive 
sustainability for the Library. Digitisation projects 
are expected to create a 25-fold increase in digital 
assets over the 10 years of the program. To ensure the 
sustainability of the program, additional digital storage 
has been purchased. 
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Library Council
 

The Library Act 1939, as amended by the Cultural 
Institutions (Miscellaneous Amendments) Act 1989, 
provides that the Library Council of NSW shall be 
the governing body of the State Library of NSW. 

The Library Council is constituted under Part 2 of 
the Library Act 1939. The nine members of the Library 
Council are members of the public nominated by the 
Minister and appointed for a three-year term by the 
Governor of NSW. The Act stipulates that members 
must include: 
•	 at least one person who has knowledge of, 

or experience in, education, and 
•	 at least one person who has knowledge of, 

or experience in, local government. 
The Library Council members fulfilling these 

requirements are Dr John Vallance and Ms Jan 
Richards respectively. The State Librarian and Chief 
Executive is the Secretary of the Library Council. 

The council’s responsibilities relate to the 
promotion, provision and maintenance of library 
and information services for the people of NSW; and 
advising the Minister and local authorities on matters 
of policy and administration relating to Library 
services. 

Library Council members are appointed for a term 
not exceeding three years and may be reappointed, 
but no council member shall hold office for four 
consecutive terms. Council members do not receive 
remuneration for the board activities. 

attendanCe at meetings of tHe 
liBrarY CoUnCil of new soUtH wales 

2012-13 financial Year (six meetings) 

Mr Robert Thomas AM (President) 5 of 6 

Ms Elsa Atkin 3 of 3 

Mr Graham Bradley AM 5 of 6 

Mr Michael Caulfield 5 of 6 

Mr Rodney Cavalier AO 3 of 3 

Mr Richard Fisher AM 4 of 6 

Professor Bridget Griffen-Foley 3 of 3 

Professor Martin Nakata 2 of 3 

Ms Jan Richards 5 of 6 

Mr Andrew Tink 6 of 6 

Dr John Vallance 5 of 6 

Dr Alex Byrne 
Secretary and NSW State Librarian & Chief Executive 

6 of 6 

m r r o B e r t t H o m a s a m 

B e c, m s d i a , s f f i n , fa i C d 

COMPANY DIRECTOR 

APPOINTED 2006 
curreNT TerM eNdS deceMBer 2014 

APPOINTED PRESIDENT 1 JANUARY 2007 

CHAIR, STATE LIBRARY OF NSW 
FOUNDATION TRUSTEES 

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 

GRANTS COMMITTEE 

PUBLIC LIBRARIES CONSULTATIVE 
COMMITTEE 

It has been a privilege to be President of the 
Library Council at such an exciting time. 
The Library is embracing new technology while 
celebrating its extraordinary collection of original 
material. I enjoy working with the Executive team 
and the rest of the Library Council. The passion 
and enthusiasm of all our staff, volunteers, 
beneficiaries and friends continues to amaze me. 

m r r o d n e Y C aVa l i e r ao 

APPOINTED 2013 
curreNT TerM eNdS deceMBer 2015 

I believe in the power of libraries to transform lives. 
The State Library of NSW is one of the world’s great 
cultural institutions. I realise with trepidation I have 
been visiting it for more than 50 years. 
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mr graHam BradleY am 

Ba, llB (Sy d n e y), llm (Ha r va r d), faiCd 

COMPANY DIRECTOR 

APPOINTED 2004 
curreNT TerM eNdS deceMBer 2013 

STATE LIBRARY OF NSW 
FOUNDATION BOARD 

CAPITAL CAMPAIGN COMMITTEE 

My association with the Library goes back 
over 10 years when, in my former role as CEO 
at Perpetual Trustees, I was proud to sponsor 
some of the superb exhibitions staged by the Library. 
This led to my appreciation of the deep, diverse and 
priceless collection of absorbing materials held 
in the Mitchell collection. 

mr riCHard fisHer am 

llB, mec 

GENERAL COUNSEL TO THE 
UNIVERSITY OF SYDNEY AND 
AN ADJUNCT PROFESSOR IN ITS 
GRADUATE SCHOOL OF GOVERNMENT 

APPOINTED 2005 
curreNT TerM eNdS deceMBer 2013 

CHAIR, GRANTS COMMITTEE 

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 

STATE LIBRARY OF NSW 
FOUNDATION TRUSTEES 

PUBLIC LIBRARIES CONSULTATIVE 
COMMITTEE 

CHAIR, LIAC ADVISORY BOARD 

Beyond my involvement with the establishment 
of the Blake Dawson Prize for Business Literature 
(now the Ashurst Prize), which the Library 
administers, it has been very rewarding to become 
involved with the most impressive programs 
undertaken by the Library to support both the public 
library network and specialist collections. 

mr miCHael CaUlfield 

FILMMAKER / WRITER 

APPOINTED 10 FEBRUARY 2010 
curreNT TerM eNded deceMBer 2012 

My first sight of the Library was as a young 
boy from the western suburbs of Sydney and 
the addiction was immediate. I am particularly 
interested in the Library ’s future in the digital 
age and using its cultural wealth across all 
media platforms. 

Professor martin nakata 

Bed(Hons), Phd 

DIRECTOR, NURA GILI CENTRE 
FOR INDIGENOUS PROGRAMS 

APPOINTED 2013 
curreNT TerM eNdS deceMBer 2015 

With an academic background in Indigenous higher 
education, I currently work as the Director of Nura 
Gili Indigenous Programs Unit at the University of 
New South Wales where we deliver academic learning 
support programs for Australian Indigenous students, 
teach Australian Indigenous studies courses to all 
students, and undertake Indigenous research work. 
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dr joHn VallanCe 

Ba, ma, PHd (ca m b r i d g e ) 

HEADMASTER OF 
SYDNEY GRAMMAR SCHOOL 

APPOINTED 1 JANUARY 2008 
curreNT TerM eNdS deceMBer 2013 

FELLOWSHIPS COMMITTEE 

STATE LIBRARY OF NSW 
FOUNDATION BOARD 

I am currently Headmaster of Sydney Grammar 
School. My published work centres on ancient Greek, 
science and medicine. I have also worked as a musician 
and have a deep interest in art, especially sculpture. 
The State Library has been part of my life since I was a 
child, and I am delighted now to have the opportunity 
to support its work in a practical way. 

ms jan riCHards 

Ba (Li b & i n f o Sc i), aalia, algma 

MANAGER, LIBRARY SERVICES, 
CENTRAL WEST LIBRARIES 

APPOINTED 2012 
curreNT TerM eNdS deceMBer 2014 

CHAIR, PUBLIC LIBRARIES CONSULTATIVE 
COMMITTEE 

I am the Manager of Central West Libraries, a regional 
public library based on the Central Tablelands and 
Western Slopes of NSW. The State Library of NSW has 
been a crucial part of my working life for longer than 
I care to remember; a source of information, support, 
inspiration and advice. The opportunity to contribute 
to one of the world’s great libraries and to chair the 
Public Libraries Consultative Committee is an honour. 

mr andrew tink 

Ba, llB 

WRITER AND VISITING FELLOW, 
MACqUARIE UNIVERSITY LAW SCHOOL 

APPOINTED 2012 
curreNT TerM eNdS deceMBer 2014 

GRANTS COMMITTEE 

PUBLIC LIBRARIES CONSULTATIVE 
COMMITTEE 

When I was an MP, the State Library next door 
was my refuge from politics. Writing became 
my creative outlet and the Library a key source 
of material for my biographies of William Charles 
Wentworth and Lord Sydney. I owe a great deal to 
the Library staff and all who have gone before them. 
As a member of the Library Council, I hope to give 
something back. 

dr alex BYrne 

Be(eL e c), g d i p Li b , g d i p ad v Li b , ma, pHd, falia 

NSW STATE LIBRARIAN 
& CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

APPOINTED 5 SEPTEMBER 2011 

SECRETARY TO COUNCIL 

LIAC ADVISORY BOARD 

PUBLIC LIBRARY CONSULTATIVE 
COMMITTEE 

HONORARY SECRETARY & TREASURER 
TO STATE LIBRARY OF NSW FOUNDATION 
BOARD 

I am a professional librarian, researcher and 
writer with a deep interest in the roles of memory 
institutions, the complexity of issues relating to 
Indigenous peoples and transmission of knowledge. 
My role at the State Library of NSW follows positions 
in library and university management, most recently 
at the University of Technology, Sydney. I served 
for a decade in leadership positions with the 
International Federation of Library Associations 
and Institutions, including as President from 2005 
to 2007. It is a tremendous honour to lead this great 
library, cherish its collections and people, and work 
with the public library network across NSW. 
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Standing committees of
the Library Council of NSW 
as at 30 June 2013 

aUdit and risk Committee 

The Library Council of NSW has established the Audit 
and Risk Committee in compliance with Treasury 
Circular NSW TC 09/08 Internal Audit and Risk 
Management Policy, August 2009. The objective of the 
committee is to provide independent assistance to the 
Library Council of NSW by overseeing and monitoring 
the Library Council of NSW’s governance, risk and 
control frameworks, and its external accountability 
requirements. 

In accordance with the Library Act 1939, section 
7B (1), the Audit and Risk Committee is also delegated 
the Council’s powers of investment, makes decisions 
concerning the management of Council and Library 
Foundation funds, and advises the Council when these 
powers are exercised. 

The Audit and Risk Committee complies with the 
NSW Treasury Policy and Guidelines Paper TPP 
09-05 Internal Audit and Risk Management Policy 
for the NSW Public Sector, August 2009, comprises of 
independent Chairs and Members, and is governed by 
an Audit and Risk Committee charter. The charter sets 
out the committee’s objectives, authority, composition 
and tenure, roles and responsibilities, and reporting 
and administrative arrangements. The committee met 
four times during the year. 

MEMBERS 

Ms Susan Doyle (Chair) 
Mr Richard Fisher AM 
Mr Robert Thomas AM 

IN ATTENDANCE 

Dr Alex Byrne, NSW State Librarian & Chief Executive 
Mr Hakan Harman (Executive Officer) 
Director, Operations & Chief Financial Officer 

grants Committee 

The committee is responsible for assessing applications 
for Library Development Grants received from local 
authorities in NSW. It defines priority areas for grants 
and recommends their allocation to the Library 
Council. The Grants Committee meets as required. 

MEMBERS 

Mr Richard Fisher AM (Chair) 
Mr Robert Thomas AM 
Mr Andrew Tink 

IN ATTENDANCE 

Dr Alex Byrne, NSW State Librarian & Chief Executive 
Ms Frances Sims, Director, Public Library & Learning 
Services 
Mr Cameron Morley (Executive Officer) 
Manager, Funding & Advisory Services 

PUBliC liBraries ConsUltatiVe Committee 

The committee provides: 
•	 policy advice to Library Council in relation to 

providing public library services in NSW 
•	 a consultative framework for the Library Council, 

the State Library and key stakeholders in local 

government concerning public library services
 

•	 advice to Library Council in relation to the funding 
arrangements for allocating State Government 

funding to public libraries
 

•	 advice to Library Council concerning the development 
of guidelines for Library Development Grants; the 
committee does not evaluate grant applications nor 
allocate Library Development Grants. 
Membership of the committee also includes 

representatives of key stakeholder bodies. 
The committee meets four times per year. 

MEMBERS 

Library Council of NSW 
Ms Jan Richards (Chair), Manager, Library Services, 
Central West Libraries 
Mr Andrew Tink 
Mr Robert Thomas 

Public Libraries NSW – Metropolitan 
Clr Veronique Marchandeau (President) Councillor, 
North Sydney Council 
Mr Paul Scully, Manager, Liverpool City Library 
Ms Michelle Simon, Manager, Canterbury City Library 

Public Libraries NSW – Country 
Clr Graham Smith, Councillor, Cessnock City Council 
Ms Keryl Collard, Manager, Maitland City Library 
Mr Robert Knight, Director, Riverina Regional Library 

Local Government and Shires Associations of NSW 
Mr Noel Baum, Strategy Manager 
Clr Julie Hegarty, Councillor, Pittwater Council 
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State Library of NSW 
Dr Alex Byrne, State Librarian & Chief Executive 
Ms Frances Sims, Director, Public Library & Learning 
Services 
Mr Cameron Morley (Executive Officer) 
Manager, Funding & Advisory Services 

HonoUrs Committee 

The Honours Committee assists the Library Council 
with regard to the conferral of honours and honorary 
appointments. 

MEMBERS 

Mr Robert Thomas AM (Chair), President of the 
Library Council of NSW – Appointed 
Mr Andrew Tink, Member of the Library Council 
of NSW 
Ms Jan Richards (Chair), Member of the Library 
Council of NSW 

IN ATTENDANCE 

Dr Alex Byrne, NSW State Librarian & Chief Executive 

state liBrarY of nsw foUndation trUstees 

The State Library of NSW Foundation is managed by 
the State Library and governed by a board established 
under the constitution with the Trust safeguarded by 
Trustees. 

The Foundation is a controlled entity of the Library 
Council of NSW as a not-for-profit organisation with 
its accounts consolidated as part of the NSW Total 
State Sector Accounts. Its governance and financial 
affairs are conducted within the context of the 
NSW Public Sector and as such in accordance with 
requirements of the Public Authorities (Financial 
Arrangements) Act 1987 and Regulation, the Public 
Finance and Audit Act 1983 and Regulation, Treasurers 
Circulars and Directions. It is covered for insurance 
through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme 
of self-insurance for government agencies. 

Members of the Board at any time during the 
financial year are listed below. 
Ms Patty Akopiantz 
Mr Paul Binsted 
Mr Graham Bradley AM 
Dr Alex Byrne 
Mr Peter Crossing 
Ms Sally Herman 

Ms Belinda Hutchinson AM 
Ms Samantha Meers 
Mr Anthony O’Sullivan 
Ms Maxine Rich 
Mr Steven Schwartz AM 
Mr Robert Thomas AM 
Dr John Vallance 
Dr Alex Byrne (Honourary Secretary & Treasurer), 
NSW State Librarian & Chief Executive 

The Trustees at any time during the financial year 
are listed below. 
Ms Elsa Atkin 
Mr Graham Bradley AM 
Dr Alex Byrne 
Mr Richard Fisher AM 
Mr Robert Thomas AM 
Dr John Vallance 

IN ATTENDANCE 

Ms Susan Hunt (Executive Officer), Executive 
Director, State Library of NSW Foundation 
Ms Lucy Milne, Director, Marketing & Business 
Development 
Ms Kay Payne, Partnerships Manager, Foundation 

legal information aCCess Centre adVisorY 

Board 

The board guides the strategic development of the 
Legal Information Access Centre (LIAC). Meetings of 
the board were held in September and March. 

MEMBERS 

Mr Richard Fisher AM (Chair), General Counsel & 
Adjunct Professor, Graduate School of Government, 
University of Sydney, Member of the Library Council 
of NSW 
Mr Tom Alegounarias, President, Board of Studies NSW 
Dr Alex Byrne, NSW State Librarian & Chief Executive 
Ms Julianne Evans, Director, LawAccess NSW 
Ms Maria Girdler, representing Community Legal 
Centres’ Group (NSW ) Inc., Manager, Macquarie Legal 
Centre 
Mr Bill Grant OAM, Chief Executive Officer, Legal Aid 
Commission of NSW 
Ms Katrina Ironside, Coordinator & Principal Solicitor, 
Public Interest Law Clearing House (March meeting ) 
Mr Geoff Mulherin, Director, Law and Justice 
Foundation of NSW 
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Ms Frances Sims, Director, Public Library & Learning 
Services, State Library of NSW 
The Hon. Paul Stein QC AM, Chair, Board of 
Governors, Law and Justice Foundation of NSW 
Mr Michael Talbot, Assistant Director General, Courts 
& Tribunal Services, NSW Department of Attorney 
General & Justice 
Mr Michael Tidball, Chief Executive Officer, 
Law Society of NSW 

IN ATTENDANCE 

Ms Sue Walden (Executive Officer) 
Manager, Legal Information Access Centre 

Library Council established the following committees 
and boards during 2012–13. They will be fully 
constituted during 2013–14. 

Education and Scholarship Committee to 
advise on educational matters and assist in building 
relationships with schools and other educational 
stakeholders. 

Indigenous Advisory Board to advise on matters 
relating to the use of library and information services 
by Indigenous peoples and on collection resources 
relating to Indigenous peoples, languages and cultures. 

Cultural and Linguistic Diversity Advisory Board 
to advise on cultural and linguistic matters. 

Mitchell Renewal Advisory Board to advise on 
planning the renewal of the built environment of the 
State Library. 



Library Council of NSW 2012–13 Annual Report 68 

 State Librarian’s 
performance statement 



Library Council of NSW 2012–13 Annual Report 69 

  

  
   

 

     

  

   
 

 
 

 

  
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

  
 

   

 
  

 
 

  
 

  
  

 

 
 

Organisational structure
 
as at 30 June 2013 

liBrarY CoUnCil 
of nsw 

dr alex BYrne 

Be (eL e c), g d i p Li b 

g d i p adv Li b , ma, pHd 
falia 

NSW STATE LIBRARIAN 
& CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

riCHard neVille ViCki mCdonald franCes sims lUCY milne Hakan Harman geoff HinCHCliffe 

Ba (Hons) ba , g r a d di p bu S i n e S S Ba Ba (Hons), ma (Hons) b co m , m pa d m i n aS S o c di p eL e c t en g 

ma (Hons) ad m i n i S t r at i o n gr a d di p ap p Sc(i n f o) gr a d ce r tar t S mg m t fCPa b S c (co m p Sc) (Hons) 
mBa mBa 

MITCHELL LIBRARIAN DIRECTOR DIRECTOR DIRECTOR DIRECTOR DIRECTOR 
LIBRARY SERVICES PUBLIC LIBRARY MARKETING & BUSINESS OPERATIONS & DIGITAL LIBRARY 

& LEARNING SERVICES DEVELOPMENT CHIEF FINANCIAL SERVICES & CHIEF 
OFFICER INFORMATION OFFICER 

fUnCtions rePorting to diVisions 

nsw dePartment of 
trade & inVestment 

Curation Access & Information Public Library Services State Library Financial Services ICT Services 

Fellowships Program 

Dixson Collection 

Original Materials 

Collection Services 

Collection Preservation 
& Storage 

Learning Services 

Drug info @ your library 

Legal Information 
Access Centre 

Foundation (including 
Volunteer Program) 

Events 

Exhibitions 

Human Resources 

Enterprise Information 

Facilities & Total Asset 
Management 

Online Information 
Services 

Digitisation & Imaging 

Discover Collections 

eRecords NSW.net Services Information Officers Security Digital Excellence program 

Merchandising Governance 
Venue Hire Enterprise Risk 
Media & 
Communications 

Management & 
Internal Audit 

Publications & Design 

Research & 
Development 

Government Relations 
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State Library committees
 

exeCUtiVe Committee as at 30 jUne 2013 

The committee is responsible for the strategic 
development and corporate management of the 
Library. Members are: 

Dr Alex Byrne BE (Elec), GDipLib, GDipAdvLib, 
MA, PhD, FALIA 
NSW State Librarian & Chief Executive 

Ms Lucy Milne BA (Hons), MA (Hons), 
GradCertArtsMgmt, MBA 
Director, Marketing & Business Development 

Ms Vicki McDonald BA, GradDip Business 
Administration 
Director, Library Services 

Mr Richard Neville BA (Hons), MA (Hons) 
Mitchell Librarian 

Ms Frances Sims BA, GradDipAppSc (Info) 
Director, Public Library & Learning Services 

Mr Hakan Harman BCom, MPAdmin, FCPA 
Director, Operations & Chief Financial Officer 

Mr Geoff Hinchcliffe AssocDipElectEng, 
BSc(CompSc) (Hons), MBA 
Director, Digital Library Services 
& Chief Information Officer 

75tH anniVersarY of tHe liBrarY aCt 

referenCe groUP 

Frances Sims (Executive Sponsor) 
Director, Public Library & Learning Services 
Cameron Morley 
Manager, Funding & Advisory Services 
Anne Doherty, Consultant, Public Library Services 

ColleCtion deVeloPment and aCqUisition 

working groUP 

Supports the development of the Library ’s collection 
by ensuring that appropriate collecting strategies are 
implemented. Chaired by Jerelynn Brown, Manager, 
Collection Services 

ColleCtion serViCes liBrarians forUm 

Fosters discussion of professional issues with 
presentations related to acquiring and cataloguing 
printed and online materials, including maps. 
Chaired by Joanne Drogitis, Collection Services 

ColleCtion storage & serViCe deliVerY 

working groUP 

Coordinates the activities and projects required to 
implement the Collection Storage Master Plan and the 
Collection Storage and Service Delivery Policy. Chaired 
by Catherine Thomson, A/Manager, Collection 
Preservation & Storage 

CoUnter disaster management Committee 

Maintains awareness throughout the Library of 
potential threats to collections, corporate records 
and services and maintains a current and effective 
Collection and Services Response Plan. Chaired 
by Catherine Thomson, A/Manager, Collection 
Preservation & Storage 

CUltUral diVersitY strategY steering 

Committee 

Develops a coordinated approach to work with 
and engage culturally and linguistically diverse 
communities as part of the Library ’s core role as a 
premier memory institution for the history of NSW, 
and for making its services and collections accessible 
for people in NSW. 

Frances Sims (Executive Sponsor) 
Director, Public Library & Learning Services 

CUltUral diVersitY working groUP 

Has accountability for developing action plan/s 
and communicating its progress. 

Frances Sims (Executive Sponsor) 
Director, Public Library & Learning Services 

digital exCellenCe Program 

goVernanCe Board 

Provides the overarching project governance, risk 
management and strategic direction for the program. 

Chaired by Geoff Hinchcliffe, Director, Digital 
Library Services & Chief Information Officer 

digital exCellenCe Program 

ProjeCt Control groUP 

Provides the manager-level project control and 
coordination of the two capital projects, Digitisation 
for Regional Discovery and Heritage Discovery and 
Digital Asset Management. 

Chaired by Robin Phua, Program Manager, 
Digital Excellence program 
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digitisation and imaging sUB-Committee 

Reports to the Technology Steering Committee and 
provides advice on the strategic development and 
implementation of collection digitisation and digital 
preservation. 

Chaired by Scott Wajon, Manager, Digitisation 

disaBilitY aCtion Plan adVisorY Committee 

Facilitates the development of a Library-wide vision 
for access to services and employment for disabled 
members of the NSW community; and supports the 
implementation of effective strategies and practices 
consistent with the Disability Action Plan. Chaired 
by Barry Nunn, A/Coordinator, Policy & Partnerships, 
Library Services 

ereCords Core ProjeCt team 

Monitors project status, issue and risk information, 
recommends project action and provides a forum 
for communication between the eRecords Program 
Manager, business owners and other stakeholders. 
Chaired by Jennifer Berryman, Program Manager, 
eRecords Project 

ereCords ProjeCt Program 

goVernanCe Board 

Provides overarching governance, project oversight 
and risk management for the eRecords Project. 

Chaired by Alex Byrne, NSW State Librarian 
& Chief Executive 

greening tHe liBrarY 

With representation from staff at all levels, this 
committee implements sustainability initiatives and 
engages staff to encourage sustainable behaviours. 

Chaired by David Franco, Manager, Facilities 

iCt serViCes sUB-Committee 

Provides advice on effectively prioritising and 
deploying ICT resources in the Library to manage 
ICT infrastructure and service delivery to staff and 
public clients. Chaired by Saraj Mughal, Manager, 
ICT Services 

innoVation ProjeCt steering Committee 

Steers and supports a project to pilot new Library 
services in an online world using social media and 
develops a model to further enable social-media based 

service delivery. Chaired by Noelle Nelson, Director, 
Library Services (to August 2012); Vicki McDonald 
(February 2013) 

nsw.net Content working groUP 

Identifies new content of interest to the NSW public 
library network and gauges interest from the network 
for potential product trials. 

Ross Balharrie, Service Delivery Coordinator, 
NSW.net Services 

online information serViCes sUB-Committee 

Provides advice on effectively prioritising and 
deploying resources for managing the Library ’s online 
environments, library and business systems and 
applications used by staff and clients. Chaired by 
Kate Curr, Manager, Online Information Services 

original materials aCqUisitions Committee 

Responsible for ensuring the effective implementation 
of Library-wide policies and practices to acquire 
original materials for the Library ’s collection. Chaired 
by Maggie Patton, Manager, Original Materials 

Permissions and CoPYrigHt Committee 

Chaired by Richard Neville, Mitchell Librarian 

PrioritY ColleCtions for ConserVation 

working groUP 

Considers and agrees on a listing of significant 
collection items suitable for possible Foundation 
funding. This listing informs the Collection 
Preservation & Storage conservation treatment 
program for high priority items. Chaired by 
Catherine Thomson, A/Manager, Collection 
Preservation & Storage 

PUBliC liBrarY network researCH Committee 

Frances Sims (Executive Sponsor)
 
Director, Public Library & Learning Services
 
Cameron Morley (Convenor) 

Manager, Funding & Advisory Services
 
Leanne Perry (Executive Officer), 

Consultant, Public Library Services
 

staff reCognition Program Committee 

Oversees the staff recognition program and comprises 
staff members from across the Library and a 
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representative from Human Resources. Chaired 
by Hakan Harman, Director, Operations & Chief 
Financial Officer 

joint ConsUltatiVe Committee 

Forum for formal consultation on industrial relations 
issues within the Library. 

Chaired by Hakan Harman, Director, Operations 
& Chief Financial Officer, and Phil Rigg, Chair, 
Workplace Committee 

teCHnologY steering Committee 

Provides Executive with appropriate levels of vision, 
governance, and visibility over digitisation and 
technology activities. Chaired by Geoff Hinchcliffe, 
Director, Digital Library Services & Chief Information 
Officer 

VolUnteer and staff CoUnCil 

Convened by Anne Doherty, Consultant, Public Library 
Services 

wellBeing Committee 

Assists in maintaining a workplace environment where 
the health and wellbeing of employees is highly valued 
and encourages employees to adopt healthy living 
practices. Chaired by Barry Nunn, A/Coordinator, 
Policy & Partnerships, Library Services (from February 
2013), Executive Sponsor Lucy Milne, Director, 
Marketing & Business Development 

work HealtH and safetY Committee 

Assists in securing and promoting the health, safety 
and welfare of staff, and promoting a positive and 
safe occupational environment. Chaired by Rachel 
Blackbourn, Team Leader, eRecords Project 
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Representation on key

external committees
 

aCCessing tHe arts groUP 

Barry Nunn, A/Coordinator, Policy & Partnerships, 
Library Services 

aBoriginal and torres strait islander 

liBrarY information resoUrCe network, 

exeCUtiVe Committee 

Ronald Briggs, Melissa Jackson, Indigenous Unit 

anzaC memorial Committee 

Richard Neville, Mitchell Librarian 

aUstralian and new zealand maPs soCietY 

Maggie Patton (President) 
Manager, Original Materials 

aUstralian diCtionarY of BiograPHY 

Andy Carr (Secretary, NSW Working Party) 
Team Leader, Access & Information 

aUstralian institUte for tHe ConserVation 

of CUltUral materials (nsw diVision) 

Dana Kahabka, Senior Conservator 
Collection Preservation & Storage 

aUstralian liBrarY and information 

assoCiation, Biennial ConferenCe Committee 

Ellen Forsyth, Consultant, Public Library Services 

aUstralian liBrarY and information 

assoCiation, PUBliC seCtor information 

adVisorY Committee 

Alexander Sussman, Coordinator, Collection 
Development & Acquisitions (to December 2012); 
Kim Thomson, Team Leader, Government 
Publications (from January 2013) 

aUstralian newsPaPer digitisation Program 

Jerelynn Brown, Manager, Collection Services 

aUstralian newsPaPer Plan nsw 

Jerelynn Brown (Convenor) 
Manager, Collection Services 

aUstralian soCietY for sPorts HistorY, 

tom BroCk BeqUest Committee 

Andy Carr (Secretary), Team Leader, 
Access & Information 

aUstralian soCietY of arCHiVists, 

indigenoUs issUes sPeCial interest groUP, 

exeCUtiVe Committee 

Kirsten Thorpe, Coordinator, Indigenous Unit 

BiBliograPHiCal soCietY of aUstralia 

and new zealand 

Maggie Patton, Manager, Original Materials 

CommUnitY relations Commission 

mUltiCUltUral Coordination Committee 

Oriana Acevedo, Consultant, Public Library Services 

CorroBoree festiVal working groUP 

Ronald Briggs, Melissa Jackson, Indigenous Unit 

CoUrse adVisorY Committee, liBrarY and 

information stUdies, sYdneY institUte, 

tafe nsw 

Barry Nunn, A/Coordinator, Policy & Partnerships, 
Library Services 

Csiro Vizie earlY adoPters groUP 

Mylee Joseph, Project Leader, Innovation Project 
Kathryn Barwick, Project Officer, Innovation Project 

diCtionarY of sYdneY 

Dr Alex Byrne, NSW State Librarian & Chief Executive 

disnsw (sYdneY disaster groUP) 

Catherine Thomson, A/Manager 
Collection Preservation & Storage 

drUg info @ YoUr liBrarY 

steering Committee 

Sue Walden, Manager, Legal information Access 
Centre and Drug Info Services 
Andrea Curr, Librarian, Drug info @ your library 

eleCtroniC resoUrCes aUstralia 

Sean Volke, Online & Licensing Librarian 
Collection Services 

geograPHiCal names Board of nsw 

Richard Neville, Mitchell Librarian 

goVernment attraCtions sYdneY 

Lucy Milne, Director, Marketing & Business 
Development 
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Head on PHoto festiVal jUdging Panel 

Alan Davies, Curator of Photographs, Original Materials 

HistorY CoUnCil of nsw 

Richard Neville, Mitchell Librarian 

iCt working groUP — enaBling information 

sHaring 

Geoff Hinchcliffe, Director, Digital Library Services 
and Chief Information Officer 

insPiring disaBilitY emPloYment in tHe arts 

(idea) meeting 

Barry Nunn, A/Coordinator, Policy & Partnerships, 
Library Services 

institUte of PUBliC affairs aUstralia, 

nsw PUBliC seCtor soCial media 

sPeCial interest groUP 

Mylee Joseph, Project Leader, Innovation Project 

international federation of liBrarY 

assoCiations, aCademiC and researCH 

liBraries standing Committee 

Vicki McDonald, Director, Library Services 

law and jUstiCe foUndation of nsw, 

legal information and referral forUm 

Sue Walden, Manager, Legal information Access 
Centre and Drug Info Services 

law soCietY of nsw, law week 

Planning groUP 

Catherine Bryant, Librarian, Legal Information Access 
Centre 

legal aid nsw, CooPeratiVe legal serViCe 

deliVerY Program 

Philippa Scarf, Legal Information Access Centre 

legal aid nsw, older Persons legal 

and edUCation Program 

Sue Walden, Manager, Legal Information Access 
Centre and Drug Info Services 

liBraries aUstralia adVisorY Committee 

Dr Alex Byrne, NSW State Librarian & Chief Executive 

liBraries aUstralia User groUP, nsw 

Robert Deininger, Collection Services 

loCal goVernment mUltiCUltUral network 

Oriana Acevedo, Consultant, Public Library Services 

loVe2read exeCUtiVe 

Kate O’Grady, Consultant, Public Library Services 

metroPolitan PUBliC liBraries assoCiation 

nsw 

Frances Sims, Director, Public Library & Learning 
Services 
Cameron Morley, Manager, Funding & Advisory 
Services 

miles franklin literarY award 

Richard Neville, Mitchell Librarian 

mUseUms and galleries nsw, 

aBoriginal referenCe groUP 

Ronald Briggs, Indigenous Unit 

mUseUms aUstralia Performing arts 

Heritage network 

Alexander Sussman, Coordinator, Collection 
Development & Acquisitions 

national deVeloPment and marketing forUm 

Lucy Milne, Director Marketing & Business 
Development 

national oral HistorY assoCiation of 

aUstralia 

Sally Hone, Curator, Oral History 

national Year of reading 

foUnder Partners Committee 

Cameron Morley, Manager, Funding & Advisory 
Services 
Kate O’Grady, Consultant, Public Library Services 

national and state liBraries aUstralasia 

(nsla), CHief exeCUtiVe CoUnCil 

Dr Alex Byrne (Deputy Chair), NSW State Librarian 
& Chief Executive 

nsla aCCessiBle Content Committee 

Richard Neville, Mitchell Librarian 

nsla CommUniCations and marketing groUP 

Lucy Milne (Chair), Director, Marketing & Business 
Development 
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nsla CommUnitY-Created Content 

Louise Prichard, Web Content Coordinator 

nsla digital ColleCting ProjeCt 

Alexander Sussman, Coordinator, Collection 
Development & Acquisitions 
Sally Hone, Curator of Oral History 
Scott Wajon, Manager, Digitisation & Imaging 

nsla digital PreserVation ProjeCt 

Geoff Hinchcliffe, Director, Digital Library Services 
& Chief Information Officer 

nsla eresoUrCes ConsortiUm 

Sean Volke, Online & Licensing Librarian, 
Collection Services 

nsla information serViCes ProjeCt 

Maria Wiemers, A/Coordinator, Access & Information 

nsla literaCY and learning ProjeCt groUP 

Megan Perry, Manager, Learning Services 

nsla oPen Borders ProjeCts 1 and 2 

Lynne Billington, Systems Librarian, and Kate Curr, 
Manager, Online Information Services 

nsla reimagining liBraries ProjeCts 

The Australian Libraries Collaborative Collection 
Jerelynn Brown, Manager, Collection Services 

nsla storage management groUP 

Richard Chester, Coordinator, Storage & Access, 
Collection Preservation & Storage 
Catherine Thomson, A/Manager, Collection 
Preservation & Storage 

nita B kiBBle literarY awards jUdging Panel 

Maggie Patton, Manager, Original Materials 

nsw anzaC CentenarY adVisorY CoUnCil 

HistorY Committee 

Dr Tracy Bradford, Head of Manuscripts 

nsw goVernment ageing strategY, 

teCH saVVY seniors steering Committee 

Anne Doherty, Consultant, Public Library Services 

nsw HealtH drUg faCts adVisorY groUP 

Andrea Curr, Librarian, Drug info @ your library 

nsw Home liBrarY serViCes network 

Anne Doherty, Consultant, Public Library Services 

nsw legal assistanCe forUm 

Sue Walden, Manager, Legal Information Access 
Centre and Drug Info Services 

nsw legal assistanCe forUm, 

learning and deVeloPment groUP 

Catherine Bryant, Librarian, Legal Information Access 
Centre 

nsw legal assistanCe forUm, 

Prisoners’ legal information team 

Sue Walden, Manager, Legal information Access 
Centre and Drug Info Services 

nsw.net Content working groUP 

Sean Volke, Online & Licensing Librarian, Collection 
Services 

nsw ParliamentarY Plein aire PHotograPHY 

Prize jUdging Panel 

Alan Davies, Curator of Photographs, Original 
Materials 

nsw PUBliC liBraries marketing groUP 

Victoria Anderson, Consultant, Public Library Services 

nsw statewide working groUP, 

YoUng PeoPle in liBraries 

Kate O’Grady, Consultant, Public Library Services 

nsw referenCe and information serViCes 

working groUP 

Ellen Forsyth, Consultant, Public Library Services 

PowerHoUse regional stakeHolders groUP 

Lucy Milne, Director 
Marketing & Business Development 

UniVersitY of western sYdneY, aBoriginal 

and torres strait islander emPloYment and 

engagement adVisorY Board 

Dr Tracy Bradford, Head of Manuscripts 
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additions at a glanCe 2012–13 

Items added this year (excluding manuscripts & oral history) 246,786 

Manuscripts acquired this year (in linear metres) 299 

Current serial titles (paper) 9,664 

Full-text online serial titles 53,005 

Web publications archived 544 

Digital images created (inhouse) 74,149 

state referenCe ColleCtion 

additions 
2010–11 

additions 
2011–12 

additions 
2012–13 

total as at 
30 june 

2013 

Monograph volumes 12,292 8,388 6,933 1,031,871 

Bound serials 4,466 3,271 1,696 500,328 

Newspaper volumes 1,152 1,234 1,176 61,391 

Microforms — 
reels & fiche 4,449 3,789 3,899 1,085,724 

Computer files 93 24 33 6,280 

Audiovisual material 
— tapes, discs, film, 
video 88 98 112 35,996 

Vertical file material 0 0 0 25,440 

rare Books and 
special Collections 

Monograph volumes 
and bound serials 1 10 35 25,224 

donald macPherson 
Collection 

Monograph volumes 
and bound serials 0 0 0 4,643 

shakespeare 
tercentenary library 

Monograph volumes 
and bound serials 12 13 3 5,623 

multicultural service 

Monograph volumes, 
talking books, kits 3,557 -6,045 943 62,637 

disability access service 

Large print, 
talking books, 
captioned videos 941 1,258 1,355 21,205 

mitCHell ColleCtion 

additions additions additions total as at 
2010–11 2011–12 2012–13 30 june 

2013 

Monograph volumes 7,376 7,462 8,433 440,095 

Bound serials 2,511 1,565 1,797 184,419 

Sheet music 61 3 39 22,884 

Microforms 265 211 -7,122* 154,787 

Computer files 8 6 6 499 

Audiovisual material 0 0 0 590 

Posters 68 120 132 9,852 

Bookjackets 389 460 445 25,219 

Ephemera 2,247 3,108 1,404 124,489 

manuscripts 

Manuscripts 
(in linear metres) 208.84 261.00 299.00 11,948.58 

Oral history (in hours) 25 170 73 11,251 

maps 

Individual 3,232 262 739 25,317 

Series sheets 6 461 0 79,558 

Pictures 

Paintings 17 12 218 2,354 

Prints and drawings 1,304 1,417 24,187 156,306 

Realia 24 22 2,038 5,335 

Photographs 
and negatives 15,764 6,754 196,279 1,424,076 

Architectural plans 1,672 1,350 2,006 119,788 

dixson ColleCtion 

Monographs and 
bound serials 

0 0 0 20,970 

Manuscripts 
(in linear metres) 

0 0 0 42.9m 

Pictures 

Portfolios 0 0 0 205 

Single items 0 0 0 1,581 

Maps 0 0 0 1,082 

Realia 0 0 0 268 

Coins, tokens, medals 0 0 0 8,156 

Paper currency 0 0 0 800 

Postage stamps 0 0 0 9,707 

Collection additions
 

*The net decrease in Mitchell microforms is due to the withdrawal of 7,289 
reels of microfilm in cellulose acetate that had deteriorated and were unable 
to be used. 



Library Council of NSW 2012–13 Annual Report 79 

 
 

 

 

 

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 

	 	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 

 

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 

 

 

 
 

DepoSitS, DonationS, bequeStS 
anD tranSferS 
The Library ’s collection documents life as it is lived 
in NSW through additions of original and published 
material. Publishers contribute through the legal 
deposit provisions of the NSW Copyright Act 1879, 
and similarly, NSW Government publishers deposit 
as required by the Premier’s Memorandum 2000–15: 
Access to published information: Laws, policy and 
guidelines. Significant pictorial, map and manuscript 
collections are acquired through donation, bequest 
and transfer. 

The Library accepts donations of published and 
original materials for the Mitchell Library 
to strengthen the Library ’s historical and research 
collections. Criteria for inclusion are detailed in the 
Library ’s Collection Donations Policy at <www.sl.nsw. 
gov.au/about/policies/docs/collection_donations_ 
policy.pdf>. 

annUal HigHligHts 

•	 697 books and 935 journal titles, including 60 new 
journal titles, were deposited by NSW government 
agencies 

•	 544 new ‘born digital’ titles originating in NSW were 
archived in PANDORA, Australia’s online archive; 
403 of these were published by NSW government 
agencies 

•	 4021 books and 5227 journal titles, including 
238 new journal titles, as well as posters, calendars 
and performance programs were received from 
commercial and private NSW publishers through 
legal deposit 

•	 Published material, including 23 new journal titles 
and 1248 books, was accepted from donors. 

•	 Donations of original and published material valued 
at $565,910 were accepted under the auspices 
of the Federal Government’s Cultural Gifts Program; 
in addition, donors gave original materials valued 
at $1,230,963. 

•	 The Library received a transfer from NSW Land 
& Property Information of a manuscript map 
of Wollongong attributed to Frederick Garling 
showing names of local landholders: Plan of town of 
Wollongong with sketch of Mount-Keera house and 
garden, Mount-Keera Road to Appin & ca. 1842. 

seleCted donations and dePosits 

Australia in style: Unique Australian travel experiences, 
4th ed. Milsons Point, NSW: RM Williams Publishing, 
2013. An illustrated guidebook featuring a selection 
of Australia’s regional travel destinations. Each 
‘experience’ includes eight pages of descriptions, 
images and details. NSW legal deposit. Deposited by 
the publisher. ML Q919.4047/21 

Australian Ageing Agenda Technology Review. 
Glebe, NSW: Intermedia Group, September, 2012–. 
Issued 3 times a year, this journal reports on aspects 
of technology used in health and aged care, both in 
Australia and internationally. Sections cover research, 
trials and pilot projects, new products, apps and 
gadgets. NSW legal deposit. Deposited by the publisher. 
ML Q362.60994/66 

Australian children’s comics 1930s to 1950s. This 
substantial collection includes titles and series not 
previously known, filling gaps and broadening the 
Library ’s significant comics collection. Titles include 
Tailspin Tommy, Bluey & Curly, Boofhead, Mandrake 
the Magician and The Silver Jacket. Donated by 
Kenneth Williams. ML Q741.5994/195, Q741.599405/7, 
Q741.5994/C594.8/1, Q741.5994/196, ML 059/93A 

Australian Consumer’s Association and Choice 
magazine records, 1915, 1959–2002. CHOICE, the 
Australian, not for profit consumer organisation, 
was previously known as the Australian Consumer’s 
Association. Founded in 1959, the organisation 
researches and campaigns on behalf of Australian 
consumers. Donated by the Australian Consumer’s 
Association. ML file 10/31 

Bondi stories. Angourie, NSW: Dan Webber, January, 
2013–. This annual literary journal publishes a range 
of genres, including poetry, fiction, essays, memoirs, 
reviews and interviews about Bondi’s history, culture 
and community. NSW Legal Deposit. Deposited by 
the publisher. ML 307.7605/2 

Burbangana: Take hold of my hand and help me 
up. Ultimo, NSW: Department of Education and 
Communities, 2012. The impressive achievements 
of Aboriginal students and staff in the Sydney Region 
are documented by this publication. It features the 
work in our public schools as well as the contribution 
made by partner organisations to improve the learning 
outcomes of Aboriginal students and strengthen 
understanding about Aboriginal cultures. Deposited 

www.sl.nsw
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under the Premier’s Memorandum 2000–15. 
ML Q371.82999/19; R GQ 2013/372 

David Jones: 175 years by Helen O’Neill. Sydney: 
NewSouth Publishing, 2013. The long-lived 
department store was founded in 1838 when retailer 
David Jones opened the doors of his first shop in 
Sydney. One hundred and seventy-five years later the 
business that bears his name continues with a number 
of stores around Australia. This book is a richly 
illustrated history of an Australian retail giant. NSW 
legal deposit. Deposited by the publisher. 
ML Q381.14109/5 

Devotion: Stories of Australia’s wartime nurses by 
Robyn Siers. Canberra: Department of Veterans Affairs 
in association with the Australian War Memorial, 
2013. This work explores the contribution and courage 
of Australian nurses in conflicts and peacekeeping 
operations from the Boer War to the present. This 
new commemorative publication features material 
from the Memorial’s collection, along with a map 
and timeline. Deposited by the publisher under the 
Commonwealth Library Deposit Scheme. 
ML Q355.34509/4; R GQ 2013/554 

Don’t dis my ability. Sydney, NSW: Department 
of Ageing, Disability and Home Care, 2012. This 
poster promotes the International Day of People 
with Disability and directs people to the website 
<dontdismyability.com.au>. Deposited under the 
Premier’s Memorandum 2000–15. ML POSTERS 2382 

Forty-five novels. A selection of award winning 
Australian crime fiction author Michael Robotham’s 
novels in translation, this collection strengthens 
the Library ’s collection of Australian literature 
published in languages other than English. Titles 
include Dein Wille geschehe: Psychothriller; Amnesie: 
Psychothriller; Nachtboot; Adrenalin: Roman; and Ferry 
de medianoche. Donated by Michael Robotham. 
ML 823.92/5741, ML 823.92/5737, ML 823.92/5736, 
ML 823.92/5745, ML 823.92/5681 

Len Fox illustrations from Vietnam and Sydney, c. 
1940–1960. Len Fox was heavily involved in anti-war 
and social justice campaigns of the 1950s and 60s. 
Key illustrations include Communist Party Meeting 
Woolloomooloo, 1948; and prints include Right wrongs 
write yes for Aborigines on May 27, and Japanese peace 
protest materials such as a poster for the film Children 

of Hiroshima. Bequeathed by Mona Alexis Fox (nee 
Brand), 2007. PXD 1298 

John Graham and Associates architectural plan 
archive, 1975–2011. This collection documents projects 
on significant historical sites in Sydney, including 
St Patricks Church Hill, 1997; Scots Church and 
Assembly Hall, Sydney, 1992; St Brigids, Millers Point, 
1997; Tin Sheds University of Sydney; Sacred Heart, 
Darlinghurst, 2003, and St Mary ’s Cathedral and 
Chapter Hall, 2005. Donated by John Graham through 
the Cultural Gifts Program. PXD 1184 

Hogue family papers relating to Oliver Hogue, 
1914–1919. Oliver Hogue, journalist and soldier, 
enlisted in the Australian Imperial Force in September 
1914 as a trooper with the 6th Light Horse Regiment. 
As ‘Trooper Bluegum’ he wrote articles for the Sydney 
Morning Herald. Sometimes representing war as 
almost a sport, he took pride in seeing ‘the way our 
young Australians played the game of war’. Oliver 
Hogue went through the whole campaign of the Desert 
Mounted Corps, and died of influenza at the 3rd 
London General Hospital on 3 March 1919. Donated by 
Anne Lane. MLMSS 8814 

iSight: NSW vision teachers’ quarterly newsletter. 
Sydney, NSW: Department of Education and 
Communities, 2012. The newsletter provides 
information to NSW Vision Support Teachers, their 
students and families. A key function of the newsletter 
is to celebrate students, and to support and encourage 
them to become confident and independent citizens. 
Deposited under the Premier’s Memorandum 2000– 
15. PANDORA electronic collection, archived version: 
http://nla.gov.au/nla.arc-139127 

Kosciuszko fishing map for Douglas Stewart, 
by Margaret Coen. Manuscript map drawn on Japanese 
silk created by Margaret Coen for Douglas Stewart 
c. 1960. The map indicates fishing spots around the 
Creel lodge in Kosciuszko National Park, and shows 
the town of Jindabyne before it was relocated as part 
of the Snowy Mountains Hydro-Electric Scheme 
in the late 1960s. Donated by Meg Stewart. 
MT3 814.14/1960/1A 

Objects through time: 100 objects that define modern 
Australia by Stephen Thompson. Sydney, NSW: 
NSW Migration Heritage Centre, 2012. Produced 
in partnership with the Powerhouse Museum, 
this publication traces the history of migration 

http://nla.gov.au/nla.arc-139127
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to Australia through a selection of significant objects 
spanning a 60,000-year period. Deposited under the 
Premier’s Memorandum 2000–15. 
ML Q609.94/14; R NQ609.94/9 

Norman Lee Pearce World War I diary. From 
Hillston, NSW, Pearce worked as a surveyor’s 
assistant before enlisting in the 5th Field Ambulance 
Unit in the Australian Imperial Force. After being 
evacuated from Gallipoli, Pearce transferred to the 
13th Field Artillery Brigade. He died at the Somme 
on 20 November 1916 and was buried at ‘Cough Drop’ 
Dressing Station near Bazentin le Grand in France. 
Gunner Pearce’s diary covers the period of his service 
in Egypt and France with accounts of daily routines, 
movements of his brigade through Egypt and France 
and refers to soldiers killed in action. Donated by the 
Trust Company Foundation on behalf of Mary Pearce. 
MLMSS 8587 

Photographs of Hotel Kosciusko and Snowy 
Mountains area between 1939 and 1951 by George 
Petersen. These photographs were taken during 
the time Petersen managed the Hotel Kosciusko. 
The albums with written captions, include views 
of the hotel, peaks in the Snowy Mountains, 
the Snowy River, skiing and scenes in the snow. 
Donated by Greg Petersen. PXD 1320 

Public Sydney: Drawing the city by Philip Thalis 
and Peter John Cantrill. Sydney, NSW: Historic 
Houses Trust of NSW and the Faculty of the Built 
Environment, University of NSW, 2013. This book 
describes the public buildings and spaces of Sydney 
with essays on the design and construction of the city, 
major buildings, places and parklands. There is an 
overview of 100 public sites within the city centre, 
with images, drawings, plans and a map of locations. 
Deposited under the Premier’s Memorandum 2000– 
15. ML F/2122; R GF 2013/15 

Radical Sydney, Radical History by Terry Irving and 
Rowan Cahill. Sydney, NSW: 2010. Radical Sydney 
began as a website devoted to the book Radical Sydney: 
Places, Portraits and Unruly Episodes, published by 
UNSW Press (2010). While this function continues, 
the blog has expanded as a platform for radical writing 
about history. PANDORA electronic collection, 
Archived version: http://nla.gov.au/nla.arc-131961 

Reflections in a glass-house: An image of Captain 
James Cook, for speaker, children’s chorus and 

orchestra, score by George Dreyfus, text by Lynne 
Strahan. Melbourne: Allans Music: 1969. An orchestral 
score written for the bicentennial of Captain Cook’s 
first voyage. Donated by George Dreyfus AM. 
ML 785.25/1 

Self-guided tour brochures. Sydney, NSW: Roads 
and Maritime Services, 2012. In conjunction with the 
National Trust, Engineers Australia, local councils 
and historical groups, Roads and Maritime Services 
produces self-guided tour brochures to support 
community appreciation of significant heritage areas 
and attractions in NSW. Includes Crossing the Blue 
Mountains: The Great Western Road. PANDORA 
electronic collection, Archived version: 
http://nla.gov.au/nla.arc-137946 

Streets ahead. Alexandria, NSW: Youth Off The 
Streets, 2012–. The biannual newsletter from Father 
Chris Riley ’s Youth Off The Streets covers work, 
programs and people including volunteers involved 
in helping to change the lives of abused and homeless 
youth. Includes experiences and stories as well as 
fundraising events and services. NSW legal deposit. 
Deposited by the publisher. ML Q362.7105/1 

Symphony of Australia: The first musical history 
of our nation composed by Gavin Lockley with 
contributions by Marie Bashir, Geoffrey Blainey, 
Roger Carrick, Michael Jeffery, Tim Fischer, Hugh 
Mackay and compiled by Michael Crouch. Condell 
Park, NSW: Symphony of Australia Pty Ltd, 2012. 
A musical telling of Australia’s history, which 
celebrates the Australian identity and land. The 
accompanying essays by prominent Australians 
provide context for the movements. Donated by 
Michael Crouch AO. ML F/2086 

Time to Roam Australia. Botany, NSW: Time to 
Roam Australia Pty Ltd, 2013–. The success story of 
the recreational vehicle industry in Australia is the 
subject of this magazine. Issued bimonthly, it covers 
caravan and camping stories, information about the 
latest trends in homes on wheels, examples of unique 
flora, fauna and spectacular scenery and celebrates 
the pioneers who helped make the industry what it is 
today. NSW legal deposit. Deposited by the publisher. 
ML Q 919.4068/1 

Willy wagtails by moonlight, screenplay by Patrick 
White, based on the story by Patrick White. Typescript 

http://nla.gov.au/nla.arc-137946
http://nla.gov.au/nla.arc-131961


Library Council of NSW 2012–13 Annual Report 82 

 

 

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

 

 

 

 

 

 

	 	 	 	 	
 

 
 

 

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	

manuscript of the screenplay. Donated by Penelope 
Nelson. MLMSS 8839 

Harry Woodward papers, 1918. Harry Woodward 
was born in 1892 and lived in Wentworthville, NSW. 
He enlisted in August and embarked in October 
1916, serving in France during WWI and returning 
to Australia in May, 1918 on the Karoola. The small 
notebook contains addresses, three poems, a list 
outlining the ‘Daily routine of a soldier’ and diary 
entries. Donated by Kevin Woodward. MLMSS 8845 

newsPaPers 

The Library aims to acquire, preserve, provide access 
to and digitise all NSW newspapers. There are 325 
current NSW newspapers, and the total number of 
newspapers known to have been published in NSW 
is now 2038. Four NSW newspapers first published in 
2012–13 were received from publishers through legal 
deposit and added to the Library ’s collection this year: 
•	 The Engadine District Pictorial News. Engadine, 

NSW: Wesley Adams, 2012. TN1268 
•	 Hunter Valley & North Coast Town and Country. 

Taree, NSW: Hunter Valley & North Coast Town and 
Country, 2012. TN1261 

•	 Nepean News. St Clair, NSW: Nepean News, 2012. 
TN1272 

•	 Wyong Regional Chronicle. Wyong, NSW: Ducks 
Crossing Publications, 2012. TN1264 
Eight titles were previously published and acquired 

for the first time this year: 
•	 The Bay Advocate. Batemans Bay, NSW: South Coast 

& Southern Tablelands Magazine. TN1267 
•	 Bowraville Guardian and Nambucca Gazette. 

Bowraville, NSW: The Macleay Argus for Bowraville 
Guardian. TN1265 

•	 The Branxton Advocate, Greta and Rothbury Reporter. 
Branxton, NSW: Branxton Advocate. TN1271 

•	 City Times. Sydney, NSW: City Times. TN1263 
•	 Hawkesbury District Independent News. Hawkesbury, 

NSW: Hawkesbury District Independent. TN1270 
•	 Kan Zhongguo ( Vision China Times). Mascot, NSW: 

shi bao bian ji bu. BN688 
•	 The Tamworth Advertiser. West Tamworth, NSW: 

Tamworth Advertiser. TN1266 
•	 Thai Media. West Ryde, NSW: Thai Media 

Newspaper. TN1262 

Helen selle BeqUest of artworks, C. 1856–1957 

In March 2013 the Library received a collection of 
16 artworks from the bequest of Helen Selle, the 
daughter of William McIlrath. McIlrath migrated to 
Australia from Ulster in 1890, aged about 12, and with 
his brother Martin became a successful businessman, 
philanthropist, a benefactor of Knox Grammar 
School and a foundation member of the council. The 
collection was assembled by Helen Selle and includes 
a portrait of her as a child. The artworks include: 
•	 Woolloomooloo House, c. 1856, Conrad Martens 

ML 1300 
•	 Grevillea Juniperina, c. 1900s, Ellis Rowan 

ML 1302 
•	 A Gleam of Light, c. 1910, Frederick McCubbin 

ML 1293 
•	 Indifference, Norman Lindsay, SV / 280 
•	 The Convex Mirror, c. 1916, George Lambert 

ML 1292 

Major purChaSeS 
Purchases are selected to meet the research and 
information needs of people throughout NSW, adding 
depth to the internationally renowned collections in 
the Mitchell and Dixson libraries, and strengthening 
the Library ’s general reference collection with 
published and online resources. 

The Library receives a capital allocation from 
the state government to acquire material for the 
collection, valued in 2010 at $2.142 billion. In 
2012–13 the capital allocation was $6.535 million 
accompanied by a recurrent allocation of $1.025 
million for online resources. In addition, the Library 
Foundation contributed funding enabling the purchase 
of Commentarii in Somnium Scipionis by Macrobius; 
Robin Dalton, further papers; the Nonesuch Dickens 
and the Queen Mary Atlas. 

seleCtion of major PUrCHases 

Aboriginal breastplate, King Charlie and Aboriginal 
breastplate, King Michie by John Verge. Before 
Governor Macquarie’s departure from the colony 
in 1820, he alone had the right to bestow breast or 
‘king ’ plates on Aboriginal chiefs. However, under 
Governor Brisbane, settlers took the liberty of making 
and conferring breastplates directly. John Verge, 
architect, builder and pioneer, settled at Austral 
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Eden in the Macleay River area. The association of 
these breastplates with John Verge indicates cordial 
relations between Verge and the Indigenous people 
of Austral Eden. ML13/83 

Airds and Bradbury, photographs by Jagath 
Dheerasekara, 2012–13. The Housing Commission’s 
‘Kentlyn’ subdivision of 1975 was constructed on the 
now discredited American Radburn principle and is to 
be demolished. Thirty-six digital colour photographs 
record one of the most socially disadvantaged suburbs 
of Sydney. ML13/133 

Australian Autism Aspergers Network Magazine, 
Marcoola Qld: Aspie Designs, 2013–. This magazine 
aims to promote understanding of people with autism 
and Aspergers and includes topics relating to both 
adults and children such as relationships, friendships, 
parenting, education, home schooling, living 
environments, employment, travel, the arts, music 
and technology. ML Q362.19685/1 

Be in Sydney in March 1932: Sydney Bridge 
Celebrations, designed by Fred Leist. Sydney, NSW: 
Simmons, 1932. This colour lithograph poster was 
produced to celebrate the opening of the Sydney 
Harbour Bridge in 1932 and depicts figures including a 
lifeguard, an Indigenous Australian and a British naval 
officer. The poster is a reflection of what contemporary 
society saw as important Australian identities. 
ML POSTERS 2346 

Beschreibung einer Reise nach der Botany Bay in 
Neuholland by Watkin Tench, published in Neue 
beiträge zur völker und länderkunde, vol. 13. Leipzig: 
Weygandschen Buchhandlung, 1790. A rare German 
translation of Watkin Tench’s important account of 
the First Fleet, Narrative of the expedition to Botany 
Bay, this publication was part of a geographical journal 
edited by Johann Reinhold Forster, a veteran of Cook’s 
second voyage. ML H2013/1270 

Cary’s new terrestrial globe … London: G & J Cary, 
1832; and Cary’s new celestial globe … London: J & W 
Cary, not before 1830. These table globes (380 mm 
diameter) are complete with brass meridian circles 
and hour rings on original mahogany stands. Each 
was constructed from 12 sets of gores. The terrestrial 
globe is annotated with navigational routes of several 
early Pacific explorers, and all three Cook voyages are 
shown. The celestial globe illustrates the stars and 
constellations of the Southern Hemisphere, c. 1820, 

including the discoveries of Edmund Halley and 
Abbe de Lacaille. ML Globe 7; ML Globe 8 

Commentarii in Somnium Scipionis by Ambrosius 
Aurelius Theodosius Macrobius. Impressi Brixae: 
Boninus de Boninis, M.CCCC.LXXXIII.die.vi.Iunii 
[6 June, 1483]. A rare volume containing the first 
appearance in print of the Macrobian world map, 
this work was printed less than 30 years after the first 
Gutenberg Bible. The text is a commentary on part of 
a work by Cicero portraying how the ancient Greeks 
and Romans believed the cosmos was arranged, and 
includes a description of a vast southern continent. 
The map shows a globe split in two — Europe and 
the balancing Antipodes — surrounded by ocean. 
ML MRB/Q95 

Common waxbill, 1782, and lyrebird watercolours 
by Sarah Stone. The drawings of the common waxbill 
(Estrilda astrild) and lyrebird (Menura) are executed 
in India ink and watercolour. One of the most highly 
regarded natural history artists from the second half 
of the 18th century, Stone is likely to have drawn these 
birds from specimens in Sir Ashton Lever’s collection 
in London. This is supported by the listing of a waxbill 
and two lyrebirds in the Leverian Museum catalogue 
of sale in 1806. PXD 1354 

Cosmos, Sylvania, NSW: Australuna Press, 1940– 
1941. Only 13 issues of this journal, written by and for 
science fiction fans, were produced. Features include 
news, letters, creative writing and critical essays 
on the science fiction genre. ML Q809.3876/4 

Empire Online. Marlborough, UK: Adam Matthew, 
2007. This online resource provides access to 
drawings and manuscripts relating to maritime 
exploration from the papers of Sir Joseph Banks 
through to Mungo Park’s African journal; and includes 
records from missionary archives documenting first 
contacts of Europeans with people at the furthest 
outposts of the Empire. The material spans cultural 
contacts throughout five centuries, from Columbus 
to decolonisation, and includes evidence of native 
populations and Indigenous peoples in Africa, India, 
Canada, Australia and the South Pacific. Accessible 
to registered clients at their place of choice, 24/7 via 
the Library ’s website. 

Fragment of a manuscript relating to the voyage of 
the Endeavour, 1768–1771, by Sir Joseph Banks. This 
manuscript details the chronology of the voyage of 
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the Endeavour and lists significant milestones: the 
departure from Plymouth, the discovery of Cook Strait, 
anchorage in Botany Bay, arrival at Endeavour River 
and the Endeavour’s departure from St Helena on the 
final leg of its return to England. It may have served 
as an aide-memoire for Banks in compiling his journal 
of the voyage. ML10/364 

Globe of the world, by Terrence Donovan, chief 
cartographer. Replogle Globes: Indianapolis, 2012. 
Made to order for the Library, the floor globe is 81 cm 
in diameter. When printed it was the most recent 
cartography available and provided an accurate 
depiction of the countries of the world, including 
over 22,000 place names. It is mounted on the 
Library ’s wooden stand with a brass meridian ring. 
On permanent display near the Information Desk 
on Lower Ground 1, Macquarie Wing. GLOBE 4 

The Green Parrot of Botany Bay, 1 March 1797, 
attributed to Sydenham Edwards, a British natural 
history illustrator and engraved by Barlow. The hand
coloured engraving depicts a parrot from the Sydney 
region, possibly a Superb Parrot, also known as a 
Barraband’s Parakeet, or Green Leek Parrot, which is 
native to south-eastern Australia. Perched on a branch, 
it is surrounded by distinctly English plants and 
background scene. SV 254 

Journal of a voyage on board the Arachne from 
London to Sydney, NSW, Wellington, NZ, and Manila 
(sic) back to Sydney and en route to England, 1842– 
1843, by Alexander Dow. The journal contains 197 
handwritten pages with daily entries that describe 
the voyages from London to Sydney and Wellington, 
returning to Sydney via Guam and Manila. Dow is a 
keen observer; and the journal provides an interesting 
record of the stays in Sydney, Newcastle, Wellington, 
Guam and Manila. MLMSS 8819 

Letter from Richard Owen to Francois Arago, on the 
taxonomy of the platypus, 1834. Richard Owen’s letter 
to Francois Arago, Secretaire Perpetuel de l’Institut 
Academie des Science, refers to his findings about the 
platypus described in a recent paper he had published 
in the Transactions of the Royal Philosophical Society 
(Part II, 1834, p. 563) and supporting his view that the 
platypus was a true mammal. MLMSS 8750 

Memorial to the King of Spain, no. 14, by Pedro 
Fernandez de Queirós, Madrid, Spain 1614. This is 
the fourteenth, previously unrecorded, memorial in 

the series of known Queirós presentation memorials. 
Queirós printed 14 memorials between 1607 and 1614 
at his own expense for presentation to the King at the 
Council of the Indies. In this memorial Queirós begs 
Phillip III to respond to his requests to support a new 
expedition to the lands he had earlier discovered in the 
Southern hemisphere. ML SAFE 1/ 5r 

Newtown shopkeepers by Nic Bezzina. Sydney: Nic 
Bezzina, 2013. This artist’s book captures snapshots of 
Newtown’s diverse shopkeepers from 2009–2012 and 
includes photographs of Gould’s Book Arcade, Gallery 
Serpentine and Hawleywood’s Barber. The images 
were exhibited in 2012 and then reproduced as an 
album. ML MRB/X11 

The Nonesuch Dickens by Charles Dickens. 
Bloomsbury: Nonesuch Press, 1937. One of the most 
significant editions of Dickens’ collected works, the 
text follows the ‘Charles Dickens Edition’ of 1867, 
the last edition to be personally edited by Dickens. 
The illustrations were printed from the steel plates 
used by the original publisher, Chapman & Hall. The 
steel plates were dispersed by including one in each 
of the published Nonesuch editions. This particular 
set contains an original engraved steel plate used for 
Nicholas Nickleby. SRL RB/2755 

Our changing cities, oil painting by William Edwin 
Pidgeon, 1957. The artist, a painter, cartoonist, 
illustrator, sculptor and art critic, also known as ‘ WEP’, 
won the Archibald Prize three times. The view looks 
east showing buildings and vehicles along Hickson 
Road, Sydney with the rear elevation of Caltex House 
(Kent Street), apparently under construction, 
in the background. In the lower left foreground 
‘BAN H-BOMB’ is painted on a low wall. ML 1278 

Physie, photographs by Lyndal Irons, 2012. The 
Bjelke Petersen Physical Culture schools, known as 
Physie, with more than 130 clubs nationwide, remain 
popular with women. Competitions throughout 
Australia culminated with a championship at the 
Sydney Opera House in 2012. ML13/132 

The ploughman and other poems by Patrick White 
with illustrations by L Roy Davies. Publisher’s edition. 
Sydney: Beacon Press, 1935. The only recorded copy 
of a publisher’s edition of this rare collection of 
Patrick White’s poetry. White is known to have burnt 
numerous copies of this work as he was unhappy 
with the quality of his writing. MRB/203 
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Puteschestivie w Botani-Bai s’ ocpicaniem ctrani, 
nravov, obichaev u religii ... by George Barrington. 
Translated from the French edition by Prince Alexsei 
Petrovich Golitsyn. Moskva: University Press, Lubiya, 
Gariya i Popova, 1805. This rare volume is a copy 
of the first Russian edition of Barrington’s narrative 
of a voyage to Botany Bay. ML 994.02092/42 

Proquest Historical Newspapers: Chinese Newspaper 
Collections 1832–1953. Ann Arbor, MI: ProQuest, 2013. 
Including 25 fully searchable newspapers in English 
such as the North China Herald, The China Press, The 
China Critic, and the China Weekly Review, this online 
resource provides a window into China’s turbulent 
transition from Imperial rule to becoming a Republic. 
All editions published 1832 through 1953 are included. 
Accessible to registered clients at their place of choice, 
24/7 via the Library ’s website. 

Remembering Lionsville, acrylic illustrations on 
paper by Bronwyn Bancroft, 2013. A Bandjalang artist 
of the Djanbun clan, Bancroft was born in Tenterfield, 
NSW, of an Indigenous father and a Scottish and 
Polish mother. An illustrator and author of numerous 
children’s publications, Bancroft works in a range of 
media producing paintings, prints and textile designs. 
The 16 illustrations are associated with her children’s 
book, Remembering Lionsville. PXD 1344 

The Saint John’s Bible, Heritage Edition. Collegeville, 
Minnesota: Liturgical Press, 2007–2012. A fine art 
limited edition reproduction of The Saint John’s Bible, 
which was the first hand-calligraphed and illuminated 
Bible to be commissioned by a Benedictine monastery 
since Gutenberg ’s printing press. The text is from 
the New Revised Standard Version and includes the 
Old and New Testaments as well as the Apocrypha. 
The Heritage Edition consists of seven volumes, 
each bound in red leather, with more than 160 
contemporary illuminations embellished with 
gold and silver foil. SRL RB/XF74 

Shark-net seahorses of Balmoral: A harbour memoir 
by Robert Adamson and Peter Kingston. Sydney: 
Chowder Bay Press, 2012. This limited edition artist’s 
book contains 21 prints by Peter Kingston. The upper 
lining of the lid reproduces the artist’s own musical 
score for piano, a song without words for Francis Webb. 
A light-sensitive circuit plays this piece when the box is 
opened. ML F/2033 

Sunda Strait and Batavia and Bantam, 1739, by Isaak 
de Graaf. These vellum charts are rare examples of 
official Dutch East Indies Company (VOC) charts 
for the navigation of Dutch vessels on the final leg 
of the Batavia trade route through the Sunda Straits 
to Batavia and Bantam. The charts were drawn in 
Amsterdam and additional place names for islands 
and new depth soundings have been marked in red. 
SAFE/M3 473.95/1739/1 and SAFE/M4 474/1739/1 

Vivian Thicknesse diaries, scrapbooks and 
photographs, 1931–1934. Vivian (Viv) Thicknesse 
excelled at a variety of sports including water polo 
and rugby union before turning to rugby league in 
1931. He represented Australia, touring Great Britain 
with the Kangaroos, Australia’s national rugby league 
team, in 1933–34. He maintained extensive records 
of his sporting career, including posters and souvenir 
programs. ML 12/388 

Wagga Wagga 2012 floods oral history project. 
In partnership with the Wagga Wagga City Library, 
the State Library commissioned local historian Sherry 
Morris to undertake interviews with 29 residents to 
document their experiences of the March 2012 floods. 
The flood in North Wagga Wagga and surrounding 
areas had a heavy impact, affecting thousands of people 
across the region and coming only eighteen months 
after a flood in December 2010. MLOH 689 

William Cooper papers, 1967–2011, including 
paintings for A Portfolio of Australian Birds, 1967–1968, 
and original fruit and leaf drawings for Fruits of the 
Australian Tropical Rainforest, 2004. William Cooper 
has had a lifelong interest in bird painting. After a stint 
as a department store decorator, Cooper transitioned 
to illustrating natural history. The archive includes 
correspondence and original artworks from across 
Cooper’s working life as one of Australia’s leading 
natural history illustrators. MLMSS 8920; PXD 1309; 
PXE 1495 
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  Public library grants
and subsidies 

pubLiC Library funDing 
Strategy 2012–13 
The NSW Government provided $26,528,000 in 
2012–13 to assist local authorities in the provision of 
public library services. The funds were managed and 
allocated by the State Library according to the Library 
Act 1939, the Library Regulation 2010 and the Public 
Library Funding Strategy as approved by the Minister 
for the Arts, as follows. 

Component amount 

1 subsidy 
$1.85 per capita, as prescribed in the Library Act 1939 and the Library Regulation 2010 

$13,503,243 

2 disability and geographic adjustment 
Additional weighting paid to each council in addition to prescribed funding. The weighting is in part 
based on individual council demographic factors such as the number of children, older people, 
multicultural communities, dispersed populations and relative isolation. 

$6,551,966 

3 nsw.net 
Provides subsidised internet connectivity and online content to NSW public libraries. 
Includes $500,000 (Year 2 of $2 million over four years) for wireless hotspots in country libraries. 

$2,440,000 

4 outback letterbox library 
The Outback Letterbox Library service is operated by Broken Hill City Council on behalf of the residents 
of the Unincorporated area of NSW and Central Darling Shire. 

$100,000 

5 strategic network projects 
Projects that support the strategic development of the public library network, including the purchase 
of multicultural collections, professional development, research, statistical collection and dissemination, 
sector wide communication and programs, association support etc. 

$449,560 

6 state library services to public libraries 
Funding to support the delivery of State Library services to public libraries. 

$433,235 

7 library development grants 
A competitive grant program for the purposes of improving public library facilities and services. 
Grants are approved by the Minister for the Arts on the recommendation of the Library Council of NSW. 
The $2 million Country Libraries fund component of the State Government’s ‘Building the Country’ 
package is allocated via the library Development Grants program. 

available to metropolitan sydney councils: 
available to country councils: 

$549,996 
$2,000,000 

8 revitalising regional libraries grants 
$500,000 (Year 2 of $2 million over four years) for country councils. 

$500,000 

total Public library grants and subsidies $26,528,000 
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disability/ 
geographical 

expenditure 
voted 

Council 
Population 

2011 
adjustment 

2012–13 
july 2012 to 

june 2013 notes 
Per 

head 

$ $ $ 

Albury  51,359 136,672  2,556,844  49.78 

Armidale 
Dumaresq

 26,005 87,616  1,129,661 43.44 

Ashfield  43,152 114,344  2,080,014 48.20 

Auburn  80,352 210,599  2,523,500  31.41 

Ballina  42,922 115,611  1,494,300 34.81 

Balranald  2,438 19,632  68,600  28.14 

Bankstown  191,460 470,624  29,691,153 ** 155.08 

Bathurst  40,187 120,159  1,497,727  37.27 

Bega Valley  34,035 105,888 979,587  28.78 

Bellingen  13,490 51,137  631,483 46.81 

Berrigan  8,618 39,310  588,507 68.29 

Blacktown  313,057 778,251  9,087,159  29.03 

Bland  6,432 33,727  322,612  50.16 

Blayney  7,322 32,725  148,905  20.34 

Blue 
Mountains

 78,060 201,453  2,267,318  29.05 

Bogan  2,995 21,987  183,273  61.19 

Bombala  2,612 21,477  89,303  34.19 

Monaro

Coonamble  4,291 25,436  218,420  50.90 

Cootamundra  7,782 34,397  326,700  41.98 

Corowa  11,818 49,527  346,187  29.29 

Cowra  12,940 46,005  318,899  24.64 

Deniliquin  7,591 34,354  525,612  69.24 

Dubbo  42,108 113,769  1,723,233  40.92 

Dungog  8,762 35,710  193,338  22.07 

Eurobodalla  37,846 113,340  1,647,907 43.54 

Fairfield  197,749 491,853  5,485,572  27.74 

Forbes  9,818 38,859  263,828  26.87 

Gilgandra  4,680 25,307  284,967  60.89 

Glen Innes 
Severn

 9,306 53,815  753,868  81.01 

Gloucester  5,272 28,653  159,186  30.19 

Gosford  168,787 419,054  5,755,666  34.10 

Goulburn 
Mulwaree

 28,924 91,762  1,586,626 54.85 

Great Lakes  36,171 109,156  1,235,930  34.17 

Greater Hume  10,423  60,272  440,154 42.23 

Greater Taree  49,453  131,495  2,473,400  50.02 

Griffith  26,001  81,022  855,891  32.92 

Gundagai  3,878  24,076  141,100 36.38 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
  

State funDing for pubLiC 
LibrarieS anD LoCaL 
governMent voteD expenDiture 

state 
funding total local 

subsidy & government 

Boorowa  2,482 20,172  56,179  22.63 

Botany Bay  40,871 109,202  1,449,000  35.45 

Bourke  3,096 22,566  264,308  85.37 

Brewarrina  1,911 19,633  57,632  30.16 

Broken Hill  19,703 67,451  818,153  41.52 

Burwood  34,079 94,303  1,977,715  58.03 

Byron  32,661 92,013  1,133,000  34.69 

Cabonne  13,446 48,056  271,891  20.22 

Camden  58,306 154,263  2,391,800  41.02 

Campbelltown  154,551 380,399  4,071,880  26.35 

Canada Bay  80,954 220,851  3,049,263  37.67 

Canterbury  146,930 366,990  3,993,310  27.18 

Carrathool  2,938 22,150  266,607  90.74 

Cessnock  52,610 140,745  1,225,242 23.29 

Clarence 
Valley

 52,816 205,342  779,452  14.76 

Cobar  5,145 32,126  316,000  61.42 

Coffs Harbour  73,296 186,816  1,804,802  24.62 

Conargo  1,678 29,472  69,580  41.47 

Coolamon  4,211 24,632  160,030  38.00 

Cooma-  10,524 42,721  202,474  19.24 

Gunnedah  12,353  45,047  290,396 23.51 

Guyra  4,567 25,650  159,406 34.90 

Gwydir  5,391  44,067 181,983  33.76 

Harden  3,679  23,058 145,548  39.56 

Hawkesbury  64,312  170,736  2,956,064 45.96 

Hay  3,315 23,804  277,508  83.71 

Hills, The  182,007  446,520  5,152,883 28.31 

Holroyd  104,013  259,431  3,219,420  30.95 

Hornsby  164,934  405,074  6,685,743  40.54 

Hunters Hill  14,663  47,515 504,800 34.43 

Hurstville  81,428 204,343  5,203,054  63.90 

Inverell  16,953  57,851  1,069,576  63.09 

Jerilderie  1,658  16,449 208,564  125.79 

Junee  6,327  29,977  356,929  56.41 

Kempsey  29,581 85,826  899,347  30.40 

Kiama  21,139  63,130  1,272,784  60.21 

Kogarah  59,999  153,495  2,530,853  42.18 

Ku-ring-gai  116,389  288,154 4,625,800  39.74 

Kyogle  9,891  39,001  339,755  34.35 
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state 
funding 

subsidy & 
total local 

government 

Population 

disability/ 
geographical 

adjustment 

expenditure 
voted 

july 2012 to Per 
Council 2011 2012–13 june 2013 notes head 

$ $ $ 

Lachlan  6,856  35,440  309,170  45.09 

Lake 
Macquarie

 202,347  498,660  8,935,332  44.16 

Lane Cove  33,976  90,783  3,147,101  92.63 

Leeton  11,932 46,845  524,267 43.94 

Leichhardt   56,303  143,726  2,503,371 44.46 

Lismore  46,091  119,803  1,687,200  36.61 

Lithgow  21,164 64,466  1,717,043  81.13 

Liverpool  188,577  479,718  7,542,364  40.00 

Liverpool 
Plains

 7,997  39,442  395,620  49.47 

Lockhart  3,279  21,116 96,800  29.52 

Maitland  71,653  184,733  3,359,480  46.89 

Manly  42,775  111,324  1,861,926  43.53 

Marrickville  79,478  199,308  4,424,196  55.67 

Mid-Western  23,007  87,337  3,004,840  130.61 

Moree Plains  14,465 55,300  807,475 55.82 

Mosman  29,414  80,333  2,501,194  85.03 

Murray  7,347  37,179  169,593  23.08 

Murrumbidgee  2,558  20,563 34,560 13.51 

Muswellbrook  16,923  57,430  641,713  37.92 

Nambucca  19,416  62,575  730,500  37.62 

Narrabri  13,769  50,282  761,733  55.32 

Narrandera  6,291  30,019  376,050  59.78 

Narromine  6,830  30,502  400,479 58.64 

Newcastle  157,663  387,509  8,435,717  53.50 

Rockdale  103,369  257,484 3,255,492  31.49 

Ryde  107,307  266,497 5,437,746  50.67 

Shellharbour  68,339  174,093 1,870,153  27.37 

Shoalhaven  98,076  262,788 2,738,224  27.92 

Singleton  24,331  72,937 1,596,527  65.62 

Snowy River  8,255  40,417 187,961  22.77 

Strathfield  37,045  102,868 1,381,050  37.28 

Sutherland  220,798  538,977 6,639,830 ***  30.07 

Sydney  185,422  465,873 9,115,033 ****  49.16 

Tamworth  60,167  209,958 2,381,821  39.59 

Temora  6,218  29,857 306,462  49.29 

Tenterfield  7,118  35,225 328,042  46.09 

Tumbarumba  3,766  24,751 162,176  43.06 

Tumut  11,501 42,948 473,308  41.15 

Tweed  90,542  245,714 2,162,348  23.88 

Upper Hunter  14,373  74,293 549,260  38.21 

Upper Lachlan  7,592 44,383 323,000  42.54 

Uralla  6,315  29,473 247,621  39.21 

Urana  1,251  15,245 30,351  24.26 

Wagga Wagga  63,906  163,258 1,907,009  29.84 

Wakool  4,362  27,786 194,196  44.52 

Walcha  3,279 22,268 139,000  42.39 

Walgett  7,171  37,150 225,772  31.48 

Warren  2,844  19,984 259,344  91.19 

Warringah  147,047  361,681 6,743,056  45.86 

Warrumbungle  10,295  56,955 490,096  47.61 

Waverley  70,238  177,493 4,740,522  67.49 

Weddin  3,801  24,230 194,316  51.12 

Wellington  8,725  35,423 322,321  36.94 

Wentworth  7,065 32,904 418,625  59.25 

Willoughby  70,705  178,690 4,896,429  69.25 

 

 

   

 
 

North Sydney  65,318  165,287  3,233,720  49.51 

Oberon  5,461  27,711  187,113 34.26 

Orange  40,062  107,000  1,701,410  42.47 

Palerang  14,834 66,800  295,994  19.95 

Parkes  15,267  52,771  877,347  57.47 

Parramatta  176,355 433,942  7,993,248 45.32 

Penrith  188,082  462,138  7,260,624 38.60 

Pittwater  60,684  154,170 4,877,587  80.38 

Port  77,045  197,359 3,007,953  39.04 
Macquarie-
Hastings

Port Stephens  68,503  184,267 2,411,138  35.20 

queanbeyan  41,686  115,123 1,402,255  33.64 

Randwick  133,945  330,460 8,421,920  62.88 

Richmond 
Valley

 23,213  87,413 643,660  27.73 

Wingecarribee  47,294 126,644 1,519,076  32.12 

Wollondilly  44,790 125,362 1,242,425  27.74 

Wollongong  204,025  499,883 10,534,019  51.63 

Woollahra  56,906 144,983 3,389,261  59.56 

Wyong  152,758  379,623 4,825,051  31.59 

Yass Valley  15,450  60,315 426,498  27.61 

Young  13,135  49,858 323,728  24.65 

total  7,299,050  20,055,210  319,174,003 

**	 Includes cost of new library building, refurbishment of a branch library 
& implementation of RFID 

***	 Excludes overheads 
**** Excludes overheads & depreciation 
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Library DeveLopMent Country LibrarieS funD 
grantS prograM 2012–13 grantS 2012–13 
In 2011–12, 10 councils were awarded Library 
Development Grants, and 23 councils received 
grants under the Country Libraries Fund program. 
The grants were used by councils to enhance public 
library services, systems and facilities, and to build 
collections for local communities across the State. 

Council Project Project type grant 

Bankstown Chester Hill Library 
Extension and 
Refurbishment 

Building $107,141 

Burwood New Burwood Library 
and Community Hub 

Building $200,000 

Camden Pop-up Library Outreach 
Innovative 
Programs 

$22,791 

Mosman Interactive Learning 
Centre for Seniors 

Technology $43,114 

Randwick Paper Cuts: Randwick 
Press Clippings 
Digitisation 

Local Studies 
Digitisation 

$7,211 

Strathfield Implementation of Radio 
Frequency Identification 
Technology 

Technology $68,989 

The Hills Touching History: Taking 
Yesterday’s Maps into 
Tomorrow 

Digitisation, 
Local Studies, 
Technology 

$50,750 

Woollahra Paddington Library 
Rejuvenation 

Building $50,000 

total (8) $549,996 

Council Project Project type grant 

Bogan Bogan Shire Library 
refurbishment 

Building $149,320 

Cessnock Radio Frequency 
Identification 
Implementation 

Technology $161,397 

Clarence 
Valley 

Radio Frequency 
Identification 
Implementation 

Technology $97,550 

Coffs Harbour Radio Frequency 
Identification 
Implementation 

Technology $193,650 

Coonamble Library Connections: 
Services and Programs for 
the Indigenous Community 

Outreach $82,170 

Corowa Establishment of a Library 
for Howlong 

Building $95,000 

Dubbo eLending: Establishment of 
an ebook collection 

Collection 
Development 

$63,949 

Gilgandra Adult Literacy: A Second 
Chance 

Outreach, 
Collection 
Development 

$30,467 

Great Lakes Digitise Great Lakes: 
Establishing an Online 
Collection of Local 
Historical Resources 

Local Studies 
Digitisation 

$85,688 

Great Lakes eRead: eresources for 
Greater Taree and Great 
Lakes libraries 

Collection 
Development 

$73,061 

Greater Hume Henty Library Development Building $200,000 

Greater Taree Pop-up and Portable 
Library 

Outreach 
Innovative 
Programs 

$42,364 

Griffith Radio Frequency 
Identification Solution 

Technology $70,800 

Gwydir Warialda Library: 
Connecting the Community 

Technology $47,000 

Harden Expansion of Harden Library Building $34,373 

Inverell Ebooks for Inverell Technology $25,750 

Kempsey A Sparkling Library for 
Kempsey (refurbishment) 

Building $147,310 

Moree Plains Bringing Books to Life for 
Pre-schoolers 

Outreach, 
Collection 
Development 

$11,469 

Murrumbidgee Library Futures on Wheels 
(Mobile Library) 

Mobile Library 
Outreach 

$113,300 

Nambucca Large Print and Audio 
Collection Development 

Collection 
Development 

$66,650 

Narrandera Microfilm Viewer/ Scanners Technology $43,909 

Parkes Embracing ebooks Collection 
Development 

$33,750 

Uralla Local History and Family 
Research Hub 

Technology $30,024 

Warren Birth to Kindergarten 
Collections and Programs 

Outreach, 
Collection 
Development, 
Technology 

$50,703 

Wentworth Microfilm Scanner for 
Historical research 

Technology $17,490 

Wollongong Illawarra Remembers 
1914–18 

Technology, 
Local Studies 
Digitisation, 
Collection 
Development 

$32,856 

total (26) $2,000,000 

All NSW councils were invited to apply for 2012–13 
Library Development / Country Libraries Fund Grants 
in September 2012. Applications were due on 
23 November 2012. 
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revitaLiSing regionaL 
LibrarieS grantS prograM 
year 2 
Council rrl payment 

Albury  $ 16,000 

Bellingen  $ 16,000 

Bland  $ 16,000 

Bogan  $ 16,000 

Clarence Valley  $ 16,000 

Coonamble  $ 16,000 

Dungog  $ 16,000 

Eurobodalla  $ 16,000 

Gilgandra  $ 16,000 

Gloucester  $ 16,000 

Glen Innes-Severn  $ 16,000 

Greater Taree  $ 16,000 

Guyra  $ 16,000 

Kyogle  $ 16,000 

Mid Western Region  $ 16,000 

Muswellbrook  $ 16,000 

Nambucca  $ 16,000 

Newcastle  $ 16,000 

Parkes  $ 16,000 

Palerang  $ 16,000 

Port Stephens  $ 16,000 

queanbeyan  $ 16,000 

Richmond Valley  $ 16,000 

Shoalhaven  $ 16,000 

Upper Hunter  $ 16,000 

Warren  $ 16,000 

Wentworth  $ 16,000 

Yass Valley  $ 16,000 
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  Publications and 
in formation available 

Staff pubLiCationS, 
ConferenCe paperS 
anD preSentationS 

PUBliCations 

Brien, DL and R Franks (2012), ‘Libraries and Archives: 
trusted repositories of knowledge and vibrant engine 
rooms of creativity ’, TEXT: Journal of Writing and 
Writing Courses: Special Issue 20092012, 16(2) (online) 

Brien, DL and R Franks (2013), ‘Think Creative / 
Be Creative’, inCite, 34(1/2), 35–36 

Carr, A 2012, ‘Acquisitions: Asia as Pegasus’, 
SL magazine, Volume 5, Number 3, p. 32 

Carr, A 2013, ‘Acquisitions: Germany ’s Europe in 1914’, 
SL magazine, Volume 6, Number 2, p. 26 

Carr, A 2013, ‘Archives of Aquarius’, SL magazine, 
Volume 6, Number 1, pp. 20–21 

Franks, R 2013, ‘Establishing an Emotional 
Connection: librarians as collectors, curators and 
storytellers’, Jean Arnot Memorial Fellowship 2013: 
highly commended essay. Sydney: State Library of 
NSW (online) 

Franks, R 2013, ‘Connectedness: communities of crime 
fiction readers’, The Asian Conference on Literature 
and Librarianship Conference Proceedings: refereed 
conference papers of the 3rdr Asian Conference 
on Literature and Librarianship, 2013, 190–202 

Franks, R 2012, ‘Grey Matter: the ageing librarian 
workforce, with a focus on academic and public 
libraries, in Australia and the United States’, 
APLIS: Journal of Australasian Public Libraries 
and Information Services, 25(3), 104–110 

Franks, R 2012, ‘Out in the Cold: the NSW State 
Librarian raises awareness of homelessness in 
Australia’, Public Library News, 18(2), 42–43 

Franks, R 2012, Motive for Murder: reading crime 
fiction. Discovery: refereed conference papers of the 
Australian Library and Information Association 
Biennial Conference, 2012 (online) 

Moir, S 2013, ‘Jacket files’, SL magazine, Vol. 6, No. 1
 
pp. 32–33.
 

Neville, R 2013, with Frost, S & Brauer, K 2013, 

‘I’m looking into the eyes of someone I’m related to …’, 

Treasures of Newcastle from the Macquarie Era, 

State Library of NSW, pp. 22–28
 

Neville, R 2013, Sir William Dixson: A Passion for 
Collecting, State Library of NSW 

Reddacliff, A 2012, ‘Pin-Pointing Communities: 
The NSW State Library ’s Innovation Project’, Incite, 
Volume 34, Issue 3, p. 22 

Sussman, A 2013, ‘The Macrobian World’, SL magazine, 
Vol. 6, No. 1, pp. 34–35. 

ConferenCe PaPers 

Berry, D 2012, ‘Getting Connected to your State Library 
for Genealogical Research’, Deniliquin Genealogical 
Muster, 11 August 2012 

Berry, D 2013, ‘SLNSW Family History Resources: 
Enhancing Electronic Access’, NSW & ACT State 
Conference, Association of Family History Societies, 
Botany Bay, 14–16 September 2012 

Berryman, J 2012, ‘Practical Research: Examples from 
the Field’ — case study, Research for Practitioners: 
In a Nutshell, One-day Workshop of the ALIA Research 
Committee, Sydney, 4 July 2012 

Bradford, T 2013, ‘ William Lawson and the 1813 
Crossing of the Blue Mountains’, 12th Annual Penrith 
History Conference: Crossing the Great Divide, 
Penrith, 9 March 2013 

Carney, M and Aman, H 2013, ‘Opposite Sides of the 
Same Street’, New Librarians Symposium, Brisbane, 
10–11 February 2013 

Carney, M and Aman, H 2013, ‘Judges, Governors 
and Changing Libraries’, ALIA New Librarians’ 
Symposium, Brisbane, 9 February 2013 

Caron, G, Ellis, N and Kahabka, D 2012, Poster: ‘A Case 
Study in the Treatment of Two Eighteenth Century 
Dutch Atlases’, AICCM Book, Paper and Photographic 
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Materials Symposium, State Library of Queensland, 
Brisbane, 29–31 August 2012 

Carr, A 2013, ‘From Ptolemy to Trig Surveys: 
Cartography in the Collections of the State Library 
of New South Wales’, Changing Face of Cartography, 
Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute, Sydney, 
13 February 2013 

Clark, B 2012, ‘Lost in England: The State Library ’s 
Unique English Resources for Genealogists 
Researching their English Ancestry ’, Lost in England, 
Sydney, 3 November 2012 

Curr, K and Patton, M 2013, ‘Towards Digital 
Excellence’, ALIA Information Online 2013, Brisbane, 
13 February 2013 

Curr, K, Patton, M and Wajon, S 2013, ‘Towards Digital 
Excellence’, ALIA Information Online 2013, Brisbane, 
12–15 February 2013 

Forsyth, E 2012, ‘Are We Delivering Extreme Technical 
Skill?’, ALIA Biennial, Sydney 13 July 2012 

Forsyth, E 2012, Playing to Learn: Games and 
Crowdsourcing for Adult Education’, Learning for 
All Conference, Melbourne 14 September 2012 

Forsyth, E with Choi, Crystal and Johnston C 2013, 
‘Social Media and the ALIA Biennial: Discovery in 
More Ways than One’, Information Online, Brisbane, 
12–15 February 2013 

Houghton, K and Joseph, M 2013, eXtra dimensions: 
exploring augmented library spaces and social media, 
ALIA Information Online 2013, Brisbane, 
12–15 February 2013 

Jackson, M 2012, ‘Rediscovering Indigenous 
Languages: Rio Tinto/SLNSW Joint Project’, 
Aboriginal Studies Association Conference, 
University of Sydney, 14 December 2012 

Joseph, M 2013, ‘Building capacity for digital 
engagement: change agents and innovation’, 
Intelligent Information Symposium 2013, 
Sydney, 6–7 June 2013 

Molino, L 2013, ‘Access for Clients with a Disability ’, 

NSW Home Library Service Network Annual 

Conference, State Library of NSW, Sydney, 

10 April 2013
 

Ngo, L 2012, Poster: ‘Preserving the Federated Society 

of Boilermakers, Iron and Steel Shipbuilders of 

Australia trade union banner’, AICCM Book, Paper and 

Photographic Materials Symposium, State Library 

of Queensland, Brisbane, 29–31 August 2012
 

Patton, M 2013, ‘Focusing on Maps through Social 

Media’, The Metropolis and Beyond: mapping the 

natural and built environments, ANZMapS conference, 

Melbourne, 10 April 2013
 

Perkins C 2013, ‘Creating a Magazine: Satisfying the 

Organisation and the Reader’, IPEd National Editors 

Conference, Perth WA, 12 April 2013 


Perry, M 2012, ‘Reaching Out: State Library of NSW 

Community Learning Services’, Learning for All, 

Public Libraries in Australia and New Zealand, 

Melbourne, 13 September 2012
 

Prichard, L 2013, ‘Down the Rabbit Hole: Possibilities 

and challenges of Mobile Content Delivery ’, 

ALIA Information Online 2013, Brisbane, 

12–15 February 2013
 

Thorpe, K 2013, ‘Coming Home: Repatriation of 

Indigenous Australian Archival Records and Research 

Data’, International Conference of Indigenous 

Archives, Libraries, and Museums, Santa Ana Pueblo, 

New Mexico, USA, 10–13 June 2013
 

Presentations 

Acevedo, O 2012, Presentation to the CRC 
Multicultural Coordinators Forum, 12 September 2012 

Anderson, V and Doherty, A 2013, ‘Demonstrating 
Your Value Strategically and What’s New in Public 
Libraries?’ Presentation to Wyong Shire Libraries 
Professional Development Day, 7 January 2013 

Azzopardi, J 2013, ‘NSW.net and the WiFi Hotspot 
Rollout’, Digital Library Launch at Shellharbour 
City Libraries, Warilla, 23 May 2013 
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Balharrie, R 2013, ‘eLending and Public Libraries’, 

Lithgow and Surrounding Libraries Staff Meeting, 

Lithgow Library, 23 October 2012
 

Balharrie, R 2013, ‘NSW.net eLending Portal’, Regional 

Managers Meeting, State Library of NSW, 

19 February 2013
 

Balharrie, R 2013, ‘NSW Public Libraries, eBooks and 

the Development of the eLending Portal’, ALIA eBooks 

and eLending Think Tank at State Library of NSW, 

28 May 2013
 

Bartley, C, Bell, S, Ellis, N, Kahabka, D and Thomson, C 

2013, Preserving Photographs, Lifelong Learning, 

30 May 2013
 

Berg, D 2013, ‘Researching Your Stocks and Shares’, 

Lifelong Learning, State Library of NSW, 

12 March 2013
 

Berry, D Gosford, N and Spinks, K 2012 and 2013, 

‘Access to Newspaper Records through the State 

Library of NSW’, presentations to the Central Coast 

Family History Service, State Library of NSW, 

31 October 2012, 9 November 2012 and 8 March 2013
 

Berry, D Gosford, N McGann, R and Reddacliff, A 2012, 

‘Peering into the Past: Family History Online & 

On Foot’, presentations for Family History Week, 

State Library of NSW, 28 July to 5 August 2012
 

Berryman, J 2012, ‘The State Library Innovation 

Project’, Technology in Libraries Seminar, 

State Library of NSW, 21 September 2012
 

Bradford, T 2012, ‘James Cook RN: Explorer, Navigator 

and Cartographer’, Australian Institute of Navigation, 

8 August 2012
 

Bradford, T 2013, ‘1813 Crossing of the Blue 

Mountains’, Out of the Vaults, State Library of NSW, 
16 May 2013 

Bradford, T 2013, ‘1813 Crossing of the Blue 
Mountains’, Curator’s talk, Penrith City Library, 
29 May 2013 

Bradford, T 2013, ‘1813 Crossing of the Blue 
Mountains’, Curator’s talk, Springwood Library, 
4 June 2013 

Bradford, T 2013, ‘1813 Crossing of the Blue 
Mountains’, Out of the Vaults, State Library of NSW, 
6 June 2013 

Bradford, T 2013, ‘The WWI collections of the State 
Library of NSW’, Sydney Legacy, 27 June 2013 

Brooks, A, Caron, G and Hughes, K 2012, 
DeDramatising Disasters workshop presented to State 
Records at Kingswood, Sydney, 29–30 August 2012 

Brooks, A, Harvey, C, and Hughes, K 2012, ‘Preserving 
Your Family History ’, Lifelong Learning, 
6 September 2012 

Brown, J 2013, ‘Launch of the Cessnock Eagle & South 
Maitland Recorder’, Cessnock City Council Library, 
20 May 2013 

Carr, A 2012, ‘A Bird’s Eye View of Sydney’, From the 
Ground Up, State Library of NSW, 24 August 2012 

Carr, A 2012, ‘Introducing the Map Collections at the 
State Library of NSW, NSW Libraries Australia User 
Group, State Library of NSW, 30 November 2012 

Carr, A 2013, ‘From Ptolemy to Trig Surveys: 
Cartography in the Collections of the State Library 
of New South Wales’, Changing Face of Cartography, 
Surveying and Spatial Sciences Institute, Surry Hills, 
13 February 2013 

Davies, A 2013, ‘Erotica’, Out of the Vaults, 
State Library of NSW, 14 February 2013 

Carter, B and Holz, W 2012, Presentation on garden 
history to the Independent Scholars Association of 
Australia, State Library of NSW, 27 September 2012 

Clark, B 2012, ‘AJCP Holdings’, Blue Mountains Family 
History Society, Katoomba, 25 August 2012 

Cootes, S 2012, ‘Banquets, Roadkill and Serviettes: 
Food at the State Library ’, Food & Words: Food 
Writers’ Festival, The Mint, Sydney, 13 October 2012 
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Cootes, S and Volke, S 2012, ‘eReaders and Libraries’, 
Australian Seniors Computer Clubs Association 
Members’ Forum, Sydney, 3 September 2012 

Curr, K 2013, ‘Register of War Memorials’, Local 
Government NSW — War Memorial Management 
Forum, Anzac Memorial, Sydney, 22 May 2013 

Davies, A 2013, ‘My Favourite Photographs’, 
Out of the Vaults, State Library of NSW, 4 April 2013 

Edmonds, E 2013, ‘Souvenirs Brought Back from WWI: 

The Poignant to the Plain Weird’, Library Circle, 

State Library of NSW, 20 June 2013
 

Fitzgerald, P 2012, ‘Building a Toolkit and iPads 

in Action’, Primary Teachers History Professional 

Learning Day, State Library of NSW, 27 October 2012
 

Fitzgerald, P 2013, ‘Online Resources from the State 

Library of NSW’, Regional Teacher Workshop, 

New England Girls School, Armidale, 12 April 2013
 

Forsyth, E 2012, ‘Future Reference’, workshop for 

Central Northern Regional Library training day, 

Tamworth, 17 August 2012
 

Forsyth, E 2013, ‘Pinterest for Local Studies’, 

presentation to Local Studies meeting, Lithgow, 

21 March 2013
 

Forsyth, E 2013, ‘Home Library Hangout: Google+ 

Hangout Possibilities to Connect Readers’, Focus 

on Seniors seminar, State Library, 10 April 2013
 

Franks, R 2013, ‘Connectedness: Communities of 

Crime Fiction Readers’, A Virtual Presentation 
for IAFOR Asian Conferences (LibrAsia YouTube 
Channel), LibrAsia – The 3rd Asian Conference 
on Literature and Librarianship, Osaka, April 2013 

Franks, R 2012, ‘Motive for Murder: Reading Crime 
Fiction’, The Australian Library and Information 
Association (ALIA) Biennial 2012 ‘Discovery ’ 
Conference, Sydney, 12 July 2012 

Gosford, N and Spinks, K 2013, ‘Climb your Family 
Tree’, Lifelong Learning, State Library of NSW, 
3 May 2013 

Gosford, N and Spinks, K 2013, ‘Climb your Family 
Tree’ with the Society of Australian Genealogists, 
Lifelong Learning, State Library of NSW, 
21 June 2013 

Gratton, G 2013, ‘Learning with the World: Skype 
and VC in the Classroom’, Teaching and Learning, 
Technology and Libraries, State Library of NSW, 
24 May 2013 

Gratton, G 2012, ‘Apps for Managing your Research’, 
The Project: History Extension Seminar, State Library 
of NSW, 7 November 2012 

Hennock, J and Hewitt, L 2013. ‘Reliving the 60s’, 
Lifelong Learning series, State Library of NSW, 
20 June 2013 

Hinchcliffe, GL 2013, ‘Establishing Digital Excellence’, 
Charles Sturt University Student Visit, State Library 
of NSW, 30 April 2013 

Hinchcliffe, GL 2013, ‘Establishing Digital Excellence’, 
Australian Society of Archivists, State Library of NSW, 
20 March 2013 

Hinchcliffe, GL 2013, ‘The Digital Excellence Program’, 
Preservation and Archiving Conference, State Library 
of Queensland, 27 February 2013 

Hinchcliffe, GL 2013, ‘Digital Excellence Program’, 
Staff Presentation, State Library of Queensland, 
25 February 2013 

Hinchcliffe, GL 2013, ‘About the State Library of NSW’, 
Trade and Investment ERP Workshop, State Library 
of NSW, Sydney, 29 January 2013 

Hinchcliffe, GL 2012, ‘The Digital Library of the 
Future’, NSW Public Libraries Seminar, State Library 
of NSW, 21 September 2012 

Hinchcliffe, GL 2012, ‘The Year in Review ’, Foundation 
Annual General Meeting, State Library of NSW, 
30 August 2012 

Hinchcliffe, GL 2012, ‘Creating the Digital Library 
of the Future’, Teacher Librarian Conference, 
Abbotsleigh College, Sydney, 13 August 2012 
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Hone, S 2012, ‘Giving the Bridge a Voice: Celebrating 
Sydney Harbour Bridge’s 80th birthday ’ (with Frank 
Heimens, oral historian and filmmaker), State Library 
of NSW, 22 August 2012 

Joseph, M 2012, ‘Do You Know What Your Teen is 
Doing Online?’, Waverley Library, 26 July 2012 

Joseph, M 2013, ‘Innovation Project’, Libraries 
Australia NSW User Group, State Library of NSW, 
22 March 2013 

Joseph, M 2013, ‘Innovation Project: State Library 
of NSW’, Wikipedia in HE, University of Sydney 
University, 5 April 2013 

Joseph, M 2013, ‘Social Media in Learning: Adding 
Pinterest and Historypin to Your Professional Toolkit’, 
Teaching and Learning, Technology and Libraries, 
State Library of NSW, 24 May 2013 

Joseph, M 2013, ‘Building Capacity for Digital 
Engagement: Change Agents and Innovation’, 
Intelligent Information Symposium, Sydney, 
6–7 June 2013 

Joseph, M 2013, ‘Social media for libraries’, City of 
Sydney Libraries Public Program, Customs House, 
Sydney, 27 June 2013 

Lawn, M 2013, ‘Medieval and Renaissance 
Music Manuscripts in Our Collection’, Sydney 
Conservatorium 3rd Year students, State Library 
of NSW, 21 March 2013 

McGann, R and Spinks, K 2012, ‘Taste of Family 
History ’, Lifelong Learning, State Library 
of NSW, 9 October 2012 

McGann, R and Spinks, K 2013, ‘Taste of Family 
History ’ with the Society of Australian Genealogists, 
Lifelong Learning, State Library of NSW, 
11 February 2013 

Milne, L 2012, ‘Corporate Sponsorship: An outside-in 
approach’, Regional Galleries & Museums Conference, 
Powerhouse Museum, 9 November 2012 

Milne, L 2012, ‘Promoting e-resources’ Electronic 
Resources Australia, State Library of NSW, 
10 July 2012 

Moir, S 2012, ‘Zines in the Library ’s Collection’, 
Community Learning Services Young Writers session, 
State Library of NSW, 5 November 2012 

Morley, C 2013, Address at the Opening of the new 
Byron Bay Library, 9 February 2013 

Neville, R 2012, ‘Richard Browne portraits of Awabakal 
people in Newcastle Art Gallery ’, Newcastle Art 
Gallery Focus Exhibition, 7 July 2012 

Neville, R 2012, ‘Imaging at the State Library of NSW’, 
Canon Information Research Systems, 19 July 2012 

Neville, R 2012, ‘Lewin: Wild Art’, National Library 
of Australia, 28 July 2012, 2 and16 August 2012 

Neville, R 2012, ‘Colonial and Provincial: Art in early 
Australia’, University of Adelaide Graduate Studies 
in Art History, 10 September 2012 

Neville, R 2012, ‘Insights into Colonial Art’, Art Gallery 
of South Australia Friends, 11 September 2012 

Neville, R 2012, ‘The Resources of the Mitchell Library 
for Local Stories and National Narratives’, Royal 
Australian Historical Society Annual Conference, 
20 October 2012 

Neville, R 2012, ‘Colonial Art as Fine Art — Lewin: 
Wild Art’, Colonial Art Exhibitions: Past, Present and 
Future, University of Melbourne, 23 November 2012 

Neville, R 2013, ‘The TAL & Dai-ichi Earl of Derby 
Collection’, Newcastle Art Gallery, 14 February 2013, 
and Wollongong Art Gallery, 7 March 2013 

Neville, R 2013, ‘The Impact of the Macquarie Era 
on Modern Australia’, Treasured Talks: Treasures 
of Newcastle from the Macquarie Era, Newcastle Art 
Gallery, 19 March 2013 

Neville, R 2013, ‘Sir William Dixson: Glows with the 
White Heat of Importance’, State Library of NSW, 
24 April 2013 
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Neville, R 2013, ‘Mr. J.W. Lewin: Painter & Naturalist’, 

WEA, Sydney, 29 May 2013
 

O’Grady, K 2013, ‘Libraries and Young People’, 

Presentation to Inner West and Marrickville combined 

Youth Interagency meeting, 9 April 2013
 

Patton, M 2013, ‘Some plaies … worthy of keeping ’, 

Shakespeare, 1916 and Antipodal Memory: 

A Symposium, State Library of NSW, 22 April 2013
 

Perry, L 2012, ‘State Library and NSW Public Libraries: 

Working Together’, Presentation to NE zone meeting, 

29 November 2012 


Perry, L 2012, ‘Key Performance Indicators in Local 

History ’, Presentation to the Local Studies Working 

Group, 31 October 2012
 

Perry, M 2012, ‘Online Resources for the Australian 

Curriculum’, Regional Teacher Librarian Workshop, 

Coffs Harbour High School, 9 August 2012
 

Perry, M 2012, ‘State Library Resources for the 

Australian Curriculum’, Riverina Professional 

Association of Teacher Librarians conference — 

‘Dare-Care-Share’, Lake Albert Public School, 

Wagga Wagga, 19 October 2012
 

Perry, M 2012, ‘Online Resources for the Primary 

Classroom’, Primary Teachers History Professional 

Learning Day, State Library of NSW, 27 October 2012
 

Perry, M 2012, ‘Online Resources for the Australian 

Curriculum from the State Library of NSW’, Regional 

Teacher Workshop, Kinross Wolaroi, Orange, 

22 November 2012 


Perry, M 2012, ‘State Library Resources for 

The Project’, The Project: History Extension Seminar, 

State Library of NSW, 7 November 2012
 

Perry, M 2012 ‘State Library Resources for Extension 

2 English’, Teaching Extension 2 English, English 

Teachers Association of NSW, University of Sydney, 

24 November 2012
 

Perry, M 2013, ‘Online resources for Society and 

Culture’, Unlocking the Conceptual Mystery Society 


and Culture Association, State Library of NSW, 
22 February 2013 

Perry, M 2013, ‘State Library resourcing the Australian 
Curriculum’, School Library Association of NSW 
Professional Learning Day, State Library of NSW, 
9 March 2013 

Perry, M 2013, ‘Online Resources for the Australian 
Curriculum — History and English’ Teaching and 
Learning, Technology and Libraries, State Library 
of NSW, 24 May 2013 

Perry, M 2013, ‘Online Resources for the Australian 
Curriculum’, Regional Teachers workshop, MacKillop 
Senior College, Port Macquarie, 5 June 2013 

Pryke, O and Tegart, L 2012, ‘From O to OMG! 
Developing a Mobile Application for Interpretation 
and Research’, Future Challenge: Interpretation 
Australia National Conference, Melbourne, 
15 November 2012 

Pryke, O 2012, ‘Adding Up Value and Value-adding ’, 
Measuring and Improving Library Value: Defining 
Indicators of Quality and Impact Conference, Sydney, 
29 November 2012 

Sims, F 2013, Public address, opening of Mudgee Town 
Hall and Regional Library, 11 April 2013 

Sims, F 2013, Public address, Launch of Digital 
Canterbury Project, Campsie Library, 22 March 2013 

Sims, F 2012, Address, National Year of Reading 
Celebration, Blacktown City Library, 23 November 2012 

Sims, F 2012, Public address, launch of Queanbeyan 
Library, 23 August 2012 

Sturgeon, A 2013, ‘Online resources for teachers’, 
Through the Looking Glass, MANTLE Conference 
at Newcastle Town Hall, 17 May 2013 

Sussman, A 2012, ‘ebooks and the State Library 
of NSW. Keynote speech at the Association of 
Independent Schools of NSW Secondary Teacher 
Librarian Group ebook Seminar at the Presbyterian 
Ladies College, Concord, 4 September 2012 



Library Council of NSW 2012–13 Annual Report 100 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

 
 

 

 

   

   

 

 
 

Sussman, A 2012, ‘Collection Development and 

Acquisition at the State Library ’, Community Learning 

Services session for Charles Sturt University students, 

State Library of NSW, Sydney, 25 September 2012
 

Sussman, A 2012, ‘ebooks at the State Library of NSW: 

An Overview of the Challenges’, Shanghai Digital 

Publishing and Editing Technique Group students, 

University of Technology, Sydney, 29 October 2012
 

Sussman, A 2013, ‘ebooks at the State Library of NSW 

and Current Developments’, Professional Learning 

Day for Public School Librarians 2013, State Library 

of NSW, 24 May 2013
 

Sussman, A 2013, ‘ebooks at the State Library of 

NSW and current developments’, School Libraries 

Association of NSW ebook Seminar 2013 at 

the RSL Club, Parramatta, 14 June 2013
 

Thorpe, K 2013, ‘Indigenous Libraries and Archives’, 

guest lecture to Recordkeeping Fundamentals 

students, University of Technology, Sydney, 

29 April 2013 


Thorpe, K 2013, ‘Indigenous Unit State Library of 

NSW’, Blackchat, Koori Radio, Gadigal Information 

Service, Sydney, 6 May 2013
 

Thorpe, K 2013, ‘Connecting Libraries, Archives 

& Aboriginal Communities: Digital Repatriation’, 

guest lecture Nura Gili students, University of NSW, 

20 May 2013
 

SeLeCteD pubLiCationS 
anD inforMation avaiLabLe 

PUBliCations 

Library Council of NSW Annual Report 2011–12 
State Library of NSW Foundation Annual Report 
2011–12 
Living Learning Libraries 2012 
People Places: A Guide for Public Library Buildings 
in NSW, 3rd edition 
Public Library Statistics 2011–12 

gallerY gUides 

The Greatest Wonder of the World 
The Life of Patrick White (with the National Library 
of Australia) 
Sir Wiliam Dixson: A Passion for Collecting 
Treasures of Newcastle from the Macquarie Era 

Hot toPiCs: legal issUes in Plain langUage 

Published by the Legal Information Access Centre 
(LIAC) 
$22 an issue, $82.50 annual subscription 
Hot Topics 80: International Humanitarian Law 
Hot Topics 81: Child Care and Protection 
Hot Topics 82: Families 
Hot Topics 83: Consumer Law 
Hot Topics 84: Voting and Elections 
Complimentary copies are provided to legal agencies, 
including NSW community legal centres, Legal Aid, 
Courts and the Aboriginal Legal Service. Two free 
copies are also provided to all NSW public libraries. 

liBrarY Blogs 

See website for a complete list. 

researCH gUides 

See website for a complete list. 

magazines and newsletters 

SL magazine (four issues)
 
Public Library News (three issues)
 
Volunteers’ Voices (one issue)
 

mUseUms aUstralia mUltimedia and 

PUBliCation design awards 2013 

Winners: What’s On, SL magazine 
Highly commended: Library Council of NSW Annual 
Report 2011–12, Lewin: Wild Art invitation, The Life of 
Patrick White gallery guide (with the National Library 
of Australia) 

governMent inforMation 
(pubLiC aCCeSS) 
Annual reporting requirements under section 125 
of the Government Information (Public Access) 
Act 2009 (GIPA Act). 

As a NSW Government agency, the State Library is 
required to comply with the GIPA Act. The Library is 
committed to openness and transparency in carrying 
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taBle a: nUmBer of aPPliCations BY t YPe of aPPliCant and oUtCome* 

access access access information information refuse to refuse to confirm/ application 
granted granted in refused not already deal with deny whether withdrawn 

in full part in full held available application information is held 

Media 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Members of Parliament 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Private sector business 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Not for profit organisations 
or community groups 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Members of the public 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 
(application by legal 
representative) 

Members of the public (other) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

*More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a recording must be made in relation to each such decision. 
This also applies to Table B. 

taBle B: nUmBer of aPPliCations BY tYPe of aPPliCation and oUtCome 

access access access information information refuse to refuse to confirm/ application 
granted granted in refused not already deal with deny whether withdrawn 

in full part in full held available application information is held 

Personal information 
applications* 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Access applications 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 
(other than personal 
information applications) 

Access applications that are 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 
partly personal information 
applications and partly other 

  

out its functions, providing a significant amount of 
information about our operations, services, functions, 
activities and policies to the community through 
our website. 

r e V i e w o f P r oaC t i V e r e l e a s e P r o g r a m 

Under section 7(1) of the GIPA Act, the State Library 
is authorised to proactively release any government 
information that it holds, so long as there is no 
overriding public interest against disclosure. 

As part of our proactive release program, we review 
our information as it is produced and make it available 
online where appropriate and as soon as practicable. 
During the reporting period, a range of administrative 
procedures, program and project information was 
released proactively online, in addition to information 
already available on our website. 

n U m B e r o f aCC e s s a P P li C at i o n s r e C e i V e d 

Two formal access applications were received by 
the State Library during 2012–13. A decision on 
one internal review was pending as at 30 June 2013 
and will be included in next year’s report. 

n U m B e r of r e f U s e d aCC e s s a PP li C at i on s 

fo r s C H e d U l e 1 i n fo r m at i o n 

We did not receive any applications for the disclosure 
of information referred to in Schedule 1 (information 
for which there is a conclusive presumption of 
overriding public interest against disclosure). 

s tati s ti C a l i n fo r m ati o n 

The following statistical tables are provided 
in accordance with Schedule 2 of the Government 
Information (Public Access) Regulation 2009 
issued under the GIPA Act. 

*A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in clause 4 of Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant 
(the applicant being an individual). 
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taBle C: inValid aPPliCations 

reason for invalidity number of 
applications 

Application does not comply with formal requirements 
(section 41 of the Act) 

0 

Application is for excluded information of the agency 
(section 43 of the Act) 

0 

Application contravenes restraint order (section 110 of the Act) 0 

Total number of invalid applications received 0 

Invalid applications that subsequently became 
valid applications 

0 

number of times 
consideration 

used* 

Overriding secrecy laws 0 

Cabinet information 0 

Executive Council information 0 

Contempt 0 

Legal professional privilege 0 

Excluded information 0 

Documents affecting law enforcement and public safety 0 

Transport safety 0 

Adoption 0 

Care and protection of children 0 

Ministerial code of conduct 0 

Aboriginal and environmental heritage 0 

number of occasions 
when application 

not successful 

Responsible and effective government 0 

Law enforcement and security 0 

Individual rights, judicial processes 
and natural justice 

2 

Business interests of agencies and other persons 2 

Environment, culture, economy and general matters 0 

Secrecy provisions 0 

Exempt documents under interstate 
Freedom of Information legislation 

0 

number of 
applications 

Decided within the statutory timeframe 
(20 days plus any extensions) 

2 

Decided after 35 days (by agreement with applicant) 0 

Not decided within time (deemed refusal) 0 

Total 0 

decision decision total 
varied upheld 

Internal review 0 0 0 

Review by Information 
Commissioner* 

0 0 0 

Internal review following 0 0 0 
recommendation under 
section 93 of Act 

Review by ADT 0 0 0 

Total 0 0 0 

taBle d: ConClUsiVe PresUmPtion of oVerriding 
PUBliC interest against disClosUre: matters listed 
in sCHedUle 1 of tHe aCt 

*More than one public interest consideration may apply in relation 
to a particular access application and, if so, each such consideration 
is to be recorded (but only once per application). 

This also applies in relation to Table E. 

taBle e: otHer PUBliC interest Consider ations against 
disClosUre: mat ters listed in taBle to seCtion 14 of tHe aCt 

taBle f: timeliness 

taBle g: nUmBer of aPPliCations reViewed Under 
Part 5 of tHe aCt (BY tYPe of reView and oUtCome) 

*The Information Commissioner does not have the authority to vary 
decisions, but can make recommendation to the original decision-maker. 
The data in this case indicates that a recommendation to vary or uphold 
the original decision has been made by the Information Commissioner. 

taBle H: aPPliCations for reView Under Part 5 of tHe aCt 
(BY tYPe of aPPliCant) 

number of 
applications for 

review 

Applications by access applicants 0 

Applications by persons to whom information the subject 
of access application relates (see section 54 of the Act) 

1 

w H e r e t o f i n d m o r e i n f o r m at i o n 

Information on the various means of accessing 
State Library corporate information under 
the GIPA Act can be found on our website at 
<www.sl.nsw.gov.au/about/rti/index.html>. 

Please direct informal requests, formal applications 
or questions on the operation of the GIPA Act at the 
Library to: 

Right to Information Officer 
State Library of NSW 
Macquarie Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Telephone: (02) 9273 1796 or (02) 9273 1433 
Fax: (02) 9273 1255 
Email: rti@sl.nsw.gov.au 
Please note that a valid access application cannot 

be made for information that is contained in a record 
that forms part of the State Library ’s collections, 
as defined in Schedule 4 (Clause 13) of the GIPA Act. 

www.sl.nsw.gov.au/about/rti/index.html


Library Council of NSW 2012–13 Annual Report 

 

 

 
 

 

 

privaCy ManageMent pLan 
The State Library is required to report on compliance 
with the requirements of the Privacy and Personal 
Information Protection Act 1998 (PPIP Act), and 
to provide statistical details of any internal review 
conducted under Part 5 of the PPIP Act. 

The Library supports the objectives of the privacy 
laws and is committed to the ongoing protection of 
personal information through our normal protocols, 
privacy management program, compliance strategies, 
policies and procedures. 

The Library ’s Privacy Management Plan outlines 
how the Library complies with the PPIP Act and the 
Health Records and Information Privacy Act 2002 
(HRIP Act). 

During the year we revised and implemented an 
updated Privacy Management Plan and various privacy 
forms, factsheets and procedures, as well as added 
privacy notices to various forms and incorporated 
privacy requirements in new and revised Library 
policies. We also implemented a new privacy section on 
our website providing improved access to information 
on Library privacy management practices and links 
to external resources. In addition, we addressed 
three low-level risks identified as opportunities for 
improvement in the privacy audit conducted by 
Deloitte in May 2012. 

Mechanisms are in place through our staff and 
contractor induction program to make State Library 
staff aware of their privacy obligations under the PPIP 
Act and the HRIP Act. This year, in addition to our 
ongoing awareness program, we conducted privacy 
training for our people leaders. 

The Privacy Management Plan and related privacy 
information, web privacy statement and forms are 
available on the Library ’s website at <www.sl.nsw.gov. 
au/about/privacy/index.html>. Requests for access 
to personal information held by the State Library 
may be made by contacting: 

Privacy Contact Officer 
State Library of NSW 
Macquarie Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Tel: (02) 9273 1796 
Fax: (02 9273 1255 
Email: privacy@sl.nsw.gov.au 

statistiCal details on anY reView 

CondUCted Under Part 5 of tHe PPiP aCt 

A person aggrieved by the conduct of the Library 
is entitled to seek an ‘internal review ’ if they believe 
the Library has breached its privacy obligations. 

No internal reviews were conducted under Part 5 of 
the PPIP Act by or on behalf of the State Library during 
the reporting period. 

103 

http:www.sl.nsw.gov


Library Council of NSW 2012–13 Annual Report 

 

 

 

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 

	 	 	 	 	 

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	 	 	 

 

	

	 	 	
	 	

p u b L i C i n t e r e S t D i S C Lo S u r e S 
The Library is required to report annually on our 
obligations under the Public Interest Disclosures Act 
1994 (PID Act). 

The Library has a strong commitment to ethical 
conduct as a core value together with integrity, 
honesty, fairness and impartiality in all operational 
activities and is committed to protecting public 
officials who make disclosures about wrongdoing 
in the public sector. 

The State Library of NSW, a cultural institution 
within the NSW Trade & Investment cluster, applies 
the Department’s Internal Reporting – Public Interest 
Disclosure policy and procedure, which can be viewed 
at <www.trade.nsw.gov.au/policy/TI-A-123>. 

The department’s policy establishes the reporting 
procedures for staff to make public interest disclosures 
in accordance with the requirements of the PID Act 
and includes a list of internal public interest disclosure 
(PID) receivers. The NSW State Librarian & Chief 
Executive is a PID receiver. Public interest disclosures 
and reporting obligations to the NSW Ombudsman 
are coordinated by the Department. 

The following action has been taken to ensure that 
staff are aware of the policy and protections available: 
•	 fraud and corruption prevention and procurement 

training was conducted for staff with financial 
delegations 

•	 GIPA and privacy training for people leaders 
was conducted 

•	 a nominated whistleblower Welfare Manager 
was established within the Library 

•	 whistleblower protection procedures that 
complement the policy were developed and 
implemented 

•	 a corporate governance section was established 
on the Intranet with links to the Policy. 

statistiCal information on Pids 

Number of public officials who made a public interest disclosure 
to the Agency 

0 

Number of public interest disclosures received by the Agency relating to: 
•	 corrupt conduct 
•	 maladministration 
•	 serious and substantial waste 
•	 government information contravention 

0 
0 
0 
0 

Number of public interest disclosures finalised 0 
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Consolidated Parent Entity 
Notes Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual 

2013 2013 2012 2013 2012 
$ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

Expenses 
Personnel services expense 2(a) 30,799 31,121 31,522 30,456 30,976 
Other operating expenses 2(b) 16,304 13,991 14,528 16,209 14,343 
Depreciation  2(c) 17,056 18,105 17,122 17,056 17,122 
Grants and subsidies 2(d) 26,631 26,528 26,476 26,631 26,476 
Other expenses 2(e) - - 28 - -

Total expenses 90,790 89,745 89,676 90,352 88,917 

Revenue 
Sale of goods and services 
Investment revenue 
Grants and contributions 
Other revenue 

Total revenue 

3(a) 
3(b) 
3(c) 
3(d) 

1,677 
3,512 

97,145 
178 

102,512 

1,760 
1,973 

92,962 
10 

96,705 

1,651 
2,289 

91,780 
197 

95,917 

1,677 
2,129 

96,619 
74 

100,499 

1,651 
1,692 

91,695 
116 

95,154 

Net result 11,722 6,960 6,241 10,147 6,237 

Other comprehensive income - - - -

Total other comprehensive - - - -
income 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 11,722 6,960 6,241 10,147 6,237 
INCOME 

LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Statement of 
comprehensive income 

for the year ended 30 June 2013 





The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 

incorporating the Library Council of NSW and State Library of NSW Foundation 



Library Council of NSW 2012–13 Annual Report 110 
incorporating the Library Council of NSW and State Library of NSW Foundation

  
      

 

     

 

   

   
  

 
 

 
 

   
 

 
 
 

   
  

 

   
    

    

  

 

 
  

   

  

  

  

 

 

 
  

  

  

LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2013 

Statement of 
financial position 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Consolidated Parent Entity 
Notes Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual 

2013 2013 2012 2013 2012 
$ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

Assets 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 6 11,573 9,407 8,905 10,592 8,492 
Trade and other receivables 7 2,903 2,333 2,509 3,250 2,718 
Inventories 8 170 212 190 170 190 
Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 9(a) 1,091 - 2,040 176 1,000 

Non-current assets 
Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 
Property, plant and equipment 

Total non-current assets 

Total assets 

9(b) 
10 

21,481 
2,393,515 

2,414,996 

2,430,733 

18,907 
2,387,156 

2,406,063 

2,418,015 

17,597 
2,382,856 

2,400,453 

2,414,097 

8,905 
2,393,515 

2,402,420 

2,416,608 

6,266 
2,382,856 

2,389,122 

2,401,522 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 13 13,728 7,642 8,861 13,713 8,821 

Non-current liabilities 
Other payables 13 47 39 - 47 -

Total non-current liabilities 47 39 - 47 -

Net assets 2,416,958 2,410,334 2,405,236 2,402,848 2,392,701 

Equity 
Reserves 
Accumulated funds 

Total equity 

788,156 
1,628,802 

2,416,958 

788,156 
1,622,178 

2,410,334 

788,156 
1,617,080 

2,405,236 

788,156 
1,614,692 

2,402,848 

788,156 
1,604,545 

2,392,701 

Total current assets 15,737 11,952 13,644 14,188 12,400 

Total current liabilities 13,728 7,642 8,861 13,713 8,821 

Total liabilities 13,775 7,681 8,861 13,760 8,821 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Statement of 
changes in equity 

for the year ended 30 June 2013 

2013 Notes Consolidated Parent Entity 
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$ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

Balance at 1/7/2012 1,617,080 788,156 - 2,405,236 1,604,545 788,156 - 2,392,701 
Changes in accounting 
policy
Correction of errors 

- - - - - - - -

Restated total equity at
1/7/12 

- - - - - - - -

Net result for the year 11,722 11,722 10,147 10,147 
Other comprehensive 
income 
Net increase/(decrease)
in property plant &
equipment 

- - - - - - - -

Available for sale 
financial assets: 

- - - - - - - -

Valuation gains/(losses) -
-

-
-

- - - -

Transfers on disposal - - - - - - - -
Change in restoration
liability 

- - - - - - - -

Other - - - - - - - -

Total other 
comprehensive income 

- - - - - - - -

Total comprehensive
income for the year 11,722 11,722 10,147 10,147 
Transactions with 
owners in their 
capacity as owners 

- - - - - - - -

Increase/(decrease) in 
net assets from equity 
transfers 

- - - - - - - -

Balance 30/6/2013 1,628,802 788,156 - 2,416,958 1,614,692 788,156 - 2,402,848 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2013 
ontinue

Statement of 
changes in equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 (continued) 

(c d) 

2012 Notes Consolidated Parent Entity 
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$ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

Balance at 1/7/2011 1,610,839 788,156 - 2,398,995 1,598,308 788,156 - 2,386,464 
Changes in accounting
policy
Correction of errors 

- - - - - - - -

Restated total equity at 
1/7/11 - - - - - - - -
Net result for the year 

6,241 - - 6,241 6,237 - - 6,237 
Other comprehensive 
income 
Net increase/(decrease)
in property plant &
equipment 

- - - - - - - -

Available for sale 
financial assets: - - - - - - - -
Valuation gains/(losses) 

11 - - - - - - - -
Transfers on   disposal 

- - - - - - - -
Change in restoration 
liability - - - - - - - -
Other - - - - - - -

Total other 
comprehensive
income 

- - - - - - - -

Total comprehensive
income for the year 6,241 - - 6,241 6,237 - - 6,237 
Transactions with 
owners in their 
capacity as owners 

- - - - - - - -

Increase/(decrease) in 
net assets from equity 
transfers 

- - - - - - - -

Balance 30/6/2012 1,617,080 788,156 - 2,405,236 1,604,545 788,156 - 2,392,701 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Statement of cash flow for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Statement of cash f low
 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Consolidated Parent Entity 
Notes Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual 

2013 2013 2012 2013 2012 
$ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Payments 
Personnel services 31,794 31,121 29,481 32,196 29,481 
Grants and subsidies 25,445 26,528 25,652 25,445 25,652 
Other 20,688 17,834 17,536 20,567 17,294 

Total payments 77,927 75,483 72,669 78,208 72,427 

Receipts 
Sale of goods and services 1,786 2,803 1,923 1,786 1,923 
Cash flows from government 90,908 87,873 82,343 90,908 82,343 
Interest received 915 1,738 1,050 898 1,019 
Other 9,371 7,909 12,212 8,309 11,808 

Total receipts 102,980 100,323 97,528 101,901 97,093 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Proceeds from sale of property,
plant and equipment 1 - - 1 -
Proceeds from sale of financial 
assets at fair value through profit
or loss 5 720 1,477 - 375 
Purchases of property, plant and 
equipment, collection assets and 
intangibles (21,594) (23,805) (27,300) (21,594) (27,300) 
Purchases of financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss 9(c) (797) (703) (1,485) - (103) 
Purchase of shares in subsidiaries - - (420) - -
Net cash flows from investing
activities (22,385) (23,788) (27,728) (21,593) (27,028) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents 2,668 1,052 (2,869) 2,100 (2,362) 
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of financial year 8,905 8,355 11,774 8,492 10,854 
Cash and cash equivalents at
end of financial year 6 11,573 9,407 8,905 10,592 8,492 

Net cash flows from operating
activities 17 25,053 24,840 24,859 23,693 24,666 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies 

(a) Reporting entity 

The Library Council of New South Wales (the Library) is a NSW government entity. The Library is a not-
for-profit entity (as profit is not its principle objective) and it has no cash generating units. The reporting 
entity is consolidated as part of the NSW Total State Sector Accounts. 

The Library Council of New South Wales as a reporting entity, comprises all the entities under its control,
namely: the Library Council of New South Wales (the parent entity) and the State Library of New South 
Wales Foundation. 

The State Library of New South Wales Foundation's Trust Deed provides for monetary support for the
development of the Australian cultural heritage collections of the Library. To benefit the Library, the 
Foundation also attracts and encourages donations, gifts, bequests, endowments, raises finance for the
acquisition and preservation of objects of historic, educational and/or social interest, collections and
artefacts. The Foundation maintains and supports the work of the Friends of the Library who are a vital 
part of the Libraryʼs operational and fundraising efforts. 

In the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the economic entity, consisting of the 
controlling and controlled entities, all inter-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

These financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 have been authorised for issue by the
Library Council on 18th September  2013. 

(b) Basis of preparation 

The entityʼs financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with: 

•	 applicable Australian Accounting Standards including Australian Accounting Interpretations 
•	 the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act, 1983 and Regulation and 
•	 the Financial Reporting Directions published in the Financial Reporting Code for NSW General 

Government Sector Entities or issued by the Treasurer. 

Property, plant and equipment and collection assets and financial assets "at fair value through profit or
loss" are measured at fair value. Other financial statement items are prepared on an accrual basis and 
prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention. 

Judgements, key assumptions and estimations management have made are disclosed in the relevant
notes to the financial statement. 

All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency. 

(c) Statement of compliance 

The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which include 
Australian Accounting Interpretations. 

(d) Insurance 

The Libraryʼs insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of
self insurance for Government agencies. The expense (premium) is determined by the fund manager
based on past claim experience. 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2013 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

 (e) Accounting for the Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except that: 

i.	 the amount of GST incurred by the Library as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian 
Taxation Office is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of
expense; and 

ii.	 receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included; 

The net amount of GST recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office is included as a current asset in 
the Statement of Financial Position. 

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. However, the GST components of
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the 
Australian Taxation Office are classified as operating cash flows.

 (f) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable. 
Additional comments regarding the accounting policies for revenue recognition are discussed below. 

i.	  Grants and contributions 

Grants and contributions, including donations and government grants, are generally recognised as
income when the Library obtains control over the assets comprising the grants and contributions.
Control over grants and contributions is normally obtained upon the receipt of cash. 

ii.	 Sale of goods 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised as revenue when the entity transfers the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets. 

iii.	  Rendering of services 

Revenue is recognised when the service is provided or by reference to the stage of completion 
(based on labour hours incurred to date). 

iv.	 Investment income 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method as set out in AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. Rental revenue is recognised in accordance with 
AASB 117 Leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Royalty revenue is recognised in 
accordance with AASB 118 Revenue on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the 
relevant agreement. Imputation tax credits on investment income are recognised as revenue when 
the application for refund is approved by the Australian Taxation Office. Dividend revenue is
recognised in accordance with AASB 118 Revenue when the right to receive the revenue is 
established. 

(g) Assets 
i.	 Acquisition of assets 

The cost method of accounting is used for the initial recording of all acquisitions of assets controlled 
by the Library. Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of other
consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where 
applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially recognised in accordance with the 
specific requirements of Australian Accounting Standards. 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(g) Assets (continued) 

i. Acquisition of assets (continued) 

Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised as assets and
revenues at their fair value at the date of acquisition (refer Note 12). 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing 
parties in an arm's length transaction. 

Where payment for an item is deferred beyond normal credit terms, its cost is the cash price
equivalent, ie., the deferred payment amount is effectively discounted at an asset specific rate. 

The personnel services directly involved in the preservation and conservation of original materials,
such that they become available and ready for use by the Library, are capitalised as part of
collection assets and are not depreciated. 

ii. Capitalisation thresholds 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets costing $5,000 and above individually, or
forming part of a network or collection category costing more than $5,000, are capitalised. 

iii.  Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 

Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with NSW Treasury's policy and guidelines 
paper TPP 07-1 "Valuation of Physical Non-Current Assets at Fair Value”. This policy adopts fair 
value in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment. 

Property, plant and equipment is measured on an existing use basis, where there are no feasible  
alternative uses in the existing natural, legal, financial and socio-political environment.  However, in  
the limited circumstances where there are feasible alternative uses, assets are valued at
their highest and best use. 

Fair value of property, plant and equipment is determined based on the best available market
evidence, including current market selling prices for the same or similar assets. Where there is no 
available market evidence, the assetʼs fair value is measured as its market buying price, the best  
indicator of which is depreciated replacement cost. 

Collection assets are valued on a depreciated replacement cost basis as a surrogate for fair value 
ie. Using current market buying price where the asset can be replaced and current market selling 
price when the asset cannot be replaced. 

Each class of property, plant and equipment is revalued at least every five years and with sufficient 
regularity to ensure that the carrying amount of each asset in the asset class does not differ
materially from its fair value at reporting date. The Collection assets revaluation was completed
as at 30 June 2010 and was undertaken by an independent valuer. The last revaluation for Land and 
Buildings was conducted as at 30 June 2009 and was also based on an independent assessment. 

Non-specialised assets with short useful lives are measured at depreciated historical cost as a 
surrogate for fair value. 

When revaluing non-current assets by reference to current prices for assets newer than those being 
revalued (adjusted to reflect the present condition of the assets), the gross amounts and the related
accumulated depreciation amounts are separately restated. 

For other assets, any balances of accumulated depreciation existing at the revaluation date in
respect of those assets are credited to the asset accounts to which they relate. The net asset 
accounts are then increased or decreased by the revaluation increments or decrements. 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2013 

1.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 (g)	 Assets (continued)

 iii. Revaluation of property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve, except that, to the 
extent that an increment reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that class of asset previously 
recognised as an expense in the net result, the increment is recognised immediately as revenue
in the net result.

 Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as expenses in the net result except that, to 
the extent that a credit balance exists in the asset revaluation reserve in respect of the same class of
assets, they are debited directly to the asset revaluation reserve. 

As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation increments and decrements are offset against one another
within a class of non-current assets, but not otherwise. 

Where an asset that has previously been revalued is disposed of, any balance remaining in the asset
revaluation reserve in respect of that asset is transferred to accumulated funds. 

iv. Impairment of assets 

As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating units, the Library is effectively exempted from AASB 
 136 Impairment of Assets and impairment testing.  This is because AASB 136 Impairment of Assets
 modifies the recoverable amount test to the higher of fair value less costs to sell and depreciated
 replacement cost. This means that, for an asset already measured at fair value, impairment can only
arise if selling costs are material. Selling costs are regarded as immaterial. 

v.	 Assets not able to be reliably measured 

The Library holds certain assets that have not been recognised in the Statement of Financial Position  
because they cannot be reliably valued. These assets comprise 11,251 hours (2012: 11,178 hours)
of original oral history and sound recordings on reel to reel and cassette tapes, accompanied by
transcriptions and logs, covering all aspects of life in NSW. Fair value cannot be estimated as there is
 no market. 

vi. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
i.	 Except for certain heritage assets, depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis for all

 depreciable assets so as to write off the depreciable amount of each asset as it is consumed over its  
useful life to the Library. Useful lives, residual values and depreciation rates are reviewed on an 
annual basis. 

ii.	 All material separately identifiable component assets are depreciated over their shorter useful lives. 

The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation: 

Buildings 50 years 
Plant and equipment 7 years 
Computer equipment 4 years 
Library IT system 4 years 
Collection assets see below 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

    

Notes to the 
financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 (g) Assets (continued) 

vi. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (continued) 

iii.	 Collection assets are depreciated under both the diminishing balance (DB) and straight
line bases according to the following major asset groupings: 

Monographs, bound serials, microfilm and microfiche 60 years DB 
Multicultural materials 3 years straight line 
Audio visual/electronic resources 7 years straight line 

The use of DB for monographs, bound serials, microfilm reels and microfiche is based on studies
showing that usage is highest when an item is newly acquired and decreases over time, more 
rapidly in the earlier years than in the later, but never reaches the point of having no information 
value. 

Even if rarely used there is utility in being able to refer to an historical item for a piece of information 
missing from other sources, or to use a particular item as part of a longitudinal survey or contextual
data. Items in this asset group have a particularly long service life and DB reflects their pattern of
use over their useful life. 

The straight line depreciation method is for collection asset groups with much shorter service lives.
Multicultural materials have continuing high levels of usage which impact service life and audio 
visual/electronic resources can incur, in addition to regular wear and tear, technical obsolescence.
In both these two asset groups usage is more evenly distributed across their service life. 

vi.	 Land is not a depreciable asset. Certain heritage assets have an extremely long useful life, including  
original art works and collections and heritage buildings. Depreciation for these items cannot be  
reliably measured and, in these cases, depreciation is not recognised. The decision not to recognise 
depreciation for these assets is reviewed annually. 

vii.	  Maintenance 

The costs of day-to-day servicing or maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except
where they relate to the replacement of a part or component of an asset, in which case the costs are
capitalised and depreciated. 

viii.	 Leased assets 

A distinction is made between finance leases, in which there is an effective transfer from the lessor
to the lessee of substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased assets,

 and operating leases, under which the lessor effectively retains all such risks and benefits. 

Where a non-current asset is acquired by means of a finance lease, the asset is recognised at its
fair value at commencement of the lease term. The corresponding liability is established at the  
same amount. Lease payments are allocated between the principal component and the interest

 expense. 

Operating lease payments are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the periods
in which they are incurred. 

ix.	 Intangible assets 

The Library recognises intangible assets only if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow  
 and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are measured initially at cost.
 Where an asset is acquired at no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at the date of acquisition. 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2013 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

 (g) Assets (continued) 

x.  Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with financial institutions
and NSW Treasury Corporation. 

xi  Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. These assets are recognised initially at fair value, usually
based on the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less an allowance for any impairment of receivables. Any changes
are accounted for in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when impaired, derecognised or
through the amortisation process. 

Short term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice value where 
the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

xii. Inventories 

Inventories are held for sale and are stated at cost, adjusted when applicable for any loss of service
potential. A loss of service potential is identified and measured based on the existence of a current
replacement cost that is lower than the carrying amount. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost method. 

xiii. Investments  

Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs. The entity determines the classification of its financial

 assets after initial recognition and, when allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this at each financial
year end. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

The Hour-Glass Investment Facilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss using the
second leg of the fair value option; i.e. these financial assets are managed and their performance is

 evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management strategy and the 
 information about these assets is provided on that basis to the entityʼs key management personnel. 

The movement in the fair value of the Hour-Glass Investment Facilities incorporates distributions
 received as well as unrealised movements in fair value and is reported in the line item ʻInvestment
 incomeʼ. 

(h) Liabilities 

i. Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Library. These 
liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value.
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Short term
payables with no stated interest rate are measured at original invoice amount where the effect of

 discounting is immaterial. 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 (h) Liabilities (continued) 

ii. Borrowings 

Borrowings are loans not held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss and are 
recognised at amortised cost utilising the effective interest rate method. Gains or losses are
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on derecognition. 

The Library Council has no current borrowings. 

iii. Employee benefits and other provisions 

(a) Personnel services arrangements 

The entity receives personnel services through arrangement with Department of Trade &
Investment, Regional Infrastructure and Services, (DTIRIS). All payments to employees and related 
obligations are done in the DTIRIS name and Australian Business Number (ABN) and are classified 
as "Personnel Services Expense" in the financial statements. 

(b) Personnel services Salaries and wages, annual leave, sick leave and on-costs 

Liabilities for personnel services are stated as liabilities to the service provider, DTIRIS. Salaries
 and wages (including non-monetary benefits), annual leave and paid sick leave that fall due wholly
 within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised and measured in respect of employees'
services up to the reporting date at undiscounted amounts based on the amounts expected to be

 paid when the liabilities are settled.

 If applicable, long term annual leave that is not expected to be taken within 12 months is measured 
at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. Where applicable, market yields
on government bonds are used to discount long term annual leave. 

Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that
sick leave taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future. The outstanding 
amounts of payroll tax, workers' compensation insurance premiums and fringe benefits tax, which
are consequential to the provision of personnel services by DTIRIS, are recognised as liabilities and
expenses where the personnel services to which they relate have been recognised. 

. 
(c) Long service leave and superannuation 

The entityʼs liabilities for long service leave and defined benefit superannuation are assumed by the 
Crown Entity through DITRIS. The entity accounts for the liability as having been extinguished,
resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the non-monetary revenue item described 
as ʻAcceptance by the Crown Entity of employee benefits and other liabilitiesʼ 

Long service leave is measured at present value in accordance with AASB 119 Employee 
Benefits. This is based on the application of certain factors (specified in NSWTC 12/06) to
employees with five or more years of service, using current rates of pay. These factors were
determined based on an actuarial review to approximate present value. 

The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in 
the Treasurer's Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and

First State Super) is calculated as a percentage of the equivalent of employees' salary. For other 
superannuation schemes (i.e., State Superannuation Scheme and State Authorities Superannuation 
Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the equivalent of employees' superannuation 
contributions. 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2013 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 (h) Liabilities (continued) 

iii.	 Employee benefits and other provisions  (continued) 

(d)	 Other provisions 

Other provisions exist when: the entity has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

 (i)	  Equity and reserves 

(i)	 Revaluation surplus 

The revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non
current assets. This accords with the entityʼs policy on the revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment as discussed in note 1(g)iii. 

(ii)	 Accumulated Funds
 

The category ʻAccumulated Fundsʼ includes all current and prior period retained funds.
 

(j)	 Equity transfers 

There have been no transfers of net assets between the Library and other agencies.

 (k)	  Budgeted Amounts 

The budgeted amounts are drawn from the original budgeted financial statements presented to
Parliament in respect of the reporting period, as adjusted for section 24 of the Public Finance and 
Audit Act 1983 where there has been a transfer of functions between departments. Other amendments
made to the budget are not reflected in the budgeted amounts. 

(l)	  Comparative information 

Comparative amounts are disclosed from year to year to ensure that consistency of presentation is
maintained, except when an Australian Accounting Standard requires otherwise.

 (m)	 New accounting standards issued but not effective 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30
June 2013 reporting period. The following new Accounting Standards and Interpretations have not
yet been adopted and are not yet effective: 

•	 AASB 9, AASB 2010-7 and AASB 2012-6 regarding financial instruments 
•	 AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 
•	 AASB 13, AASB 2011-8 ad AASB 2012-1 regarding fair value measurement 
•	 AASB 119, AASB 2011-10 and AASB 2011-11 regarding employee benefits 
•	 AASB 1053 and AASB 2010-2 regarding differential reporting 

It is uncertain at this stage if any current measurement techniques will have to change as a result of the 
new standard. The resulting impact on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, if any, is not
known. However, application of the new standard will impact on the note disclosure. 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Consolidated Parent Entity 
2013 2012 2013 2012 
$ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

2.  Expenses 
(a) Personnel services expense 

Salaries and wages (including recreation leave) 
 Superannuation – defined benefit plans 
Superannuation – defined contribution plans 
Long service leave 
Workersʼ compensation insurance 
 Payroll tax on superannuation 
Other payroll tax and fringe benefits tax 

22,289 
1,151 
1,863 

726 
410 
63 

4,297 

23,929 
1,358 
1,786 
1,995 

329 
67 

2,058 

21,946 
1,151 
1,863 

726 
410 

63 
4,297 

23,383
1,358 
1,786 
1,995 

329
67 

2,058 

Total personnel services expense 30,799 31,522 30,456 30,976 

Personnel services expense of $6.0 million has been capitalised as part of Collection Assets, the e-Records  
Project and the Digital Excellence Program during the year (2012: $5.0 million). Personnel services expense
of $1.0 million has been reclassified to Grants and Subsidies (2012: $0.9 million). 

(b) Other operating expenses 
Advertising and promotions 224 409 216 409 
Auditorʼs remuneration – audit of the financial reports 100 89 85 74 
Cleaning 693 685 693 685 
Computer software and licences 110 78 110 78 
Cost of sales 245 246 245 246 
Courier, freight and postage 264 268 264 266 
Electricity 1,055 898 1,055 898 
Exhibitions 779 831 779 831
 Fees – contractors/projects 1,177 984 1,173 972
 Fees – contractors/temps 867 619 867 619
 Fees – general 641 553 635 495 
Information retrieval 159 162 159 162 
Insurance 859 662 859 662
 Maintenance and repairs 2,171 2,301 2,157 2,296 
Offsite storage costs 1,808 1,549 1,808 1,549 
Operating lease and rental expenses 6 9 6 9 
Printing 695 713 685 692
 Purchases – multicultural co-operative 386 448 386 447 
Staff development 303 234 301 233 
Stationery and consumables 323 251 322 249 
Subscriptions 1,002 1,220 1,000 1,220 
Telephone and other telecommunication costs 127 110 127 110 
Travel and accommodation 189 149 186 147 
Sundry expenses 2,121 1,060 2,091 994 

Total other operating expenses 16,304 14,528 16,209 14,343 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Consolidated Parent Entity 
2013 2012 2013 2012 
$ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

2.	 Expenses (continued)
(b) Other operating expenses (continued) 

Reconciliation of total maintenance 
Maintenance as per above 2,171 2,301 2,157 2,296 
Maintenance included in personnel services expense  
 Note 2a 996 985 996 985 
Total maintenance 3,167 3,286 3,153 3,281 

(c) Depreciation 
Computer equipment 518 545 518 545 
Plant and equipment 1,464 1,397 1,464 1,397 
Collections 9,379 9,593 9,379 9,593 
Buildings 5,695 5,587 5,695 5,587 
Total Depreciation 17,056 17,122 17,056 17,122 

(d) Grants and subsidies 
Public library subsidies including disability & geographic 20,056 19,875 20,056 19,875
grants 
 Library development grants 2,550 2,730 2,550 2,730 
NSW.net service 2,421 2,286 2,421 2,286 
Co-operative and state wide projects 670 628 670 628 
Services to public libraries 487 525 487 525 
Vision Australia grant 447 432 447 432 
Total grants and subsidies 26,631 26,476 26,631 26,476 

The grants and subsidies paid provide benefits to public libraries throughout NSW and include the NSW.net
service enabling internet connections and access to online databases. 

(e) Other expenses 	 - 28 - 
Loss on investment in Associate/Subsidiary - 28 - 

3.	 Revenue 
(a) Sale of goods and services 

Sale of goods 
Library Shop sales 498 445 498 445
 Other sales 800 776 800 776 

Rendering of services 
Fees 275 379 275 379 
Admissions 104 51 104 51 

Total sale of goods and services income	 1,677 1,651 1,677 1,651 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Consolidated Parent Entity 
2013 2012 2013 2012 
$ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

3. Revenue (continued)
 (b) Investment revenue 

Interest received 954 1,048 939 1,018 
Distribution from TCorp Hour Glass 1,094 1,095 440 405
 Gains/(losses)  on financial assets at fair value 1,050 (245) 336 (94) 
Rent 368 309 368 309 
Royalties 46 54 46 54
 Gain on purchase of subsidiary - 28 - -

Total investment revenue 3,512 2,289 2,129 1,692 

(c) Grants and contributions 
Government contributions 

Grants for operating activities 64,235 60,989 64,235 60,989 
Grants for capital activities 23,805 18,342 23,805 18,342 

88,040 79,331 88,040 79,331 

Personnel services benefits provided free of charge by DTIRIS 
Superannuation 1,161 1,352 1,161 1,352 
Long service leave 734 2,002 734 2,002 
Payroll tax 56 74 56 74 

1,951 3,428 1,951 3,428 

Total grants from DTIRIS 89,991 82,759 89,991 82,759 

Other grants and contributions 
Ashurst (previously Blake Dawson) 
Capital Campaign – Discover Collections web design project 
Law Society of NSW Public Purpose Fund 
Noble Resource International Australia Pty Ltd 
NSW Ministry of Health 
NSW Department of Premier and Cabinet 
NSW Trade and Investment 

19 
150 
823 
250 
154 

-
2,000 

28 
440 
823 

-
150 
50 

2,000 

-
-

823 
-

154 
-

2,000 

-
-

823 
-

150 
50 

2,000 
Premierʼs Award Funding 
Bequests 
Donations of Original Material at Fair Value 
Custodians Contributions 

460 
1,212 

685 
137 

618 
1,671 
1,217 

170 

460 
-

685 
-

618 
-

1,217 
-

Other donations and grants 1,037 802 120 210 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Consolidated Parent Entity 
2013 2012 2013 2012 
$ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

3. Revenue (continued)
(c) Grants and contributions (continued) 

Contribution from State Library of NSW Foundation - - 2,386 3,868 
News Ltd 227 - - 
Private contributions towards Derby Collection Acquisition - 1,052 - 

Total other grants and contributions 7,154 9,021 6,628 8,936 
Total grants and contributions 97,145 91,780 96,619 91,695 

(d) Other revenue 
Franking credit refund 32 30 12 12 
Member subscriptions 74 62 - 
Other 72 105 62 104 
Total other revenue 178 197 74 116 

4.  The State Library of New South Wales Foundation 
At 30 June 2013 the Foundation had $14.1 million in net assets (2012: $12.5 million). During the year the 
Foundation made a total contribution of $2.386 million to the State Library (2012: $3.868 million). 

5. Conditions of contributions 
The balance of conditional contributions received during the year that were not spent at the end of year

amounted to $0.79 million (2012: $1.85 million).
 

6. Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash at bank and on hand 2,301 865 1,320 544 
Short term deposits 9,272 8,040 9,272 7,948 
Total cash and cash equivalents 11,573 8,905 10,592 8,492 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 

 Consolidated Parent Entity 
2013 2012 2013 2012 
$ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

7. Trade and other receivables 
Sale of goods and services 
Less: Allowance for impairment 
DTIRIS – long service leave 
State Library of New South Wales Foundation 
Prepayments 
Australian Taxation Office – GST recoverable 

346 
(26) 

-
-

868 
1,715 

107 
(16) 

60 
-

1,070 
1,288 

346 
(26) 

-
349 
867 

1,714 

107 
(16) 

60 
210 

1,070 
1,287 

Total trade and other receivables 2,903 2,509 3,250 2,718 

Movement in the allowance for impairment 
Balance at 1 July 
Amounts written off during the year 
Amounts recovered during the year 
Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in
profit or loss 

16 
-
-

10 

27 
-
-

(11) 

16 
-
-

10 

26 
-
-

(10) 

Balance at 30 June 26 16 26 16 

8.  Inventories 
 Held for resale finished goods (Library Shop) – at cost 170 

170 
190 
190 

170 
170 

190 
190 

9. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(a) Current assets 

TCorp Hour Glass Medium Term Growth facilities 1,091 
1,091 

2,040 
2,040 

176 
176 

1,000 
1,000 

(b) Non-current assets 
TCorp Hour Glass Medium Term Growth facilities 21,481 17,597 8,905 6,266 

21,481 17,597 8,905 6,266 

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss 

22,572 19,637 9,081 7,266 

(c) Reconciliation of financial assets 
Carrying amount at the start of the year 
Additions 

19,637 
1,836 

18,779 
1,485 

7,266 
1,039 

7,227 
103 

Distributions 1,094 1,095 440 405 
Disposals 
Revaluation gain/(loss) of financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss 
Carrying amount at the end of the year 

(1,045) 

1,050 
22,572 

(1,477) 

(245) 
19,637 

-

336 
9,081 

(375) 

(94) 
7,266 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Consolidated Parent Entity
 2013 2012 2013 2012 

$ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

10.  Property, plant and equipment 
(a) Land and Buildings 

Land 
 At gross carrying amount 64,682 64,682 64,682 64,682 
Net carrying amount at fair value 64,682 64,682 64,682 64,682 

Buildings 
At gross carrying amount 
Less accumulated depreciation 
Net carrying amount at fair value 

207,688 
(63,102) 
144,586 

207,129 
(57,406) 
149,723 

207,688 
(63,102) 
144,586 

207,129 
(57,406) 
149,723 

Total land and buildings 209,268 214,405 209,268 214,405 

(b) Plant and equipment 
Computer equipment
 At gross carrying amount 
 Less accumulated depreciation 

2,997 
(2,170) 

3,314 
(2,373) 

2,997 
(2,170) 

3,314
(2,373) 

Net carrying amount at fair value 827 941 827 941 

Other plant and equipment
 At gross carrying amount 
 Less accumulated depreciation 
Net carrying amount at fair value 

12,770 
(6,076) 

6,694 

11,915 
(5,913) 

6,002 

12,770 
(6,076) 

6,694 

11,915
(5,913) 

6,002 

Library collection 
 At gross carrying amount 
 Less accumulated depreciation 

2,174,361 
(28,779) 

2,165,751 
(19,400) 

2,174,361 
(28,779) 

2,165,751
(19,400) 

Net carrying amount at fair value 
Total plant and equipment 

2,145,582 
2,153,103 

2,146,351 
2,153,294 

2,145,582 
2,153,103 

2,146,351 
2,153,294 

(c) Work in progress 31,144 15,157 31,144 15,157 

Total property, plant and equipment 2,393,515 2,382,856 2,393,515 2,382,856 

The Library Collection was subject to a full revaluation on 30 June 2010 (refer note 1(g)iii) and tested for
impairment at June 2013. 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 

11.		Reconciliation of property, plant & equipment and collection assets 

2013 Consolidated (including parent at same values) 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment and collection assets
at the beginning and end of the current financial year are set out below. 

2013 

At Fair Value 

La
nd

 

Bu
ild

in
g 

C
om

pu
te

r
Eq

ui
pm

en
t

Pl
an

t &
Eq

ui
pm

en
t

Li
br

ar
y

C
ol

le
ct

io
n

W
or

k 
in

Pr
og

re
ss

 

To
ta

l 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Net carrying amount
at start of year 64,682 149,723 941 6,002 2,146,351 15,157 2,382,856 

Additions - - - - 6,813 19,321 26,134 
Donated materials 
revalued at fair value - - - - 1,797 - 1,797 
Revaluation – gross
carrying amount - - - - - - -
Revaluation – 
accumulated 
depreciation - - - - - - -

Disposals – at cost - - (846) (1,393) - - (2,239) 
Disposals –
accumulated 
depreciation - - 721 1,302 - - 2,023 

Depreciation charge - (5,695) (518) (1,464) (9,379) - (17,056) 
Transfer from WIP to 
asset account - 558 529 2,247 - (3,334) -
Net carrying amount
at end of year 64,682 144,586 827 6,694 2,145,582 31,144 2,393,515 

During the year, original materials valued at $1.797 million which includes $1.111million artworks bequest
made by Helen Selle (née McIlrath), included at Note 3, were donated to the Library. (2012: $1.881 million 
which includes $0.664 million Max Dupain Collection donated to the Library included in note 3.) 

Collection Assets were revalued as at 30 June 2010. Land and Buildings were revalued as at 30 June
2009 and were tested for impairment at 30 June 2013. The depreciation expense for Collection Assets for 
the 2013 year was $9.379 million and is included in the total depreciation charge of $17.056 million shown in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2013 

11. Reconciliation of property, plant & equipment and collection assets (continued) 

2012 Consolidated (including parent at same values) 

2012 

At  Fair Value 

La
nd

B
ui

ld
in

g 

Co
m

pu
te

r
Eq

ui
pm

en
t

Pl
an

t &
Eq

ui
pm

en
t

Li
br

ar
y

C
ol

le
ct

io
n 

W
or

k 
in

Pr
og

re
ss

 

To
ta

l 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Net carrying amount at
start of year 64,682 150,944 1,487 5,067 2,139,351 9,305 2,370,836 

Additions - - - - 14,712 12,550 27,262 
Donated materials 
revalued at fair value - - - - 1,881 - 1,881 
Revaluation –  
gross carrying amount - - - - - - -
Revaluation –  
accumulated 
depreciation - - - - - - -

Disposals - - (1) - - - (1) 

Depreciation charge - (5,587) (545) (1,397) (9,593) - (17,122) 
Transfer from WIP to 
asset account - 4,366 - 2,332 - (6,698) -
Net carrying amount at
end of year 64,682 149,723 941 6,002 2,146,351 15,157 2,382,856 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 

12. Restricted assets 

The Library has assets valued at $16.5 million as at 30 June 2013 (2012: $14.4 million) which were 
originally received as bequests and other contributions. They are under different levels of restriction  
according to the conditions stipulated in the relevant documents. These assets have been invested with 
TCorp Hour Glass investment facilities. 

Consolidated Parent Entity
 2013 2012 2013 2012 

$ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

13. Trade and other payables 
Trade payables 6,088 2,186 6,087 2,185 
Accrued payables 2,955 1,673 2,934 1,634 
Personnel services and on-costs 4,650 4,998 4,650 4,998 
State Library of New South Wales Foundation - - 7 -
Income received in advance 82 4 82 4 

13,775 8,861 13,760 8,821 

Reconciliation of personnel services and related on-costs 
Recreation leave and on-costs 2,870 2,934 2,870 2,934 
Long service leave on-costs 947 1,134 947 1,134 
Accrued personnel services 696 785 696 785 
Accrued payroll tax 137 145 137 145 
Total 4,650 4,998 4,650 4,998 
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LIBRARY COUNCIL OF NEW SOUTH WALES

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Notes to the 
financial statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2013 

Consolidated Parent Entity 
2013 2012 2013 2012 
$ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

14. Commitments for expenditure 
(a) Capital commitments 

Aggregate capital expenditure for the acquisition of general 
capital items contracted for at balance date and not 
provided for: 
Not later than one year 7,083 2,355 7,083 2,355 
Total (including GST) 7,083 2,355 7,083 2,355 

(b)  Other expenditure commitments 
Aggregate other expenditure for the acquisition of offsite 
storage and other general items contracted for at balance 
date and not provided for: 
Not later than one year 4,164 4,475 4,164 4,475 
Later than one year and not later than 5 years 9,309 8,857 9,309 8,857 
Later than 5 years 9,459 11,704 9,459 11,704 
Total (including GST) 22,932 25,036 22,932 25,036 

(c)  Operating lease and rental commitments 
Future non-cancellable operating leases and rentals not 
provided for and payable: 
Not later than one year 4 6 4 6 
Later than one year and not later than 5 years - 4 - 4 
Total (including GST) 4 10 4 10 

Commitments disclosed above include input tax credits of $2.73 million that are expected to be recoverable  
from the Australian Taxation Office (2012: $2.49 million). 

15. Contingent assets and liabilities 

The Library Council is not aware of any contingent liabilities or contingent assets relevant to its activities as
at 30 June 2013 (2012: nil).

  16. Budget Review 

Net Result 

The net result was $4.7milllion above budget. 

The favourable variance in Grants and Contributions revenue includes original materials received through 
donations and bequests of $1.8 million and grants received to fund a voluntary redundancy program of
$2.5 million.

 Investment revenue was $1.5 million above budget. 
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Notes to the 
financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013 

16. Budget Review (continued) 

Depreciation charges were lower than budgeted as projects were capitalised later than anticipated. 

Assets and Liabilities 

Net assets were $6.7million higher than budget reflecting donated and bequested collection materials and 
lower accumulated depreciation. 

Cash flows 

Payments for purchases of property, plant and equipment were impacted by procurement timing and were 
$2.2 million below budget. 

Consolidated Parent Entity 
2013 2012 2013 2012 
$ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 $ʼ000 

17. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities
to net result 
Net cash flows from operating activities 25,053 24,859 23,693 24,666 
Non-cash items 
Depreciation (17,056) (17,122) (17,056) (17,122) 
Written down value of disposals (679) - (679) 
Donation of original material at fair value 1,797 1,217 1,797 1,881 
Gains/(losses) on investment in financial instruments 1,104 850 776 311 

(Increase)/decrease in payables 875 (1,227) 875 (1,229) 
Increase/(decrease) in receivables 648 (2,314) 761 (2,248) 
Increase/(decrease) in inventory (20) (22) (20) (22) 
Net result 11,722 6,241 10,147 6,237 

18.  Non-cash financing and investing activities 
Non-cash financing and investing activities represented the acceptance of personnel services of $2.0 million 
(2012: $3.4 million) by NSW Government.

 19. Financial instruments and risk management 

The Library's principal financial instruments, which are identified below, arise directly from the Library's 
operations or are required to finance the Library's operations. The Library does not enter into or trade 
financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. The Library's 
primary investments are placed with NSW Treasury Corporation (TCorp). 

The Library's main risks arising from financial instruments are outlined below together with the Library's 
policies for measuring and managing risk. Further qualitative and quantitative disclosures are included
throughout these financial statements. 
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Notes to the 
financial statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2013 

19.  Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

The State Librarian & Chief Executive, Library Council and Audit & Risk Committee have overall
responsibility for the establishment and oversight of risk management and review and agree policies for
managing each of these risks. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks
faced by the entity through formalised treasury risk management policies to set risk limits and controls, and
to monitor risks. Compliance with policies is reviewed by the State Librarian & Chief Executive, Library
Council and Audit & Risk Committee on a continuous basis. 

(a) Financial instruments categories 

Consoli
Carrying 

dated 
Amount 

Parent 
Carrying 

Entity
Amount 

Instrument 
Categories 

Financial 
Note Category 2013 

$ʼ000 
2012 
$ʼ000 

2013 
$ʼ000 

2012 
$ʼ000 

Financial Assets 
Class 
Cash and cash 
equivalents 6 N/A 11,573 8,905 10,592 8,492 

Receivables 1 7 
Loans and receivables 

(at amortised cost) 320 91 669 301 
Financial assets at 
fair value** 

9(a)
9(b) 

At fair value through profit or
loss 22,572 19,637 9,081 7,266 

Financial Liabilities 
Class 

Payables 2 13 
Financial liabilities measured at 

amortised cost 9,732 4,334 9,718 4,294 

1 Excludes prepayments of $0.867 million, long service leave owed by the Crown nil, and
statutory receivables of $1.715 million (2012: $1.070 million, $0.599 million, and $1.288 million 
 respectively)  as  these items are not within scope of AASB 7. 
2 Excludes unearned revenue $0.082 million and statutory payables $3.960 million (2012: $0.004million

and $4.523 million) as these items are not within the scope of AASB 7.
**The average rate of return for financial assets at fair value held in the TCorp Hour-Glass Investment 

Facility for the 2013 year was 5.147% (2012: 4.269%). 

(b) Credit risk 

Credit risk arises where there is the possibility of the Library's debtors defaulting on their contractual 
obligations, resulting in a financial loss to the Library. Credit risk can also arise from the financial assets 
of the Library, including cash, receivables, Hour-Glass investment facilities and authority deposits. The
Library's maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amounts of the financial assets 
included in the Statement of Financial Position.  Credit risk associated with the Library's financial assets 
is regarded as minimal as the counterparty of the Library's main financial assets is NSW Treasury 
Corporation.  The risk of default is minimised as the Library is subject to effective performance 
management and monitoring by the NSW Government. 

Cash 

Cash comprises cash on hand, bank balances and term deposits within the NSW Treasury Banking
System. Interest is earned on daily at call balances at the monthly average NSW Treasury Corporation 
(TCorp) 11am unofficial cash rate, adjusted for a management fee to NSW Treasury and Westpac
Banking Corporation daily balances. The TCorp Hour Glass cash facility is discussed in paragraph
(d) below. 
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. 
19.  Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 

Receivables 

The only financial assets that are past due or impaired are 'Sales of goods and services' in the 
'Receivables' category of the Statement of Financial Position as per the table below. 
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$'000  $'000  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

2013 

< 3 months overdue 334 334 320 14 320 14 

3 - 6 months overdue 6 6 - 6 - 6 

> 6 months overdue 6 6 - 6 - 6 

Total 346 346 320 26 320 26 

2012 

< 3 months overdue 104 104 91 13 91 13 

3 – 6 months overdue 2 2 - 2 - 2 

> 6 months overdue 1 1 - 1 - 1 

Total 107 107 91 16 91 16 

Notes 
1. Each column in the table reports “gross receivables”.
2. The ageing analysis excludes statutory receivables, as these are not within the scope of AASB 7 and 

excludes receivables that are not past due and not impaired. Therefore, the “total” will not reconcile to 
the receivables total recognised in the statement of financial position. 
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19. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 

Authority Deposits 

The entity has placed funds on deposit with TCorp, which has been rated ʻAAAʼ by Standard and Poorʼs. 
These deposits are similar to money market or bank deposits and can be placed ʻat callʼ or for a fixed 
term. For fixed term deposits, the interest rate payable by TCorp is negotiated initially and is fixed for the
term of the deposit, while the interest rate payable on at call deposits can vary, the deposits at balance
date were earning an average interest rate of 2.52% (2012: 3.45%), while over the year the weighted 
average interest rate was 3.61% (2012: 3.02%) on a weighted average balance during the year of $9 
million (2012: $19 million). None of these assets are past due or impaired. 

(c) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Library will not be able to meet its payment obligations when they fall  
due. The Library continually manages this risk through monitoring its cash flows and maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet projected outgoings.  The Library's exposure to liquidity risk
is considered insignificant based on the data from prior periods and the current assessment of risk. 

The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to be paid in the future for goods or services received,

whether or not invoiced. Amounts owing to suppliers (which are unsecured) are settled in accordance 

with the policy set out in NSW TC 11/12. For small business suppliers, where terms are not specified,

payment is made not later than 30 days from date of receipt of a correctly rendered invoice. For other

suppliers, if trade terms are not specified, payment is made no later than the end of the month following 

the month in which an invoice or a statement is received. For small business suppliers, where payment is

not made within the specified time period, simple interest must be paid automatically unless an existing 

contract specifies otherwise. For payments to other suppliers, the Head of an authority (or a person

appointed by the Head of an authority) may automatically pay the supplier simple interest. The rate of
 
interest applied during the year was 12.22% (2012: 12.62%).
 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Libraryʼs financial liabilities, together with the 

interest rate exposure.
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19. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 

Consolidated $ʻ000 

Interest Rate Exposure Maturity Dates 

Nominal 
Amount 

Fixed 
Interest 
Rate 

Variable 
Interest 
Rate 

Non-
Interest 
Bearing 

< 1 Year 1-5 
Years 

> 5 Years 

2013 

Payables 9,732 - - 9,732 9,732 - -

2012 

Payables 4,334 - - 4,334 4,334 - -

Parent 
Entity 

$ʻ000 

Interest Rate Exposure Maturity Dates 

Nominal 
Amount 

Fixed 
Interest 
Rate 

Variable 
Interest 
Rate 

Non-
Interest 
Bearing 

< 1 
Year 

1-5 Years > 5 Years 

2013 

Payables 9,718 - - 9,718 9,718 - -

2012 

Payables 4,294 - - 4,294 4,294 - -

(d) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate  
because of changes in market prices. The Library's exposures to market risk are primarily through
interest rate risk on borrowings and other price risks associated with the movement in the unit price 
of TCorp's Hour Glass investment facilities. The Library has no borrowings and does not enter into 
commodity contracts. The Library's exposure to interest rate risk is set out below. 
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19.	 Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

(d)	 Market risk (continued) 

Interest rate 

-1% -1% 1% 1% 

Consolidated 2013 
Carrying
Amount Profit Equity Profit Equity 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Financial assets: 
Cash and cash 
equivalents 11,573 (116) (116) 116 116 
Receivables 320 - - - -
Financial assets at fair 
value 22,572 (226) (226) 226 226 
Financial liabilities: 
Payables 9,732 - - - -

-1% -1% 1% 1% 

Consolidated 2012 
Carrying 
Amount Profit Equity Profit Equity 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Financial assets: 
Cash and cash 
equivalents 8,905 (89) (89) 89 89 
Receivables 91 - - - -
Financial assets at fair 
value 19,637 (196) (196) 196 196 
Financial liabilities: 
Payables 4,334 - - - -

-1% -1% 1% 1% 

Parent Entity 2013 
Carrying
Amount Profit Equity Profit Equity 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Financial assets: 
Cash and cash 
equivalents  10,592 (106) (106) 106 106 
Receivables 669 - - - -
Financial assets at fair 
value  9,081 (91) (91) 91 91 
Financial liabilities: 
Payables  9,718 - - - -
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19.  Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

(d) Market risk (continued) 

-1% -1% 1% 1% 

Parent Entity 2012 Amount Profit Equity Profit Equity 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Financial assets: 
Cash and cash 
equivalents 8,492 (85) (85) 85 85 
Receivables 301 - - - -
Financial assets at fair 
value 7,266 (73) (73) 73 73 
Financial liabilities: 
Payables 4,294 - - - -

Consolidated 
Investment 

Sectors 
Investment 

Horizon 2013 2012 
Facility $'000 $'000 

Cash facility 
Cash, money market
instruments Up to 1.5 years 272 8,040 

Medium-term growth facility 

Cash, money market
instruments, Australian
bonds, listed property,
Australian and 
international shares 

3 years to 7 
years 22,572 19,637 

Parent Entity 
Investment 

Sectors 
Investment 

Horizon 2013 2012 
Facility $'000 $'000 

Cash facility 
Cash, money market
instruments Up to 1.5 years 272 7,948 

Medium-term growth facility 

Cash, money market
instruments, Australian
bonds, listed property,
Australian and 
international shares 

3 years to 7 
years 9,081 7,266 

  Other price risk – TCorp Hour-Glass Facilities 

The Library is exposed to price risk primarily though its investment in the TCorp Hour Glass investment
facilities, which are held for strategic rather than trading purposes. The entity has no direct equity
investments. The entity holds units in the following Hour Glass investment trusts. 
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 19. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

(d)    Market risk (continued)

 Other price risk – TCorp Hour-Glass Facilities (continued) 

The unit price of each facility is equal to the total fair value of the net assets held by the facility divided
by the number of units on issue for that facility. Unit prices are calculated and published daily. 

NSW TCorp is trustee for each of the above facilities and is required to act in the best interest of the 
unit holders and to administer the trusts in accordance with the trust deeds. As trustee, TCorp has
appointed external managers to manage the performance and risks of each facility in accordance with a
mandate agreed by the parties. However, TCorp acts as manager for part of the Cash and Strategic
Cash Facilities and also manages the Australian Bond portfolio. A significant portion of the 
administration of the facilities is outsourced to an external custodian. 

Investment in the Hour Glass facilities limits the entityʼs exposure to risk, as it allows diversification 

across a pool of funds with different investment horizons and a mix of investments.
 

NSW TCorp provides sensitivity analysis information for each of the Investment facilities, using
historically based volatility information collected over a ten year period, quoted at two standard 
deviations (i.e. 95% probability). The TCorp Hour-Glass Investment facilities are designated at fair value 
through profit or loss and therefore any change in unit price impacts directly on profit (rather than 
equity). A reasonably possible change is based on the percentage change in unit price (as advised
by TCorp) multiplied by the redemption value as at 30 June each year for each facility (balance from
Hour Glass statement). 

Consolidated Change in unit
price 

Impact on 

2013 

profit/loss 

2012 
Facility $'000 $'000 

Hour-Glass Investment - Cash facility +/-1% 3/(3) 80/(80) 
Hour-Glass Investment - Medium-term growth 
facility +/-6% 1,354/(1,354) 196/(196) 

Parent Entity Change in unit
price 

Impact on 

2013 

profit/loss 

2012 
Facility $'000 $'000 

Hour-Glass Investment - Cash facility +/-1% 3/(3) 79/(79) 
Hour-Glass Investment - Medium-term growth 
facility +/-6% 545/(545) 73/(73) 
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19. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

(e) Fair value compared to carrying amount 

Financial instruments are generally recognised at cost, with the exception of the TCorp Hour Glass
facilities, which are measured at fair value. The value of the Hour-Glass Investments is based on the 
entityʼs share of the value of the underlying assets of the facility, based on the market value. All of the 
Hour-Glass facilities are valued using ʻredemptionʼ pricing. 

The amortised cost of financial instruments recognised in the statement of financial position
approximates the fair value, because of the short-term nature of many of the financial instruments. 

(f) Fair value recognised in the statement of financial position 

The Library uses the following hierarchy for disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by 
valuation technique:

• Level 1 – 	 Derived from quoted prices in active markets for identical assets/liabilities. 
•	 Level 2 – Derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable directly or

indirectly. 
•	 Level 3 – Derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset/liability not

based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 

2013 Consolidated Parent Entity 

Financial 
assets 

At fair value 
Level 1 
$ʼ000 

Level 2 
$ʼ000 

Level 3 
$ʼ000 

2013 
Total 
$ʼ000 

Level 1 
$ʼ000 

Level 2 
$ʼ000 

Level 3 
$ʼ000 

2013 
Total 
$ʼ000 

TCorp Hour-
Glass 
Investment 
Facility - 22,572 - 22,572 - 9,081 - 9,081 

Total - 22,572 - 22,572 - 9,081 - 9,081 

The table above includes only financial assets, as no financial liabilities were measured at fair value in 
 the statement of financial position. 

There were no transfers between level 1 and 2 during the period ended 30 June 2013. 

20. After balance date adjustments 

The Library has not identified any event or transaction that is sufficiently material to require adjustment
or disclosure in the financial statement. 

End of audited financial statements 
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